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Company Profile
NS S

Digital China Holdings Limited (”Digital China” or the “Company”, stock
code: 00861) is a leading integrated IT services provider in China.
Digital China was listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited since 1 June 2001. The outstanding performance of
Digital China has been widely recognized in the industry, as evidenced
by its inclusion in “"Forbes Asia’s Fab 50", “Fortune China 500" and “Top
100 PRC Enterprises by Software Revenue”.

Digital China has integrated global resources in the IT industry, having
established working relationships with close to 300 IT vendors at home
and abroad, including long-term strategic partnerships with a number of
leading international IT players. Digital China has built a complete value
chain in IT services that covers IT infrastructure, IT planning and
consulting, design and implementation of solutions, outsourcing of IT
system operation and maintenance, systems integration, IT distribution
and repair/maintenance, providing integrated end-to-end IT services to
its customers.

“Digital China” is both the name by which we identify our Company
and a mission that we charge ourselves with. Currently, we are driving
the Sme@rt City initiative in tandem with the 12th Five-Year Plan of the
nation. By facilitating amalgamation and innovation through IT advances
such as cloud computing, mobile internet and internet of things, we
seek to advance China’s new urbanization process. With the roll-out of
its “Sm@rt City" strategy across the nation, Digital China has become
China’s leading Sm@rt City expert who boasts a forward-looking
theoretical structure as well as having the largest stock of successful
cases.

Digital China Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report2011/12

1IN BB IR AR AR (AT A FE 48 8i5 sk [Aa) ] -
R AR5 :00861) EFEIELNEBEASITIREGIZ AR - 14
MBI R 2001 F6ANBHER BB AR SAMBER AT IR
o MNBEBEENRARZIZSEANRY 81
ANEB(EHEN B RARREARE EHA%50% ] (BE)
[HREB008 | R FRESHEEXBRAGRATE]S -

BMNBIEEARREEEXER B EBARIINE
S00RITHRAAIE AR ARZBERTARITHEEEF
BEREHBEAIEEY HNEECEEESENIT
RIGEERE RESMITERRNE  ITHEFER - BR
FREAEER TERREBEHINE ZHENK - ITHH
MEREEL  AEPRERIIGENELITRE -

FWMARMBR K HMNBBRRAIEFERE]R
o o BRI EIEEBERIT- - 38 2R HE B0 H] &
Mo BBASE BRI MHEESKRRNESR
BMFEETRAANT  HETERRER LR -
BWNBB SR T IHEARE2EER  LEKAR
mETISELN  BIARMEMEREARE  XEREKY
O PEEERMER] -



Financial Highlights
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Significant Events

X E M5

Successful tender for “Foshan City Chancheng District Sm@rt
City Service Platform”

The “Sm@rt City Service Platform for Chancheng District of Foshan
City” was designed, based on cloud-computing technologies and
applications, to handle administrative complaints, corporate services,
administrative consultation, community services and public services
under one roof. The purpose of a platform as such is to create a citizen
service chain by integrating government, public and commercial
resources. Upon its completion, the citizens of Chancheng District will
be provided with access to all government service functions through an
integrated service platform and a centralized call center, while the
government can reach out to the city residence in a proactive manner
by providing personalized services through the citizen card code. The
project will become an important constituent of “Sm@rt Foshan” and
provide a solid foundation for the roll-out of our Sm@rt City business in
South China.

Assisting in the development of e-port for Jiangsu Province

Digital China won the contract for the construction of e-Port IT
infrastructure for Jiangsu Province, being the Group's first e-port project
at the provincial level. Meanwhile, the Group also won the contracts for
hardware/software procurement and systems integration contracts in
connection with the project. Specifically, this included three major
components: proprietary software products, software services and
systems integration, which underscored powerfully Digital China's
comprehensive strengths as an integrated service provider.

Conclusion of 10th anniversary celebrations

On 31 May 2011, Digital China held a Rally of Commitment for the new
financial year at The Great Hall of the People, the same venue at which
a similar rally was held 10 years ago. Members of the investor
community and the media were invited to a snapshot review of the
Company’'s development over the decade, while the strategy for the
coming decade, the “Sm@rt City,” was officially launched. On the day
that follows, a bell-ringing ceremony commemorating the 10th
Anniversary of the listing was performed by the management in the
presence of over 10,000 employees at the main hall of the Digital
China Technology Plaza. The anniversary celebrations culminated in the
10th anniversary gala held at the Workers' Stadium, where all the staff
and guests shared the joyous mood and spent the evening in
merriment and exhilaration.

Digital China Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2011/12
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Successful tender for Suzhou Meat and Vegetable Source
Tracking System phase |

The building of the meat and vegetable source tracking system is a
large scale project on the people's livelihood commanding a high-
priority status on the agenda of the central government. Trial
constructions at 20 cities in two stages had been planned pursuant to
a joint notice issued by the Ministry of Finance and the Ministry of
Commerce, to be financed by dedicated funds amounting to close to
RMB1.6 billion, representing appropriations by both the central and the
local governments. Digital China will build a customized meat and
vegetable source tracking system for Suzhou based on its solid
experience in the circulation sector developed over the years.

Investment in hc360.com, China’s leading B2B e-commerce player

Digital China acquired approximately 53.81 million shares in HC
International, Inc. ("HC"), a leading B2B e-commerce enterprise in
China operating through hc360.com, at a price of HK$1.5 per share.
The acquisition gave Digital China a 9.91% stake in the enlarged total
share capital of HC. The transaction raised approximately HK$80.71
million for HC, who intended to apply the funds towards improvements
in its B2B e-commerce services and products, enhancements of its
technology platform and stronger marketing efforts, with a view to
driving revenue growth for HC. Following the investment, Digital China
became the 4th largest shareholder of HC, well-positioned to facilitate
strategic cooperation between the two companies on various fronts.

Sustained top 3 ranking in China in software revenue

For the third year in a row, Digital China was among the top 3
(alongside with Huawei and ZTE) of the Top 100 PRC Software
Enterprises by Revenue in 2011 announced by the Ministry of Industry
and Information Technology at the “Announcement of the Top 100 PRC
Software Enterprises by Revenue and Forum on the Cultivation of
Leading Enterprises 2011", indicating our sustained momentum
following successive top 3 rankings in the software business in 2009
and 2010.

73rd ranking in Fortune China 500

Rising through the ranks and in terms of business revenue in the
Fortune China 500 lists for the two previous years, Digital China’s rose
further in ranking to 73rd for the year under review, thanks to continued
efforts in our transformation to a business model focused on customers
and services.
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Significant Events X == [6 &

August
Second headquarter of Digital China set up in Wuhan

Digital China invested in the construction of “Digital China Wuhan
Technology Park” in the Donghu Hi-tech Zone, with plans to complete
within two years a large scale IT industry park that is capable of
housing close to 10,000 people in work. The park will serve as an IT
innovation exemplary zone for the entire central China region, as well
as an exemplary zone for Digital China's full transformation to a
business model oriented towards customers and services. There will be
focuses on the creation of three centers in the park: the national
operation and management center for regional businesses, R&D and
service center for enterprise customer solutions and Digital China
business administration center for central and western China regions.

Digital China was included in the list of “Most innovative PRC
companies 2011”

Digital China was included in Fortune's list of “Most Innovative PRC
Companies” for the first time in 2011, ranking 10th among 25
companies. Recognition for the Company's innovative abilities were
reaffirmed by the fact that Digital China was twice named in Fortune's
listings within the year, following its inclusion in “Fortune China 500"
for 2011 at a 73rd ranking.

September

Lanzhou Government opted for Digital China in its final choice of
partner for the Lanzhou Citizen Card project

As the provincial capital of Gansu Province and an important centre in
West China, Lanzhou issued its Citizen Card to improve services in
people’s livelihood by facilitating integrated services in areas of
government/public administration and social undertakings such as social
security, medical services, population census, housing information, etc.
The Citizen Card was based on an open-ended platform that allowed
adjustments and additions of new services according to subsequent
planning for citizen services. The successful replication of the Citizen
Card for different cities and the title of “2011 PRC Innovative Software
Product of the Year” awarded to our Citizen Card Core System
underscored public recognition for Digital China’s overall strengths in
card operation.

Listed among Forbes Asia’s Fab 50 for the third time

Digital China was included in "Forbes Asia's Fab 50" for the third year
in a row following successive nominations in 2009 and 2010, ranking
1st among PRC IT companies on the privileged list.

Digital China Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2011/12
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Successful tender for the “Wuhan Citizens’ Home” project

Digital China won the tender for the Wuhan Administrative Service
Center ("Citizens’ Home") to undertake the crucial task of master
design and integrated services for the project, which was set to provide
strong support for the Sm@rt City development of Wuhan. The Citizens’
Home of Wuhan will boast the largest amount of investment, most
advanced technology and most extensive site area among China's
government administrative service project. With the benefit of latest
information technologies relating to the internet of things and cloud-
computing, etc, it will serve as a centralized platform for information
exchange for all government departments of Wuhan, integrating all
information and resources of the city in connection with e-government,
administrative approvals and the flow of public resources, while
providing centralized, modernized and convenient administrative services
for business companies and the public.

“Gold Bauhinia Award — Most Growth Potential Enterprise”

Digital China was named among the “Most Growth Potential
Enterprise” in the “Gold Bauhinia Award 2011,” an accolade presented
by 7a Kung Pao in association with leading administrative authorities,
securities regulatory authorities and economists in Hong Kong and the
Mainland to honor companies and managers who have shown
outstanding characteristics and made significant achievements during
the past 20 years in the development of China's securities sector. The
selection was the combined result of online voting and experts’
adjudication, after a preliminary shortlist had been drawn up based on
comparisons and comprehensive assessments of all listed companies in
the Mainland and Hong Kong and their senior management.

Commissioning of new South China Headquarters Building

On 15 December 2011, an opening ceremony was held for the new
Digital China South China Headquarters Building in the Science City of
Guangzhou Development Zone. The commissioning of the new South
China Headquarters will mark a new starting point in the development
in South China and a milestone in the roll-out of Digital China’s Sm@rt
City strategy.
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Second “Best Investor Relations Award” in a row from The Asset

Digital China garnered for the second time the "“Annual Corporate
Awards — Gold Winner for the Best Investor Relations” presented by
The Asset, after winning the same award in 2010. Digital China will
continue to publish its operating results and future development plans
from time to time in a proactive manner, as well as participate in
domestic and international investors’ conferences to benefit from
invaluable views and opinions of other parties in the capital market.

Investment in Wuyouke of Hangzhou to investigate the B2C
frontier

Digital China invested in Wuyouke of Hangzhou as its first investment
in equity interests in the supply chain sector. Wuyouke is a specialist in
domestic business logistics and distribution principally engaged in local
distribution for e-commerce and is the largest logistics service provider
in the Pearl River Delta Region and Yangtze River Delta Region for
leading domestic B2C e-commerce companies. In future, the two
companies will engage in in-depth cooperation in the acquisition of
e-commerce customers, sharing of storage and route transport
resources and execution of distribution orders, etc, with a view to
attaining maximum business synergies.

“Best Investor Relations Award” from Corporate Governance Asia

Digital China received the “Best Investor Relations Award” in the 2nd
Asian Excellence Recognition Awards hosted by Corporate Governance
Asia, designed to recognize excellence in investor communications,
business ethics, corporate social responsibility, environmental practices
and financial performance. Several thousand enterprises from different
regions in Asia participated in the contest, which was based both on
the scores from the data submitted by the companies and, for the
investor relations awards, votes by over 9,000 investor-readers of
Corporate Governance Asia as well as scores recorded in interviews
with investors. The award testified investors’ recognition of the Group's
efforts in achieving high standards in investor relations.

Official launch of Kunshan Logistics Park project in Jiangsu

Digital China's “Sm@rt City” empowered East China as the Kunshan
Logistics Park project was officially launched. Upon completion,
Kunshan Logistics Park will become a future platform for e-commerce
coordination, hub financial services and base for supply-chain services
for six provinces and one city in East China in further enhancement of
the overall implementation of Digital China’s “Sm@rt City" strategy in
East China to provide strong support for Sm@rt City constructions at
local levels.

Digital China Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2011/12
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“China’s Most Promising Companies 2011” named by The Asset

In recognition of its outstanding performances in operations
management, business results and corporate governance, Digital China
was named among “China’s Most Promising Companies 2011" by The
Asset, a renowned international financial magazine. This marked the
second consecutive year in which Digital China featured in accolades
awarded by The Asset.

Investment in Goodwill, a leader in IT for the medical sector

Goodwill (Beijing) Technology Co., Ltd. (“Goodwill”) is principally
engaged in the R&D, manufacturing and sales of medical application
software and medical equipment, including the e-medical record
product developed by the company on a proprietary basis which claims
the largest market share in the domestic market for high-end e-medical
records. The investment was an important move for Digital China in the
medical IT sector. Goodwill will become a core partner for Digital China
in the segment of the Sm@rt City known as the “City of Health,” and
will also provide strong support for the Company's efforts to expand its
regional customer base for medical companies.

Groundbreaking ceremony for e-commerce center in Shenyang

On 28 March 2012, a groundbreaking ceremony for the construction of
Digital China’'s e-commerce center in Shenyang, Liaoning was held. As
an important strategic move in the implementation of Sm@rt City in the
northeastern China region, the e-commerce center in Shenyang will
provide multiple functions such as management, R&D, logistics and
e-services and serve as a large scale data center, customer service
center, technical service center, order processing center, logistics
distribution center and maintenance center. The establishments of the
Shenyang e-commerce center will not only facilitate more convenient
collaborations with up/downstream partners for effective cost savings in
the supply chain, but will also provide strong support for the progress
of Digital China's “Sm@rt Shenyang” initiative and the implementation
of our Sm@rt City strategy throughout the northeastern region.
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Awards
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GOVERNMENT AND THIRD PARTY ORGANIZATION

Beijing Municipal Bureau of Landscape and Forestry

2011 Best Service Provider of Beijing Municipal Bureau of Landscape
and Forestry

CCID Group

PRC Smart City Sector Leader Award

CCID Group; CCID Consulting
PRC Most Valuable IT Service Brand 2011

China Center for Information Industry Development

2011 Leaders of the Year in the PRC Information Industry — Lin Yang
China Center for Information Industry Development; China
Computer Industry Association; China Computer Users

Association; China Federation of IT Promotion; Software and
Information Services Magazine

PRC Software Industry Award 2011 — Most Influential Enterprise
China Communications & Transportation Association Express
Service Committee

Top 100 PRC Enterprises in Brand Value — Logistics

China Communications & Transportation Association Express
Service Committee

Best Employer in PRC Logistics Industry

China Electronic Commerce Association

PRC e-Commerce Logistics and Transportation Services Model
Innovation Award

China Electronic Commerce Association

PRC e-Commerce Logistics Premium Service Quality Award

China Electronic Commerce Logistics Conference

PRC e-Commerce and Logistics Award — Outstanding Logistics Service
Provider

China Software Industry Association

Most Valuable Brand in the PRC Software and Information Service
Industry 2011

China Software Industry Association; China Information World

2011 Gold Award for PRC IT Service Standard Driver

Digital China Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2011/12 v
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China Software Industry Association; China Center for Information
Industry Development; Software and Information Services
Magazine

Decade Achievement: Top 10 Leader in PRC Software and Information
Service Industry

China Software Industry Association; China Center for Information
Industry Development; Software and Information Services
Magazine

Decade Achievement: Leader in PRC Software and Information Service
Industry 2001-2011

China Software Industry Association; China Information World
Decade of PRC Key and Information Technology Service Industry —
Best Solution for Informatization of Financial Sector Award

Industrial and Economic Survey and Research Center of Industry
Newspaper Association

Top 10 Outstanding Innovation Cases of the Service

Nationwide

Industry

Industrial and Economic Survey and Research Center of Industry
Newspaper Association

Best Exemplary Brand for Public Satisfaction in IT Services Nationwide

Industrial and Economic Survey and Research Center of Industry
Newspaper Association

Best PRC IT Service Provider 2010-2011

Information Technology Department; Export-lmport Bank of China

Outstanding Partner for Storage Equipment and Services 2008-2010,
Information Technology Department; Export-Import Bank of China

Ministry of Industry and Information Technology; Internet of
Things Expert Advisor Group of China Communications Industry
Association; China Internet of Things Industry Extension Center;
Internet of Things Industry Chapter of China Communications
Industry Association

PRC Outstanding Smart Medical Solution 2011

National Development and Reform Commission

Outstanding Showcasing Award for Exhibition under the Theme of
“Development of New Generation Information Technology and
Acceleration of Informatization of Economy and Society” at the 13th Hi-
tech Trade Fair, received by DCN
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Awards & 1§

National Development and Reform Commission

Outstanding Product Award for DCRS-9800 series 100G core router
exchange

National Development and Reform Commission

Outstanding Product Award for IPv6 wireless sensor net group
equipment

Shenzhen Security Association

Golden Tripod Award 2011

Top 10 Z-Park Series 2011 — Selection Committee
Top 10 Brands of Excellence of Z-Park 2011

Z-Park Ubiquitous-internet Industry Association

Next Generation Internet Technology Innovation Award 2011

BUSINESS PARTNERS
Advanced Micro Devices Inc

Best APU Channel Award

Autodesk

Autodesk Annual Outstanding Engineer Contest 2011 — Special
Contribution Award

Avaya

Avaya Best General Distributor of the Year

Avaya

Avaya Silver Partner

Avaya

Avaya Platinum Partner

Blue Coat

Best General Distributor — Greater China

Blue Coat

Best General Distributor

Canon Inc

“Win-Win" Award 2011

CCID Consulting
Enterprise of the Year in PRC IT Services 2011-2012
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DELL

Charitable Enterprise Award

EMC
EMC Gold Partner Award 2011

EMC
EMC West China Sales Award 2011

Founder

Founder Brand Large-worth Customer Development Contribution Award
2010

Harman (Shanghai)

Best Partner Award

Hewlett-Packard

FY11 Best Team Award for Storage

Hewlett-Packard
FY11 Outstanding Contribution Award

Hewlett-Packard
FY11 Best Distributor — Bulk Products

Hewlett-Packard
FY11 Outstanding Contribution Award

Hewlett-Packard

FY11 Best Fusion Business Development Award

IBM
IBM Best Integrated Partner Award

IBM
Growth Markets IBM 2012 Choice Award — Most Outstanding Distributor

Juniper Network

Juniper Best Distributor Asia Pacific 2011

Juniper Network

Best General Distributor China 2012

Lenovo

“Business Star” Excellent Cooperation Award 2010
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I Awards #8218

Lenovo B A8
FY10 Legend Best Partner for Public Transportation and Energy Sectors FYIOBE B ARRERITEREGIER &
Shanghai LG Electronic Co., LTD. I BEEEEFHRAT
Outstanding Third Party Vendor BFH Wt
Microsoft W
FY12 H1 Reach (Number of Active Channels) Best Development Award FY12 H1 Reach (BUE RE &) & ER A E
Microsoft W
Best EA Select Sale Award FYNME KR P88 &S R & FEA Select i & 82
Microsoft W
FY12 Microsoft Strategic Partner Best Results Award FYRBMEEBEEIERH R ESXESR
Motorola Mobility EREBRBRAE
2011 Enterprise Mobility Distributor of the Year QONFELEBHEBTARBZENHD
Motorola Mobility ERBNBRALE
2011 Wireless Network Distributor of the Year NFEEGREEFRTAEEIHEY
Oracle &3
FY11 Oracle Outstanding Team Award for Technological Product FY11 Oracle £ 17 & & & 1 5 KB 75 B 5 5
Implementation Expert
Oracle B E 3L
Oracle Asia Pacific Best Value Added Partner Oracle 20118f F b K@ & EEE AR
Pitney Bowes WEEE
GMS-2nd Top Performing Partner GMSHZERIREH
Radware LedmtER
Best Distributor Award 2011 201 FRIED A
RSA RSA
RSA Best Results Contribution Award — Greater China REARHFERE HZEXETRE
Sybase (China) EBH(PE)
Outstanding Partner 2010 2000 B EFAERE
Symantec EMER
FY11 Best Distributor FYN&EEDHEF
Vmware BE
Vmware Best Distributor Asia Pacific 2011 2011 Vmware 2 K [& & 1£ 7 8 i 82
[ ] [ ] “
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MEDIA ORGANIZATION
SP
2011 1H Editor's Choice Awards — Most Valuable Channel Product

21st Century Business Herald; 21st Century Business Review

21st Century Best Innovation of Business Model in China

AS Media
Top 10 AS Outstanding Brand 2011

China Business Journal; Staffer

2011 Top 50 Choices for First Employer

Corporate Governance Asia

Best Investor Relations Award

Forbes

Forbes Asia's Fab 50

Fortune China

2011 Fortune China 500 (73rd Ranking)

Fortune China

Most Innovative PRC Company

hc360.com
Top 10 Domestic Security Brands of China

Network World

Top 10 Influential Enterprises in the PRC Network Sector

Ta Kung Pao

Golden Bauhinia Award — Most Growth Potential Enterprise

The Asian Banker

2011 China Best Core Banking System Implementation

The Asset

2011 Corporate Awards — Gold Winner for the Best Investor Relations

The Asset

China’s Most Promising Companies
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Il Chairman’s Statement
FEHE

Mr. GUO Wei
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The 2011/12 financial year marked the 10th anniversary of the Group's
listing. Those 10 years have been a decade of explorations and diligent
work for Digital China. For the past 5 years, Digital China reported an
average CAGR of 18.85% for revenue and more than 31.47% for
operating profit. Total assets as at the end of the financial year under
review were valued at HK$26,822 million, as compared to HK$9,314
million 5 years ago.

For the intricate and volatile year of 2011, Digital China recorded total
turnover of approximately HK$70,319 million, representing 23.79%
growth as compared to approximately HK$56,804 million for last
financial year, after delivering consecutive record-high three-month
turnover for the second and third quarters of the year. Profit attributable
to shareholders of the parent amounted to approximately HK$1,245
million, increasing by 23.81% as compared to approximately HK$1,005
million for last financial year. The Group has also invested in a number
of companies, including HC International, Goodwill and Wuyouke, to
establish the presence in strategic businesses conducive to the long-
term growth in accordance with the overall Sm@rt City strategy.

Subsequent to the establishment of the Sm@rt City strategy, the Group
carried out adjustments to its organizational structure according to the
Sm@rt City strategy during the financial year, improving the
compatibility of the organization with the strategy and setting up new
business units to be responsible for the mobile internet, enterprise
infrastructure, business application software and services, as well as
operations and supporting functions.

In tandem with its outstanding performance in business results, Digital
China has also enjoyed increasing influence in the capital market. Digital
China was included in Forbes Asia’s Fab 50 for the third year in a row
since 2009, while twice receiving the “Annual Corporate Awards — Gold
winner for the Best Investor Relations” and the “China’s Most Promising
Companies Award"” from The Asset. It also won for the first time the “Best
Investor Relations Award” from Corporate Governance Asia and the “Gold
Bauhinia Award — Most Growth Potential Enterprise” presented jointly by
Ta Kung Pao and others.

The 10th anniversary of the listing of the Company warrants
celebration. Through a series of celebratory activities, recognition of
Digital China’s strategy, brand name and culture on the part of
employees, customers, investors and other stakeholders has been
strengthened, and new targets have been set for the development in
the next 10 years.
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Chairman’s Statement * [§ R &%

Corporate governance is and always will be a priority for the Group. In
this regard, notable progress has been achieved through our work in
the financial year under review. The Board of Directors has persisted in
the operation of the three-tier governance structure of shareholders,
board and management in accordance with the rules of the Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong, while extending full support to the
management in connection with the formulation and implementation of
strategies. The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors has carried
out a large amount of meticulous work to ensure further improvements
in terms of legal compliance, truthfulness of financial data and
management transparency. In terms of management incentives, our
Remuneration Committee has formulated well-defined management
KPIs (key performance indicators). To enhance the Company’s
competitive edge in the implementation of its human resource strategy,
the restricted share award scheme was officially implemented during
the financial year to motivate staff for ongoing improvements and better
efficiency so that greater value will be generated for the Company.

We are, of course, aware of the pressure associated with rising labor
costs and the press need for further transformation of the Company's
business model. To deal with this, we need to seek constant
breakthroughs and innovations in business and management. In view of
the expected complicatedness and volatility of 2012, the management
has called for “prudent progress with a focus on Sm@rt City" as a
matter of principle, whereby customer-oriented marketing regimes and
process reengineering will be enhanced to improve the ability of our
business to generate profit. With the concerted effort of all staff under
the leadership of the management, the Board of Directors believe that
even though the Company may be subject to the substantial increase
in labor costs, it will be able to track the development of innovative
technologies, capture new opportunities in the market and achieve
designated business targets, in a bid to reward shareholders for their
longstanding support and trust with solid actions.

A

GUO Wei 85
Chairman 7 /&

Hong Kong, 12 June 2012
B8 —E2-—-FXA+ZH
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The 2011/12 financial year marked the 10th anniversary of Digital
China’s spin-off listing. It also signified the commencement of
Digital China’s strategic transformation to “Sm@rt City” and the
first year of the third five-year plan in the Group’s business
planning. Market-wise, we had faced a complicated situation
during the 2011 financial year as the nation’s macro-economic
performance had started strongly before trending downwards,
while the credit environment remained tight. To cope with the
austere market conditions, Digital China formulated at the onset
of the financial year an articulate strategy of “driving growth,
speeding up transformation and making a concentrate effort to
build Sm@rt City,” which was also in tandem with our medium-
to long-term goal for overall business development, and made it
the main theme for our development throughout the year. Under
the direction of this strategic goal, each of the Group’s business
units devised and diligently implemented relevant business
expansion and transformation plans. As a result, all of the
Group’s business segments attained their respective performance
targets set at the beginning of the year, beating management
expectations and outgrowing the market to win our first battle
for the five-year period. We were also included in “Forbes Asia’s
Fab 50” for the third consecutive year. For the year ended 31
March 2012:

11. The Group accomplished the strategic goal of “driving
growth” as it sustained outperforming business growth
with continuous rapid expansion in scale

The Group endeavored to implement its strategic goal of “driving
growth” at each of its business segment to ensure that potential
products and customers were fully identified. With the benefit of
balanced exposures to different business sectors and solid
cooperation with upstream and downstream partners, we were
able to sustain sound momentum for growth and outperformed
the market. For the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group
recorded turnover of approximately HK$70,319 million,
representing 23.79% growth as compared to approximately
HK$56,804 million for last financial year. Following the second
quarter of the financial year, the Group reported another record-
high turnover of HK$18,913 million for the third quarter of the
financial year.
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Il Management Discussion and Analysis

24

1.2

1.3

Business values continued to grow as the Group accelerated
its shift towards a customer-and service-oriented model in
an intensive pursuit of the strategic direction of “speeding
up transformation.”

The Group has been committed to transformation into a business
model oriented towards customers, solutions and services. With
the benefit of new business expansion and business value
enhancements facilitated by the transformation strategy, gross
profit growth exceeded turnover growth to underpin continuous
increment in profit attributable to equity holders of the parent.
The Group’s business value has been further enhanced, with
overall gross profit margin for the year ended 31 March 2012
reaching 7.55%, which was 0.66 percentage point higher than
the gross profit margin of 6.89% reported for last financial year,
reflecting gross profit margin growth across all major business
segments. Total gross profit was approximately HK$5,306 million,
representing a 35.63% growth as compared to HK$3,912 million
for last financial year. For the year ended 31 March 2012, profit
attributable to equity holders of the parent amounted to
approximately HK$1,245 million, increasing by 23.81% as
compared to approximately HK$1,005 million for last financial
year. Basic earnings per share amounted to 116.32 HK cents, an
increase by 21% compared to 96.13 HK cents reported for last
financial year.

Sound cash turnover and cash flow performance thanks to
stringent risk control and cash flow management

The Group actively responded to the austerity in the macro-
economic environment with a strong alertness for potential crisis.
A strong net cash inflow from the Group’s operating activities for
the year ended 31 March 2012 of approximately HK$473 million
provided assurance for the Group’'s healthy and stable
development. The significant growth in cash flow contributed by
business operations is a clear indication that Digital China has
developed comprehensive abilities in operational management,
whether in connection with profit and loss, assets and liabilities
or cash flow. The stability of the Group’s operations was also
underpinned by its cash turnover of 16.99 days for the year
ended 31 March 2012, 1.43 days less compared to 18.42 days
reported for last financial year.
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2.1.

Focusing on “Sm@rt City” strategy, steady progress has
been rolled out with strong overall sign-ups that beat
expectations and increased sophistication in our solutions

During the financial year under review, the Group consolidated its
position as the “Leader in Sm@rt City Solutions”, tracking and
covering 67 cities in total. New strategic cooperation agreements
were signed up with Nanjing, Foshan, and Kunshan to take the
total number of strategic city partners to 11. Targets set at the
beginning of the year for contract sign-ups and revenue were
exceeded by a significant margin. We were engaged in ongoing
improvements to the Sm@rt City solution and investigations in
the operating model for the Citizen Card. Meanwhile, we swiftly
completed adjustments to our business and organizational
structure in tandem with the Sm@rt City model, such that we
started to generate synergies of a holistic business in certain
cities.

Distribution Business (with a primary focus on the SMB &
Consumer Markets)

Our Distribution Business is primarily focused on meeting
the demand for IT products and solutions from SMB and
consumer markets, while we also explore opportunities in
new mobile internet devices and their applications with the
implementation of the Sm@rt City strategy.

14
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Il Management Discussion and Analysis & 12 /& i

=

Targets were accomplished on the back of the rapid growth
in accessories, PC servers and consumer IT products, as we
made strong efforts to capitalize on changes in market
demands and favorable market factors; which also
supported the healthy growth of the overall income of the
Group

Turnover from the Group's Distribution Business for the vyear
ended 31 March 2012 grew 16.32%, as compared to the
corresponding period of last financial year, to approximately
HK$37,5615 million. Gross profit margin for the financial year
under review was 4.71%, a significant rise by 0.56 percentage
point over last financial year. Driven by the higher market shares
of CPU (chips) manufacturers and the new expansion of product
lines (such as hard disk drives and monitors), the turnover for
accessories for the financial year under review was 49.10%
higher as compared to the corresponding period of last financial
year. The 22.07% growth in turnover of PC servers for the
financial year under review was mainly attributable to fresh
demand arising from the construction of cloud computing
infrastructure and the ongoing replacement of some of low-end
UNIX servers. As a core element of the Distribution Business,
notebooks recorded near double-digit growth in turnover despite
falling ASP (average sales price) due to the increasing market
competition. Gross profit margin for notebooks improved 0.96
percentage point as compared to last financial year as a result of
the shortage in HDD supply for notebooks in last financial year.
Noting the change in market demand brought about by the
mobile internet, Digital China also worked on its exposures to
different products with a special emphasis on smart phones and
tablets.

Rapid growth achieved thanks to stronger efforts to cover
new channels such as e-commerce retail enterprises in a
move to capture opportunities arising from changing
formats of the retail business

The Group highly values new channels as important alternate
business channels to traditional IT products stores (IT Mall) and
CES (large chain electronic stores). Through the provision of
feature products and consulting services, Digital China delivered
mutually beneficial relationships and established long-term
cooperation with key customers, laying the foundation for
investigating the e-commerce model while driving significant
overall growth for the e-commerce sub-segment. Digital China
also made steady progress in the development of the terminal
chain retail store, as an important measure for retail end control.
The Group opened 156 new Digital China "@PORT" franchise
retail outlets and concession counters as at 31 March 2012 to
bring the total number of “@PORT" outlets and counters owned
to 790.

[ ]
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2.2

Systems Business (with a primary focus on the Industry
and Enterprise Markets)

Our Systems Business seeks to meet IT demand arising
from enterprise applications and the construction of
infrastructure as well as clients from the industry and
enterprise market by providing value-added distribution. We
also make direct sales to regional customers to enhance
first-hand understanding of the needs of the enterprise
market.

Effective share management was implemented in relation to
business value on the basis of corporate IT infrastructure
products and solutions, while rapid growth provided strong
support for the accomplishment of overall Group target for
profit

Turnover from the Systems Business for the year ended 31
March 2012 grew 26.50%, year-on-year, to approximately
HK$17,487 million. The growth in the core product business has
generally outperformed the market, while undisputed leadership
was maintained in terms of market share, underscoring our
prestigious position in value-added distribution. The gross profit
margin of the Systems Business was at par with last financial
year to contribute significantly to the overall profit growth of the
Group, notwithstanding the substantial increase in turnover,
thanks to the technological value adding capabilities of the
segment. Gross profit margin for the financial year under review
was 9.97%, indicating further consolidation and improvement as
compared to 9.74% for last financial year. Driven by the data
processing requirements of corporate customers, turnovers for
packaged software and storage products for the financial year
under review grew 45.34% and 27.42%, respectively, as
compared to last financial year. Turnover of networking equipment
for the financial year under review grew 31.79% over last
financial vyear, reflecting the benefits of larger shares of the
market comprising major vendors and additional business
volumes channeled through new partners.

2.2.
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General improvements in the gross profit margin of our
Systems Business driven by vigorous moves to increase the
sales of compounded products based on actual requirements
of corporate clients

Our Systems Business delivered remarkable results by
strengthening the marketing of compounded products. Rapid
year-on-year growth of 42% in the total sales revenue from the
three types of solution businesses, namely communications,
video conference and data security, was reported. In view of the
demand for cloud computing and virtualization technologies from
the enterprise market, our Systems Business cooperated with
vendors such as CISCO, VMware and NetApp, to roll out a
separate “Planter Plan” aimed at promoting our product solution
business. Our market leadership has been reinforced and our
market shares in businesses with vendors have been increased
as a result.

Supply Chain Services Business (with a primary focus on
the markets of Hi-tech Industries, Branded e-Commerce and
Online Service Providers and Platform Operators)

Our Supply Chain Services Business is primarily targeted at
manufacturers of IT and other high value-intensive products
and industry customers, e-commerce platform operators
and branded service providers, providing “one-stop” supply-
chain consultancy and execution in logistics, business flow,
capital flow and information flow through various means,
including the creation of e-commerce logistic parks.

Strong growth and improvement in gross profit margin for
CES business underpinned by a dual approach of enhancing
cooperation with core customers as well as optimizing
product lines, in an active effort to capitalize on market
demand from emerging industry

Turnover from the Supply Chain Services Business for the year
ended 31 March 2012 amounted to HK$7,426 million, representing
a 58.48% increase over last financial year. The overall gross
profit margin for the year for the Supply Chain Services Business
was 6.80%, increasing significantly by 1.27 percentage points as
compared to last financial year. Cooperation with CES customers
underscored Digital China’'s effective coverage of multiple
business formats. The management team of the Supply Chain
Services Business sought to enlarge the scope of cooperation
with retail malls, while actively expanded our product exposures
by introducing items with strong market recognition and higher
gross profit margin, such as the Apple products, as well as
various accessories, in order to enhance our business value.
During the financial year under review, CES business grew
56.75% as compared to last financial year. Gross profit margin
increased significantly by 1.25 percentage points over last
financial year.
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2.4.

As integral components of the “Sm@rt City” strategic
synergy businesses, logistics and service station businesses
reported rapid growth in revenue to drive business value
improvements of the Supply Chain Services Business

Driven by the rapid growth in the demand of the logistics
market, turnover from the logistics business of the Supply Chain
Services Business for the year ended 31 March 2012 grew
86.25%. In logistics services, we continued to enhance the
streamlining and development of the core logistics capabilities of
storage, transportation and dispatching. Breakthroughs were
being made in third-party logistics in connection with both B2B
and B2C e-commerce storage. In the meantime, we were
actively deploying our e-commerce storage service business. In
this connection, we have become an important partner of Taobao
in further enhancement of our indirect coverage of novel
business formats. Our service station business benefitted from
cooperation with key manufacturers of notebooks and desktop
computers and the extensive coverage of our service outlets, as
business expansion continued in a systematic manner. Thanks to
the outstanding performance of our warranty services, gross
profit margin of the service station business for the financial year
under review increased by 7.19 percentage points over last
financial year. Logistics and service station businesses, as a
services business, supported the growth of gross profit of the
Supply Chain Services Business.

Services Business (with a primary focus on the provision of
industry software, information infrastructure and “Sm@rt
City” operation services to the Industry Market)

Our Services Business is primarily focused on meeting the
demand of large scale industry customers for industry
software, information infrastructure facilities and “Sm@rt
City” operation services, offering IT planning and IT
systems consultation, design and implementation of
industry application software and solutions, outsourcing of
IT system operation and maintenance, as well as products
and services in systems integration and maintenance.

2.4.
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Solid turnover growth and ongoing improvements in gross
profit margin for the Services Business as an important
vehicle for the “Sm@rt City” strategy

With the benefit of the foundation built through “customer-
focused and service-oriented” strategic transformation over the
past 5 years and also owing to the implementation of the “Sm@rt
City"” strategy during the financial year under review, the Group
reported turnover of approximately HK$7,892 million for the year
ended 31 March 2012, a 30.62% growth as compared to
HK$6,042 million for the corresponding period of last financial
year. As our software and servicing capabilities grew in
sophistication, gross profit margin for the financial year under
review reached 16.38%, representing an increase of 0.35
percentage point as compared to last financial year.

Analyzed by sector, year-on-year growth rates of 78.16% and
30.51%, respectively, were reported in operating income of the
government enterprise sector and the banking sector for the
financial year under review, as these sectors continued to sustain
positive growth momentum. In particular, we made solid
breakthroughs in the insurance and power sectors, providing
support to the overall rapid growth of ITS while optimizing our
coverage of different industrial sectors. Analyzed by business
type, our application software business has achieved notable
results in the development of new customers among regional
banks and local taxation authorities business. In the banking
sector, business relationships have been established with 15
banks, including China Resources Zhuhai Commercial Bank,
Jiangsu Changjiang Commercial Bank and Bank of Xi'an, through
the provision of regional core banking solutions. We have also
made inroads into the market of local taxation authorities with
our third-generation golden tax collection and administration
system, signing up the local tax bureaus of Shenzhen, Hainan
and Shandong as new customers. Initial results have been
achieved in the investigation of new models for the software
business with 26 township banks being signed up for banking
software operating services, making us the undisputed market
leader in this sub-segment. Our taxpayer-end service business
was established in Hainan. We have devoted major efforts to the
development of proprietary brands, while continuing to
consolidate our leading edge in the telecommunications, banking
and government enterprise sectors, as we secured several multi-
million contracts from the State Administration for Industry and
Commerce, China Unicom and China Telecom. We gained further
inroads in our pursuit of refined management underpinned by the
productization and standardization of services, with more
sophisticated internal management and more specific business
and profit models that provided a very solid foundation for
massive growth.

Digital China Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2011/12

=

haj

T 5 4T

EBIEBRTIBBEZEZRHE REXHER
HELREYR  EREFEREA

7

SERAFRAMIAEFAPL  UREEER]
BESEAIRTIT T ER - RS BEBRAN T
SR WIS E LT B2 ——-F=A=
+—RALZFERN AEBRGEFHESEES
478 17,8928 &t - & L B F R HI K #6,042
BE T K T30.62% ° MR RG D&
MR A FEFEKEET16.38% © R ETF
EINTO35EE D 2 -

/

WITERE BETE  SRTEATFELEER
AR L2 Bl 18 £78.16% F130.51% » 3 & M & R
BRIFZE  LERERR BHETEESBT
BEUHRE EXZEXEBHRMORE BT
ITSEEMNERER -HEBKBEALE 4%
BERBRTMEHAORAB EMETESKE
SRR ISR TR LR T REME BRI EHT
TwEIHRT ARERTSERBTEVELS
B BEZRBEERHFEHHEEGRE  RIWFEHE
wI B RS A I c MG EBATE
AERBVBERE - SREFELRGE S E 426
RIWIERIT BT WS RBHEBELOMA: B
ANBREEFETE R - EE(CEWRERE
¥BARNERNBREERGREEEZEESE
Frof BOSTEMNEY  HERESIEme
B FEER PEEEEZEATELKRE X
RREEREMARBEE(OBE/LEEE—
HERl REEEZRHAA  EXEXMEBF A
NEHEW  AAXRERRETTIHEBHNER -



Sound overall deployment of “Sm@rt City” with initial
planning completed in key regions

During the financial year under review, the Group swiftly
completed the tracking coverage of the Sm@rt City target cities,
exceeding targets set at the beginning of the year for contract
sign-ups and revenue by a significant margin, while overall sign-
ups also substantially exceeded our annual targets. Projects
signed up and started during the year have not only added to the
numbers of the Group's “Sm@rt City” projects, but have also
contributed to improvements in terms of the richness and
sophistication of solutions, enhancing the overall strengths of the
Group as China’s leading solution provider in Sm@rt City and
fostering a sound foundation for the “Sm@rt City” operating
services. More specifically, mature core solutions were replicated
in other cities, such as the Citizen Card project in Zhenjiang and
Lanzhou, the Citizen Service project in Foshan, and the
demonstration center project in Zhenjiang and Guangzhou, for
which contracts have been signed for implementation.
Meanwhile, significant progress has also been made in strategic
solutions, such as the Yangzhou Healthcare Information Platform
in the health sector, the Suzhou Meat and Vegetable Source
Tracking System in the food and drug sector and relevant
projects for Shunde, Zhuzhou, Wuhan and Shenyang in the data
exchange sector.

Management Outlook

Amid the intricate and volatile times of 2011, our
management team completed and exceeded all financial
targets set for the financial year under review. As guided by
the overall strategy of the Company, we have also
conducted bold investigations regarding the probable
directions of Sm@rt City and realigned our organizational
structure in tandem with our Sm@rt City strategy.

Market conditions are set to remain challenging in 2012.
Our management has formulated the principle of “prudent
progress with a focus on Sm@rt City,” whereby the Group
will concentrate on customer marketing, process
streamlining and optimization and technological innovation,
with a view to bolstering its competitive strengths,
enhancing its leadership and influence in the Sm@rt City
sector and achieving various business targets for greater
shareholders’ value.
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Capital Expenditure, Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group mainly finances its operations with internally
generated cash flows, bank borrowings and banking facilities.

The Group had total assets of HK$26,821 million at 31 March
2012 which were financed by total liabilities of HK$19,298
million, non-controlling interests of HK$702 million and equity
attributable to equity holders of the parent of HK$6,821 million.
The Group's current ratio at 31 March 2012 was 1.36 as
compared to 1.44 at 31 March 2011.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, capital expenditure of
HK$734 million was mainly incurred for the acquisition of land,
properties, office equipment and IT infrastructure facilities.

The aggregate borrowings as a ratio of equity attributable to
equity holders of the parent was 0.59 at 31 March 2012 as
compared to 0.33 at 31 March 2011. The computation of the
said ratio was based on the total interest-bearing bank
borrowings and bond payable of HK$4,053 million (31 March
2011: HK$1,969 million) and equity attributable to equity holders
of the parent of HK$6,821 million (31 March 2011 HK$6,033
million).
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At 31 March 2012, the denomination of the interest-bearing bank RZE——FZA=Z+—H AEBHHERTT
borrowings and bond payable of the Group was shown as ERREMNEFNEBEREMDT
follows:
Denominated Denominated
in United Denominated in Hong Kong
States dollars in Renminbi dollars Total
LLETT AR LA T
BEMREN BEMEN BEMREN &%
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
B For B For B For B For
Current wE
Interest-bearing bank M ERITE K -
borrowings, unsecured 1 4 7 733,739 415,096 1,068,876 2,217,711
Interest-bearing bank HERITER -
borrowings, secured B — 106,184 — 106,184
733,739 521,280 1,068,876 2,323,895
Non-current FER &
Interest-bearing bank M ERITE K -
borrowings, unsecured 47 4% 7 1,302,000 — 390,000 1,692,000
Bond payable &S — 36,615 — 36,615
1,302,000 36,615 390,000 1,728,615
Total M 2,035,739 557,895 1,458,876 4,052,510

Included in the Group's current bank borrowings of approximately
HK$82 million extended by a financial institution to a subsidiary
of the Group, Beijing Digital China Si-Tech Information Technology
Co., Ltd. ("STQ"), were secured by a property situated in
Mainland China with a value of approximately HK$26 million and
trade receivables with an aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$64 million at 31 March 2012, and 8,229,004
issued shares of STQ in favour of Beijing Zhongguancun Sci-Tech
Guaranty Co., Ltd. (the “Pledgee”), an independent third party,
for securing a guarantee issued by such Pledgee on behalf of
STQ.
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Included in the Group's current bank borrowings of approximately
HK$24 million extended by a financial institution to a subsidiary
of the Group, Digital China Jinxin Technology Co., Ltd. (“Beijing
Jinxin”), were secured by fixtures and office equipment with a
value of approximately HK$27 million at 31 March 2012 in favour
of Beijing Zhongguancun Sci-Tech Guaranty Co., Ltd., an
independent third party, for securing a guarantee issued by such
Pledgee on behalf of Beijing Jinxin.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Group's subsidiary,
Digital China Technology Limited, entered into a facility
agreement with a syndicate of banks for a three-year loan facility
of US$150 million for the purpose of financing general working
capital of the Group. Included in the Group’s non-current bank
borrowings of approximately HK$1,162 million (equivalent to
US$150 million) represented the syndicated loan repayable in
three years from the date of the drawdown and were guaranteed
by the Company.

Included in the Group's current and non-current bank borrowings
of approximately HK$749 million and HK$1,692 million
respectively represented the term loans and are repayable from
Year 2012 to 2014.

In September 2010, the Group completed the acquisition of the
remaining 89.56% equity interest in Beijing Jinxin Technology
Co., Ltd. (now named as “Digital China Jinxin Technology Co.,
Ltd.”) from independent third parties (the “Acquisition”). Beijing
Jinxin was owned as to 10.44% by the Group prior to the
Acquisition and subsequent to which, it became a wholly-owned
subsidiary of the Group. In August 2010, i.e., before the
Acquisition, Beijing Jinxin and twelve other companies being
independent third parties of the Group (collectively referred as
the “Issuers”) issued “2010 Collective Bonds of Zhongguancun
High-tech SME” (“2010 Bonds”) to institutional and public
investors in Mainland China through the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange. The aggregate principal amount of the 2010 Bonds is
RMB383 million, of which Beijing Jinxin accounts for RMB30
million (equivalent to approximately HK$37 million). The fund
raised by Beijing Jinxin will be applied to the development of its
ATM network construction project. The 2010 Bonds which carry
interest at a rate of 5.18% per annum, will mature in August
2016, and are unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed in full
with joint liabilities by Beijing Zhongguancun Sci-Tech Guaranty
Co., Ltd., an independent third party, from the first to third year
of the issuance (“ZGC Guarantee”). At the same time, ZGC
Guarantee is guaranteed by Beijing SMEs Credits Re-guarantee
Co., Ltd., and also guaranteed by Beijing Jinxin for the principal
amount of the 2010 Bonds it accounted for (i.e., RMB30 million).
The Investors’ Put Option and the Issuers’ Full Redemption
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Option in respect of the 2010 Bonds may be exercised under the
following circumstances: if the Issuers can provide a guarantor
with good reputation before the conclusion of the interest period
in the third year of the issuance of the 2010 Bonds, investors
may opt to hold the 2010 Bonds in full or in part and/or exercise
the Investors’ Put Option to sell the 2010 Bonds back to the
Issuers within five working days from the publication of the
announcement in respect of information regarding the continuing
guarantee; and if the lIssuers cannot provide a guarantor with
good reputation before the conclusion of the interest period in
the third year of the issuance of the 2010 Bonds, the Issuers
shall redeem the 2010 Bonds in full.

The Group's total available credit facilities at 31 March 2012
amounted to HK$23,304 million, of which HK$2,859 million were
in term loan facilities, HK$14,167 million were in trade lines and
HK$6,278 million were in short-term and revolving money market
facilities. At 31 March 2012, the facility drawn down was
HK$2,441 million in term loan facilities, HK$5,554 million in trade
lines and HK$1,395 million in short-term and revolving money
market facilities.

Under the normal course of business, the Group has issued
performance bonds to some customers for potential claims of
non-performance in order to satisfy the specific requirements of
these customers. As no material claims had been made by the
customers under such performance bonds in the past, the
management considers that the possibility of realisation of any
actual material liabilities arising from such performance bonds is
remote.

Human Resources

At 31 March 2012, the Group had approximately 12,900 (31
March 2011: approximately 11,400) full-time employees. The
majority of these employees work in the PRC. The Group offers
remuneration packages in line with industry practice. Employees’
remuneration includes basic salaries and bonuses. With the
increase in the total number of staff to cope with its business
requirements, the Group has recorded a 39.68% increase in staff
costs to approximately HK$2,678 million for the year ended 31
March 2012 as compared to approximately HK$1,918 million for
the last financial year. In order to attract and retain a high caliber
of capable and motivated workforce, the Company offers share-
based incentive schemes to staff based on the individual
performance and the achievements of the Company's targets.
The Group is committed to providing its staff with various in-
house and external training and development programs.
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Directors and Senior Management

EERERBEEANS

Biographical Details of Directors

ESEZEHE

Mr. GUO Wei
BHREE

J#

Mr. GUO Wei, aged 49, is the Chairman and Executive Director of the
Group and is responsible for the strategic development and management of
the Group. Mr. Guo has been the Vice Chairman, the President and the
Chief Executive Officer of the Group since February 2001 and was
appointed as the Chairman of the Board of the Company in December
2007. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries and associates of the
Company. Mr. Guo obtained a Master's Degree from the Graduate School
of the Chinese Academy of Science (formerly known as Graduate School
of the University of Science and Technology of China) in 1988. He joined
the Legend group in 1988 and was once an Executive Director and Senior
Vice President. Mr. Guo was awarded such major prizes included China’s
Top Ten Outstanding Youths (2002), k24 H T F K R&E L 4E (Practical
and Outstanding Youth of Achievement) (2002) by the China Association for
Science and Technology, China’s Top Ten Outstanding Youths in Technology
Innovation (1998), Future Economic Leader of China (2003), and the First
Annual China Young Entrepreneurs Creative Management Golden Honour
(2005). He was also selected as the 50 Most Powerful Businesspeople in
China by Fortune Magazine (Chinese version) in 2011 and 2012.

Mr. Guo is currently a Non-executive Director of HC International, Inc. (a
company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited). Mr. Guo is also a Director of SJI Inc. (a company
listed on The Jasdag Securities Exchange Inc.) and an Independent
Director of Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd. (@ company
listed on The Shanghai Stock Exchange). Besides, Mr. Guo is currently a
Standing Committee Member of the 11th National Committee of the
Chinese People's Political Consultative Conference, a member of the 4th
Advisory Committee for State Informatization and the Chairman of Beijing
Informatization Association. He has over 24 vyears of experience in
business strategy development and business management.
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Mr. LIN Yang
MEEE

Mr. LIN Yang, aged 45, is the Chief Executive Officer and Executive
Director of the Group and is responsible for the overall business
management of the Group. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Company. Mr. Lin graduated in 1988 with a Bachelor's Degree in
Computing Communications from the Xidian University and in 2005
with a Master Degree in Business Administration from Cheung Kong
Graduate School of Business. Mr. Lin was previously the Executive Vice
President and the President of the Group and was appointed the Chief
Executive Officer of the Group in April 2011. He joined the Legend
group in 1990 and has over 21 years of management experience in
distribution business. Mr. Lin was awarded the Lifetime Achievement
Award by the IT Channel Elite Panel in 2001, recognized as the Most
Influential Figure in IT Distribution of 20 Years in 2005. He has been
appointed as the Director for IT Channel Profession Council, under the
MIIT (Ministry of Industry and Information Technology).
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Mr. Andrew Y. YAN, aged 54, is a Non-executive Director of the
Company. He received his Bachelor Degree in Engineering from the
Nanjing Aeronautic Institute in the PRC in 1982 and a Master of Arts’
Degree from Princeton University in International Political Economy in
1989. Mr. Yan joined the Company in December 2007. He is currently
the Managing Partner of SAIF Partners (“SAIF"). Prior to joining SAIF,
he was the Managing Director and Head of the Hong Kong office of
the Emerging Markets Partnership from 1994 to 2001. From 1993 to
1994, he worked at Sprint International Corporation as the Director of
Strategic Planning and Business Development for the Asia Pacific
Region. From 1991 to 1993, Mr. Yan worked in the renowned Hudson
Institute as a Research Fellow. From 1989 to 1990, he worked in the
World Bank as an Economist in Washington. From 1982 to 1984, he
was the Chief Engineer at the Jianghuai Airplane Corp.. Mr. Yan was
voted by the China Venture Capital Association as “The Venture
Investor of the Year” in both 2004 and 2007. He was also selected as
one of the “Fifty Finest Private Equity Investors in the World” by the
Private Equity International in 2007, “No. 1 Venture Capitalist of the
Year” by Forbes (China) in 2008 and 2009. He was the “Venture
Capital Professional of the Year” by Asia Venture Capital Journal in
2009. Under Mr. Yan's leadership, SAIF was voted as “VC Firm of the
Year” by the China Venture Capital Association in 2004 and 2007 and
it was also named as “The Best Performing Fund in Asia” by Private
Equity International in 2005, 2006 and 2008, “The Best® Growth
Investment Fund of the Year” in 2009.

Currently, Mr. Yan is the Chairman and Non-executive Director of NVC
Lighting Holding Limited; an Independent Non-executive Director of
China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation, China Resources Land
Limited and Fosun International Limited; a Non-executive Director of
Guodian Technology & Environment Group Corporation Limited, MOBI
Development Co., Ltd., China Huiyuan Juice Group Limited and eSun
Holdings Limited (all listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited, other than that China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation is
also listed on The Shanghai Stock Exchange, The London Stock
Exchange and The New York Stock Exchange). Mr. Yan is also an
Independent Director of Giant Interactive Group Inc. (listed on The
New York Stock Exchange); a Director of Acorn International Inc., (listed
on The New York Stock Exchange), ATA Inc. (listed on the NASDAQ,
USA) and Eternal Asia Supply Chain Management Ltd. (listed on The
Shenzhen Stock Exchange). He was previously a Director of China
Digital TV Holding Co., Ltd (listed on The New York Stock Exchange)
during the period from May 2004 to September 2008; and an
Independent Non-executive Director of China Qilfield Services Limited
(listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) from September
2002 to June 2009; an Independent Non-executive Director of Stone
Group Holdings Limited (listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited) during the period from June 2001 to November 2009, the
shares of which were withdrawn from listing on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited in November 2009 and a Director of Global
Education & Technology Group Ltd. (listed on the NASDAQ, USA)
from March 2007 to December 2011, the shares of which were
withdrawn from listing on the NASDAQ, USA in December 2011.
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Mr. HU Zhaoguang
HHRBELE

Mr. HU Zhaoguang, aged 73, is an Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company. He graduated from the Tsinghua University in 1964 and also
completed a management course in Sweden. Mr. Hu has over 40 years of
experience in economics, finance and corporate management and was wide
recognised for his work in these areas. Mr. Hu joined the Company in
September 2004. Mr. Hu is currently serving as an Independent Non-
executive Director as well as the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
and a member of the Audit Committee and Nomination Committee of China
City Railway Transportation Technology Holdings Company Limited (listed on
the Growth Enterprise Market of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited).
He is also the Independent Non-executive Director of BBMG Corporation
(listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). He was previously the
Chairman of Beijing Enterprises Holdings Limited (listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) and its parent company, Beijing Holdings
Limited, and an Independent Non-executive Director of China Overseas Land
& Investment Limited (listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited).
From February 1993 to January 1998, Mr. Hu served as a Vice Mayor of the
Beijing Municipal Government. From 1988 to 1993, Mr. Hu served as the
Director of Beijing Experimental Zone for the Development of New
Technology Industries and the Chief Executive of Beijing Haidian District
Government.
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Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis
BEIREE

Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis, aged 47, is an Independent Non-
executive Director of the Company. He holds a Master Degree in
Management conferred by Guangzhou Jinan University, the People’s
Republic of China. Mr. Wong is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a Certified Tax Advisor of the Taxation
Institute of Hong Kong, an associate member of the Institute of
Chartered Accountants in England and Wales and a member of the
Society of Chinese Accountants and Auditors. He is a Certified Public
Accountant (Practising) and has over 24 years of experience in auditing,
taxation, management and financial advisory. Mr. Wong joined the
Company in August 2006. Previously, Mr. Wong worked for KPMG, an
international accounting firm, for 6 years and the Hong Kong Securities
Clearing Company Limited for 2 years. Mr. Wong has the appropriate
professional qualifications, accounting and related financial management
expertise as required under Rule 3.10 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

Mr. Wong is currently an Independent Non-executive Director, the
Chairman of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee as
well as a member of the Nomination Committee of China Oriental
Group Company Limited; and an Independent Non-executive Director,
the Chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of both Wai Kee Holdings
Limited and eForce Holdings Limited (all listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited). He was an Independent
Non-executive Director of Lightscape Technologies Inc (listed and
traded on the OTC Bulletin Board in the United States of America),
Enviro Energy International Holdings Limited (formerly known as Sys
Solutions Holdings Limited, listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) and Yardway Group Limited

Digital China Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report2011/12

(listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited). Mr. Wong is a Director of both
Union Alpha C.P.A. Limited and Union Alpha CAAP
Certified Public Accountants Limited, both are
professional accounting firms, and a Founding Director
and member of Francis M C Wong Charitable Foundation
Limited, a charitable institution.
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Ms. NI Hong (Hope)
AR |

Ms. NI Hong (Hope), aged 40, is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company. Ms. Ni received her J.D. Degree from the
University of Pennsylvania Law School and her Bachelor's Degree in
Applied Economics and Business Management from Cornell University.
Ms. Ni joined the Company in September 2010. Currently, Ms. Ni is the
Chief Executive Officer and Director of Inspire Capital (formerly known
as Rising Year Group Limited). From August 2004 to January 2008, Ms.
Ni served as the Chief Financial Officer and Director for Cogo Group
Inc. (“Cogo”), and served as Vice Chairman of Cogo until end of 2009,
a NASDAQ Select Global Market-listed company (NASDAQ: COGO).
Prior to joining Cogo, Ms. Ni spent six years as a Practicing Attorney at
Skadden, Arps, Slate, Meagher & Flom LLP in New York and Hong
Kong, specializing in corporate finance. Prior to that, Ms. Ni worked at
Merrill Lynch’s investment banking division in New York.

Ms. Ni is currently serving as Independent Director and acting as the
Audit Committee Chairman as well as Compensation and Nomination
Committee member at JA Solar Holdings, Co. Ltd., a NASDAQ-listed
company (NASDAQ: JASO) and ATA Inc., a NASDAQ-listed company
(NASDAQ: ATAI). Ms. Ni is also an Independent Director at Kongzhong
Corporation, a NASDAQ-listed company (NASDAQ: Kong). Ms. Ni was
previously a Non-executive Director and a member of the Nominating
and Corporate Governance Committee and the Compensation
Committee of ChinaCast Education Corporation, a NASDAQ-listed
company (NASDAQ: CAST).
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Mr. ONG Ka Lueng, Peter

IRBERE

Mr. ONG Ka Lueng, Peter, aged 48, is an Independent Non-executive
Director of the Company. Mr. Ong holds a Master of Science Degree
and a Bachelor of Science Degree major in Electrical Engineering from
Columbia University (New York City). He is acting as the Responsible
Officer (Type 1 and 2) for Alpha Securities Co. Ltd. and Alpha Futures
Co. Ltd. respectively under the registration of the Securities and
Futures Commission of Hong Kong. Mr. Ong joined the Company in
September 2010.

Mr. Ong awarded the BBS, Bronze Bauhinia Star by the Government of
the Hong Kong SAR in 2008. Mr. Ong served on the board of The
Tung Wah Group of Hospitals from 1998 to 2008 and took the chair of
the board from 2007 to 2008. Mr. Ong also joined the Tung Wah Group
of Hospitals advisory board from 2008 to 2009. Mr. Ong is currently
serving on the hospital governing committee of the Tung Wah Group of
Hospitals. He is also a Founding Member and Chairman of the Green
Investment Promotion Association.
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Biographical Details of Senior Management

BEEEASZHE

Mr. YAN Guorong
S[ETE e

Mr. YAN Guorong, aged 38, is the President of the Group and is
responsible for overall operation and management. He is also a director
of certain subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Yan graduated from Renmin
University of China with a Bachelor's Degree in Economics and
obtained an EMBA Degree from Cheung Kong Graduate School of
Business. He joined the Legend group in 1996 and has been
responsible for the day-to-day operation and management of the
company’s network and value-added business. From 2005 onwards, Mr.
Yan has assumed duties of strategic planning, operational management
and regional management of the Systems Technology Services Strategic
Business Unit of # )i £ #5 (F B) B R A & (Digital China (China)
Limited). He has nearly 14 years of experience in distribution,
customers services business and sales management of IT value-added
products. Mr. Yan was previously the Standing Vice President of the
Group and was appointed the President of the Company in April 2011.
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Mr. WONG Chi Keung

ITABEE

Mr. WONG Chi Keung, aged 45, is the Company Secretary of the
Company. Mr. Wong graduated from The University of Hong Kong with
a Bachelor's Degree in Social Sciences and is a fellow member of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Wong has
over 22 years of experience in financial management and corporate
administration. He is mainly responsible for the financial reporting and
listing issues of the Group.
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The Group is committed to promote the highest standards of corporate
governance so as to enhance its transparency, accountability and
corporate value to the shareholders.

The Company's corporate governance practices are based on the
principles, code provisions and certain recommended best practices set
out in the “Code on Corporate Governance Practices” (the “Code”)
contained in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”).

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Company has complied with
the code provisions set out in the Code throughout the year under
review, except for deviations from the code provisions A.4.1 and A.4.2,
details of which are explained in the respective sections of this report.

Moreover, the Company publishes quarterly financial results of the
Group by way of announcement which exceeds the code provisions set
out in the Code. However, the Company does not publish and distribute
report for quarterly financial results of the Group as the Board is of the
view that publication of quarterly financial reports does not bring
significant benefits to shareholders, but at the cost of their own.

The Stock Exchange has recently amended the Code and renamed as
the “Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report” (the
“Revised Code"”) and certain amendments made on the Listing Rules
(the “Revised Listing Rules”) are effective from 1 April 2012. In order
to reinforce and enhance our commitment to maintaining high standards
of corporate governance, the Company has taken measures and made
appropriate arrangements to comply with the Revised Code and the
Revised Listing Rules.

Corporate Governance Report
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The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers contained in Appendix 10 to the Listing
Rules (the “Model Code”) as its code of conduct of the Company for
Directors’ securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry with
the Directors, all of the Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard as set out in the Model Code throughout
the year ended 31 March 2012.

Composition

As at 31 March 2012, the Board comprised seven Directors, including
two Executive Directors, one Non-executive Director and four
Independent Non-executive Directors. To the best knowledge of the
Company, the Board members have no financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships with each other.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out under the heading
“Directors and Senior Management” on pages 36 to 44 of this annual
report.

Role and Function

The Board takes responsibility for the formulation of the overall strategy
and the leadership and control of the Group such as the Group's long
term objectives and strategies, the approval of the Group's corporate
and capital structure, financial reporting and controls, internal controls
and risk management, material contracts, communication with the
shareholders, the Board membership and other appointments,
remuneration of Directors and other key senior management, delegation
of authority to Board committees and corporate governance matters.
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During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Board held four regular
meetings at approximately quarterly intervals where the Directors
attended either in person or by other means of electronic
communication. The individual attendance records of each of the
Directors at the Board meetings held during the year ended 31 March
2012 are set out below:

RBE_Z-——F=A=+-RBLFERN EFFH]T
MREMER  ANBFE-R EFHHRGFHUEM
BEF@RASALE RBEE-T-——_F=ZA=+—HIt
FEAN SEFREF IR EAALETEHERIINT

Number of Board meetings
attended/held

HE 27

EFEEERRY

Directors

BE=

Executive Directors HiTEE

GUO Wei (Chairman)* BR(EE)*
LIN Yang (Chief Executive Officer)* WG (EEHTE)*
Non-executive Director FFHITEF
Andrew Y. YAN Al 2k
Independent Non-executive Directors BUIENTESE
HU Zhaoguang HA B E

WONG Man Chung, Francis = XR

NI Hong (Hope) {52 4T

ONG Ka Lueng, Peter FXF

* Mr. GUO Wei ceased to act as the Chief Executive Officer of the Group and Mr.
LIN Yang was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer and ceased to act as the
President of the Group, all with effect from 1 April 2011.

Appointments and Re-election

The Board is empowered under the bye-laws of the Company (the
“Bye-Laws") to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the Board. Only the qualified candidates
will be proposed to the Board for consideration and the selection
criteria are mainly based on the assessment of their professional
qualifications, experience and their possible contribution to the Group.

3/4
4/4

3/4

4/4
4/4
4/4
4/4
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Code Provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors should be
appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election.

All of the Non-executive Directors of the Company were not appointed
for any specific term. Since all Directors (save for the Chairman of the
Board or the Managing Director) are subject to retirement by rotation at
each annual general meeting in accordance with the Bye-Laws and
shall be eligible for re-election. The Board considers that the retirement
by rotation at each annual general meeting in accordance with the Bye-
Laws has given the shareholders of the Company the right to approve
the continuation of the service of the Directors.

Code Provision A.4.2 stipulates that every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years.

Under the Bye-Laws, at each annual general meeting one-third of the
Directors for the time being or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, the number nearest to one-third shall retire from
office, the Chairman of the Board or the Managing Director shall not,
whilst holding such office, be subject to retirement by rotation.
Therefore, Mr. GUO Wei, the Chairman of the Board, shall not be
subject to retirement by rotation.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the Company
has appointed four Independent Non-executive Directors, one of whom
has appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has made an annual
confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company is of the view that all the Independent Non-
executive Directors meet the independence guidelines set out in Rule
3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers that they are independent.

Mr. GUO Wei ceased to act as the Chief Executive Officer of the
Group and Mr. LIN Yang was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer
and ceased to act as the President of the Group, all with effect from 1
April 2011. Since then, the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer are segregated, which are held by Mr. GUO Wei and Mr. LIN
Yang respectively. Mr. GUO is responsible for the strategic development
and management of the Group whereas Mr. LIN is responsible for the
overall business management of the Group.
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The Audit Committee was established in 2001 with specific written
terms of reference. The Audit Committee comprised three members
and all of them are Independent Non-executive Directors.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Audit Committee held four
regular meetings at approximately quarterly intervals where the
members attended either in person or by other means of electronic
communication. The individual attendance records of each of the Audit
Committee members at the Audit Committee meetings held during the
year ended 31 March 2012 are set out below:

Audit Committee Members

—EF

—FERY WHEREEERER

EREREER 3
=ERBAKR 2RKEBRBEY

B EREERH
ERITES -

RBE-Z-——F=A=+—"HLFER BLREEY
BOTOREHREH  ANBFE R KEHRF A
HEFBAIAHE REE-ZT-——F=ZA=1+—
ALEER ZRERZEeNBERERZRES SR
BALFEREHINOT:

Number of Audit Committee
meetings attended/held

HiE 2817
BERZEGHE ERZEEERAY
HU Zhaoguang (Chairman) HHRBE (F/E) 4/4
WONG Man Chung, Francis =R 4/4
NI Hong (Hope) 1572 4T 4/4

For the year ended 31 March 2012, the Audit Committee has reviewed
with senior management and the Auditors of the Company their
respective audit findings, the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, legal and regulatory compliance, and discussed
auditing, internal control, risk management and financial reporting
matters. The Board has, through the Audit Committee, conducted
regular reviews on the effectiveness of the internal control system of
the Group during the year ended 31 March 2012.

The Audit Committee has no disagreement with the Board on the
selection, appointment, resignation or dismissal of the Auditors of the
Company.

In order to comply with the Revised Code, an amended Terms of
Reference for Audit Committee was approved and adopted by the
Board on 30 March 2012 and with effect from 1 April 2012. The Terms
of Reference for Audit Committee is available on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.

Under the amended Terms of Reference for Audit Committee, the Audit
Committee is responsible for, among others, monitoring the integrity of
the financial statements of the Group, reviewing the Group’'s financial
controls, internal controls and risk management systems, reviewing the
Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices, reviewing and
monitoring the effectiveness of the Group's internal audit function and
ensuring co-ordination between the internal and external auditors, and
performing the Group's corporate governance function delegated by the
Board.
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The Remuneration Committee was established on 31 August 2006 with
specific written terms of reference. The Remuneration Committee
comprised three members with majority of Independent Non-executive
Directors.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, the Remuneration Committee
held one meeting where the members attended either in person or by
other means of electronic communication to review the remuneration of
Non-executive Directors of the Company. The individual attendance
records of each of the Remuneration Committee members at the
Remuneration Committee meeting held during the year ended 31
March 2012 are set out below:

Remuneration Committee Members

FHEZEERN_ZETRFNA=ZTBRZ UHAH
HEEREDE FNZEem=—2RKBEAK A8
MEERBILIFATES

RBE_Z-——F=A=+—"HFEAR FHZE2H
T—REF KEORFAUNEMEFBEASALE
RS ARRBERATEEONE - RBEE_T——F=
A=+ —HAFEAR SHFMNZEEKERFHEES S
FZEALEEEINMT

Number of Remuneration
Committee meeting
attended/held

BT
FHESEERAE

FHESERE

Andrew Y. YAN (Chairman)* Bk (FE) *
ONG Ka Lueng, Peter* FRE*
WONG Man Chung, Francis = SR

* Mr. Andrew Y. YAN (a Non-executive Director) has acted as the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee since 19 December 2007. In order to comply with the
Revised Listing Rules that the remuneration committee must be chaired by an
independent non-executive director, the Board has on 21 February 2012 announced
that Mr. YAN ceased to act as the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee but
remained as a member of the Remuneration Committee and Mr. ONG Ka Lueng,
Peter (an Independent Non-executive Director and previously as a member of the
Remuneration Committee) was appointed as the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee, all with effect from 1 April 2012.

The Remuneration Committee is currently chaired by Mr. ONG Ka
Lueng, Peter, an Independent Non-executive Director, with Mr. Andrew
Y. YAN, a Non-executive Director and Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis,
an Independent Non-executive Director as members.

To comply with the Revised Code, an amended Terms of Reference for
Remuneration Committee was approved and adopted by the Board on
30 March 2012 and with effect from 1 April 2012. The Terms of
Reference for Remuneration Committee is available on the websites of
the Stock Exchange and the Company respectively.
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Under the amended Terms of Reference for Remuneration Committee,
the Remuneration Committee is responsible for, among others, making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure
for all directors’ and senior management remuneration and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
remuneration policy. The Remuneration Committee shall also make
recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of
individual executive directors and senior management, which includes
benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments and on the
remuneration of non-executive director.

Details of the Director's emoluments for the year ended 31 March 2012
are set out in note 9 to the financial statements.

For the year ended 31 March 2012, remuneration to Auditors of the
Company was approximately HK$5,150,000 for audit services,
HK$522,000 for other audit related services, and HK$925,000 for non-
audit services (HK$450,000 on agreed-upon procedures on quarterly/
interim results and HK$475,000 on tax retainer service).

Principle

The Board should ensure that the internal control of the Group is solid,
sound, effective, so as to safeguard shareholders’ investment and the
Group's assets.

Internal Control

A well-designed internal control system is very important to the
protection of the Group’'s assets, the reliability of its financial
statements, and its compliance with legislation and rules. As such, the
Group is committed to establishing and maintaining a sound internal
control system to provide reasonable, though not absolute, assurance
against any serious misrepresentation or loss, and to manage, though
not eliminate, any risk of serious mistakes regarding the operation
system and the objectives of the Group. The Board also perceives its
overall responsibility for the internal control, financial control and risk
management, and will review its effectiveness from time to time.

Internal Audit

The Group has an Internal Audit Department, which is responsible for
the internal audit of the Group, independent assessment of risks, and
internal control procedures and system, and reports its findings, with
recommendations, to the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis.
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The Internal Audit Department will assess the risks to which the Group
is exposed, and formulate an audit plan on that basis annually, so as to
ensure that the internal audit covers all areas of high risks. The audit
plan will be submitted to the Audit Committee for approval. The scope
of audit review is determined based on the risk assessment results.
Special reviews will be conducted on matters which are of concern to
the management or the Audit Committee.

Monitoring Procedures

The Board establishes and maintains a good internal control system
through the following principal procedures:

(1) Establishing a reasonable and effective organisation structure
with clear functions, responsibilities and authority;

(2) Laying down stringent procedures for budget preparation and
budget management; formulating business plans and financial
budgets annually; rationally adjusting the organisation structure
based on business planning; ensuring the effective operation of
the organisation; reviewing the implementation of budgets and
making reasonable adjustment based on the latest conditions;

(3) The Internal Audit Department — independently assessing the
comprehensibility and effectiveness of the monitoring of principal
business, reporting its principal findings, with recommmendations,
to the Audit Committee on a quarterly basis; and

(4) The Auditors — making a “Management Proposal” in its audit of
annual results, recommending ways to address some internal
management areas which are correspondingly weak; the
management making serious reviews, and making and submitting
improvement proposals to the Audit Committee.

Assessment of Annual Internal Monitoring

For the year ended 31 March 2012, the Internal Audit Department
adopted a risk-based methodology to focus on and monitor principal
workflow, and reported the internal audit results to the Audit
Committee on a quarterly basis. Through the Audit Committee, the
Board reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system of the
Group. The internal control system covers all important matters to be
monitored, including finance, operation and compliance matters, risk
management functions as well as the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting function, and their training programmes and budget.
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NHMBALERBAEEE S 2RBRAETE W
HESFELTE UERFERNSEZTIEREM
EREARKE BELFIAFTEIELZESHE - F
TR zBEDRERFHEMRE TeAREEEE
FEREEGMEE 2 FRETEIRA -

BiEREF

EEREBUTIZERFRINEFTRIFVAME
EY o

() RUAEAUNEBERE  LTABH I -
BERER:

2) BEWBEHERAEEERF SFEHEE
BRINMBEE UREBEXFBRISEHES
BB ERASEIET RIBRERTER
YTREFFBERETEEAR:

MEFB-BUABEIZEBREZEZZBER

@ ©n
e BFEAERLZBEERTEHRNEFH
&

(4) BB -ESFEEBRRTROBEERZEE]
HERNEE 2RSS ROREETEERZS
EREeREARN  YRNBRZESREZES

e

FEEREBEETE

BE-ZT-——"F=—A=1+—HILFE ABETHESR
TEIRTERBEREZNERELEN L UYEFE
MEZZETERALEAER EFFELERE
EERIAEBEANEZRR Z ML - AMEERL
MEMBEAREZEZR BEWK Z2ERETER
EH RREENGEAREAEEN S &K ER
BeehmE BIMER BEEMERELGRN UEKE
IAEXNEIREREHEBEXEERAR



The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the
financial statements of the Group which give a true and fair view of the
state of affairs of the Company and of the Group on a going concern
basis in accordance with the statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards.

The statement of the Auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements of the Group is set out in
the Independent Auditors’ Report on pages 65 to 66 of this annual
report.

The Board is committed to maintaining an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and the investment community.

One of the principal channels of communication with the Shareholders
of the Company is the Annual General Meeting and all corporate
communications of the Company, including but not limited to interim
reports, annual reports, notices of meeting, announcements, circulars
and other relevant Company’'s information are available on the
Company’s website at www.digitalchina.com.hk.

The Company has adopted a Shareholders Communication Policy to
handle enquiries put to the Board.

The Company believes that communicating with Shareholders through
its website is an efficient way of delivering information in a timely and
convenient manner. Information on the Company's website will be
continuously reviewed and updated to ensure that information is
current, or appropriately dated and archived.

The Company recognises the rights of Shareholders and encourages
Shareholders to participate in general meetings or to appoint proxies to
attend and vote at meetings for and on their behalf if they are unable
to attend the meeting. The general meeting provides an important
opportunity for Shareholders to express their view to the Board and
management and to exercise Shareholders’ rights. Under the Bye-Laws,
Shareholders have the rights to convene a special general meeting and
put forward agenda items for consideration by Shareholders.
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Shareholders are encouraged to use their attendance at meetings to
ask questions about or comment on the results, operations, strategy,
corporate governance and/or management of the Group. The Board
members, in particular, either the Chairman or members of the Board
committees, appropriate management executive, external auditors and
legal advisers shall be available at general meetings to answer
questions from Shareholders.

During the financial year, the Company has made certain amendments
to the Bye-Laws in order to bring the Bye-Laws up-to-date and in line
with the requirements under the Listing Rules. The amended and
restated Bye-Laws was approved and adopted by the Shareholders of
the Company at the annual general meeting held on 15 August 2011.

The updated Bye-Laws are published on the websites of the Company
and the Stock Exchange respectively. Details of the amendments to the
Bye-Laws were contained in the circular to the Shareholders of the
Company dated 4 July 2011.

Digital China Holdings Limited  Annual Report 2011/12

ARABARRMNAHERRERRENEES  HAKE
BVEGE 8 B CEERRAERBIELMAE
SREBER - -EFEENE HHIREFREEEIRR
RE  AEMEBRTHRAER MBI R EEERM
BEeHERRAE  NEERREE -

RAPFHE  /ELARMAIABNER XFa
MRAZER  ARXBEHRFBEELE TER - £
AR BN ARMAUER T ——FNATHEERETZ
RERBFREG EEARRR R ME KR

EHOREMAE SR EENARF KRB R AL - &
Az ETHBERRER AT - —F - AMNAE
BMARARRZBHA -



The Directors of the Company have pleasure in presenting their report
together with the audited consolidated financial statements of the
Company and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31
March 2012.

The Company is an investment holding company. Its principal
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the sale and distribution of
general information technology products and systems products; and
provision of supply chain services and information technology services.

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company at 31 March 2012
are set out in note 20 to the financial statements. There were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities
during the year.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2012 and the
state of affairs at that date of the Company and the Group are set out
in the financial statements on pages 67 to 193 of this annual report.

The Directors of the Company recommend the payment of a final
dividend of 39.80 HK cents (2011: 32.25 HK cents) per share in respect
of the year ended 31 March 2012 to shareholders whose names appear
on the register of members of the Company at the close of business
on 30 August 2012. This recommendation has been incorporated in the
financial statements as an allocation of retained profits within the equity
section of the consolidated and company statements of financial
position respectively.

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years is set
out on page 194 of this annual report. The five-year financial summary
does not form part of the audited financial statements.

Report of the Directors
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the
Group and the Company during the year are set out in note 15 to the
financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the investment properties of the Group during
the year are set out in note 16 to the financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements, together with the reasons therefor, in the share
capital of the Company during the year are set out in note 35 to the
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Company and the Group
during the year are set out in note 37 to the financial statements and
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity set out on pages 71
to 72 of this annual report, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2012, the Company’s reserves available for distribution,
calculated in accordance with the Companies Act of Bermuda,
amounted to HK$1,177,044,000, of which HK$424,986,000 has been
proposed as a final dividend for the year. In addition, the Company's
share premium account, in the amount of HK$2,052,706,000, may be
distributed in the form of fully paid bonus shares.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-Laws or
the laws of Bermuda although there are no restrictions against such
rights under the laws of Bermuda.

[ ]
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The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. GUO Wei (Chairman)*
Mr. LIN Yang (Chief Executive Officer)*

Non-executive Director

Mr. Andrew Y. YAN

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. HU Zhaoguang

Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis
Ms. NI Hong (Hope)

Mr. ONG Ka Lueng, Peter

* Mr. GUO Wei ceased to act as the Chief Executive Officer of the Group and Mr.
LIN Yang was appointed as the Chief Executive Officer and ceased to act as the
President of the Group, all with effect from 1 April 2011.

In accordance with Bye-Law 99 of the Bye-Laws, Mr. LIN Yang, Mr.
WONG Man Chung, Francis and Mr. ONG Ka Lueng, Peter will retire
from office by rotation and being eligible, all of them will offer
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.

Changes in the information of Directors required to be disclosed under
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules are set out below:

Mr. HU Zhaoguang, an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company, was appointed as an Independent Non-executive Director of
China City Railway Transportation Technology Holdings Company
Limited (@ company listed on the Growth Enterprise Market of The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 16 May 2012) and also act
as the Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the
Audit Committee and Nomination Committee, all with effect from 8
December 2011.
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Mr. Andrew Y. YAN, a Non-executive Director of the Company, was
appointed as a Non-executive Director of Guodian Technology &
Environment Group Corporation Limited (a company listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited), with effect from 8 June 2012. Mr.
YAN was also appointed as the Chairman of NVC Lighting Holding
Limited (@ company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited), with effect from 24 May 2012; and an Independent Non-
executive Director and also act as a member of Strategic Committee
and Audit Committee of China Petroleum & Chemical Corporation (a
company listed on The Stock Exchange of Shanghai, The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, The New York Stock Exchange and
The London Stock Exchange, respectively) , with effect from 11 May
2012. Besides, Mr. YAN ceased to act as the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee but remained as a member of the
Remuneration Committee of the Company with effect from 1 April
2012. Mr. YAN also ceased to act as a Director of Global Education &
Technology Group Ltd. (a company listed on the NASDAQ, USA) on 20
December 2011, the shares of which were withdrawn from listing on
NASDAQ, USA on the same day.

Mr. ONG Ka Lueng, Peter, an Independent Non-executive Director of
the Company and previously a member of the Remuneration
Committee, was appointed as the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee of the Company with effect from 1 April 2012.

Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis, an Independent Non-executive Director
of the Company, has been re-designated from a member of the
Remuneration Committee to the Chairman of the Remuneration
Committee and was appointed as a member of the Nomination
Committee of China Oriental Group Company Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited), with
effect from 23 March 2012. Mr. WONG was also appointed as a
member of the Nomination Committee of Wai Kee Holdings Limited (a
company listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited) with effect from 27 February 2012. He has also been re-
designated from a member of the Audit Committee to the Chairman of
the Audit Committee, and was appointed as a member of the
Nomination Committee of eForce Holdings Limited (a company listed
on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited) with
effect from 1 December 2011 and 29 March 2012 respectively.

Ms. NI Hong (Hope), an Independent Non-executive Director of the
Company, ceased to act as a Non-executive Director, a member of
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee and a member of
Compensation Committee of ChinaCast Education Corporation (a
company listed on the NASDAQ, USA (NASDAQ: CAST)), with effect
from 17 January 2012.
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Each of the Executive Directors of the Company entered into a service
agreement with the Company which shall continue in force unless and
until terminated by (i) either the Company or the Director serving on
each other of not less than three months' notice, or (ii) his retirement
as a director without being re-elected as a Director by the Shareholders
of the Company in an annual general meeting in accordance with the
Bye-Laws, or (iii) in the event of the Director’s default under the terms
of the said service agreement.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors of the Company
proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company has a service agreement with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation (other than the statutory compensation).

No contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company had a
material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year.

The Company has two share option schemes. One of the share option
scheme was adopted on 18 July 2002 (the "“2002 Share Option
Scheme”) and the other share option scheme was approved and
adopted by the shareholders of the Company at the annual general
meeting of the Company held on 15 August 2011, (the “2011 Share
Option Scheme”). Details of movements in the share options during the
year are set out in note 36(a) to the financial statements.

The Company adopted a restricted share award scheme (the “RSA
Scheme”) on 28 March 2011 for the purpose of rewarding and
motivating, among others, Directors (including executive and non-
executive) and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Participants”) with the shares of the Company. Details of the RSA
Scheme are set out in note 36(b) to the financial statements.
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At 31 March 2012, the interests and short positions of each Director
and chief executive of the Company and their associates in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and any of its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO") which were required to be notified
to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange") pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which the Directors and chief
executive were taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions
of the SFO), or which were required to be and are recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 352

WRZB-——ZF=R=+—H ARAFABSEFTRITHREH
REEZBMEARARR REEFABEZE(EERE
FEHEGRNEXVIBTES BTG Z KM - 48
MlRkOREEREST  HAREESLBEERIFEXVE
FINFNHBAMGARANEBHEXZMAR AT
(XA zEaR AR (BEREFLBERIZE
BGEX TEERTHAREAARBERRZEER
KR) RALXARBLAARRBRIEZEF R HE &
EXVEEIL2G6FE 2 ERMA - B BEARFRE 2
EABERTABEZETESIZNRETA(MEETAD
BHMEARTINB Rz EsE MR

of Part XV of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers adopted by the
Company (the “Model Code"”) were as follows:

Approximate

Number of Percentage of
Personal Corporate Outstanding Number of Aggregate
Name of Directors Capacity Interest Interest Share Options RSUs Granted Total Shareholding (%)
(Note 8) (Note 1) (Note 9)
BERF
ERITEZ ZEBRE HEEREZ
EEigE &4 PN 3 AT R BkERE (208 4= | 4 E 53 EE (%)
(1 :t8) (Hrat1) (Kt at9)
GUO Wei Beneficial owner and Interest of 1,504,000 149,414,286 960,000 2,000,000 153,878,286 14.08
a controlled corporation (Note 2) (Note 3) (Note 4)
BR BB ARZREEB 2R (K1 7t2) (K1 7£3) (Ktat4)
Andrew Y. YAN Interests of controlled — 119,111,744 — — 119,111,744 10.90
corporations (Note 5)
) 7% ZEAE RS (Kt :t5)
LIN Yang Beneficial owner 56,000 — 1,000,000 1,000,000 2,056,000 0.19
(Note 6) (Note 7)
w5 BB A (Kt it6) (Htat7)
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Notes:

1. All of the interests disclosed herein represent long position in the shares of the
Company.

2. These 149,414,286 shares of the Company were beneficially held by Kosalaki
Investments Limited (“KIL"), of which Mr. GUO Wei is the controlling
shareholder and also a director of KIL, therefore, Mr. GUO Wei was deemed to
be interested in such shares in which KIL was interested.

3. These 960,000 share options held by Mr. GUO Wei were granted on 21 May
2008. The exercisable period of these share options is from 21 May 2009 to
20 May 2016, during which can be exercised at an exercise price of HK$5.89
per share for subscription of ordinary shares of the Company.

4. These 2,000,000 restricted share units (“RSUs") held by Mr. GUO Wei were
granted on 13 April 2011 under the restricted share award scheme (“RSA
Scheme”) of the Company, which will be vested on 1 August 2014 subject to
fulfillment of certain performance targets.

5. These 119,111,744 shares of the Company were beneficially held by Sparkling
Investment (BVI) Limited (“SIBL"), which is wholly-owned by SAIF Partners Il
L.P.. SAIF Partners Ill L.P. is controlled by SAIF Ill GP, L.P., and SAIF Il GP, L.P.
is indirectly controlled by Mr. Andrew Y. YAN through SAIF [l GP Capital Ltd.,
therefore, Mr. Andrew Y. YAN was deemed to be interested in such shares in
which SIBL was interested.

6. These 1,000,000 share options held by Mr. LIN Yang were granted on 21 May
2008. The exercisable period of these share options is from 21 May 2009 to
20 May 2016, during which can be exercised at an exercise price of HK$5.89
per share for subscription of ordinary shares of the Company.

7. These 1,000,000 RSUs held by Mr. LIN Yang were granted on 13 April 2011
under the RSA Scheme of the Company, which will be vested on 1 August
2014 subject to fulfillment of certain performance targets.

8. Each RSU granted under the RSA Scheme of the Company adopted on 28
March 2011 represents one ordinary share of the Company and will be held by
the trustee until vesting in accordance with the provisions of the RSA Scheme.

9. This percentage was calculated on the basis of 1,092,734,581 shares of the
Company in issue as at 31 March 2012.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 March 2012, none of the Directors and
chief executive of the Company or their associates had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which the
directors and chief executive were taken or deemed to have taken
under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required to be
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant
to Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were required to be
notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.
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MRZEBE——HF=ZA=+—8 MEEHRH  ATAL(E
FARBEBTRITHRAH)RARG KRG RBBKRDF
BMELNTERBEESF LB ERGIEXVEFE2R B3I I
BRETART  HBARBEFEHFRPEKOIEXVEE3I36
ETFEEZECMARSZ A TEZE R AR

At 31 March 2012, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
following persons, not being a Director or chief executive of the
Company, had the following interests and short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the Company which were required to be
disclosed to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or required to be recorded in the register required to be kept
under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO:

62

Approximate
Percentage of

Number of Aggregate

Name Capacity Shares Shareholding (%)

(Note 1) (Note 8)

LEHBRE

& 5 & g0 g 4= ZHEHIE S (%)

(Htat1) (K1 t8)

Kosalaki Investments Limited Beneficial owner 149,414,286 13.67

(Note 2) (K1 &#2) En#EAA

Sparkling Investment (BVI) Limited Beneficial owner 119,111,744 10.90
Em#EAA (Note 3) ([t 5#3)

SAIF 1l GP Capital Ltd. Interest of a controlled corporation 119,111,744 10.90
TEE R (Note 3) (it &t3)

Allianz SE Interest of a controlled corporation 90,977,000 8.33
REEE 2R (Note 4) (&t 4)

Matthews International Capital Investment Manager 77,120,000 7.06
Management, LLC REKE (Note 5) (Hfit5)

Legend Holdings Limited (Note 6) Beneficial owner/Interest of a 15,013,077/ 5.16
controlled corporation 41,368,642

i AR YE BB IR 2 B (47 22 6)
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Notes:

All of the interests disclosed herein represent long position in the shares of the
Company.

KIL is controlled by Mr. GUO Wei, a director of the Company, of which Mr.
GUO Wei is also a director of KIL.

These 119,111,744 shares of the Company were beneficially held by Sparkling
Investment (BVI) Limited (“SIBL"), which is wholly-owned by SAIF Partners Il
L.P.. SAIF Partners Ill L.P. is controlled by SAIF Ill GP, L.P., and SAIF Il GP, L.P.
is indirectly controlled by Mr. Andrew Y. YAN through SAIF Il GP Capital Ltd.,
therefore, Mr. Andrew Y. YAN was deemed to be interested in such shares in
which SIBL was interested.

These 90,977,000 shares in aggregate were held by RCM Asia Pacific Ltd. of
36,266,000 shares, Allianz Global Investors Taiwan Ltd. of 3,755,000 shares,
Allianz Global Investors Singapore Ltd. of 485,000 shares, Allianz Global
Investors Hong Kong Ltd. of 1,185,000 shares, Allianz Global Investors (UK)
Ltd. of 901,000 shares, Allianz Global Investors Kapitalanlagegesellschaft mbH
of 4,273,000 shares, Allianz Global Investors Luxembourg S.A. of 30,669,000
shares, Allianz Global Investors Ireland Ltd. of 10,704,000 shares, RCM (UK)
Ltd. of 1,214,000 shares, RCM Capital Management LLC of 1,427,000 shares
and Allianz Global Investors Fund Management LLC of 98,000 shares. All of
them were indirectly controlled by Allianz SE.

Matthews International Capital Management, LLC was deemed to be interested
in an aggregate of 77,120,000 shares by virtue of the SFO. Those interests
were held in the capacity of investment manager.

The English name “Legend Holdings Limited” is direct transliterations of its
Chinese registered name "Bt 84 IR G R A 7",

These 41,368,642 shares of the Company were held by Right Lane Limited, a
wholly-owned subsidiary and a controlled corporation of Legend Holdings
Limited, and therefore Legend Holdings Limited was deemed to be interested
in such shares by virtue of the SFO.

This percentage was calculated on the basis of 1,092,734,581 shares of the
Company in issue as at 31 March 2012.

Save as disclosed above, at 31 March 2012, the Company had not
been notified by any persons who had interests or short positions in
shares or underlying shares of the Company which were required to be
disclosed to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO, or which were required to be recorded in the register required

to be

kept under Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO.

During the vyear, the Group made donation of HK$671,000 (2011:
HK$2,764,000).
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The aggregate percentage of turnover attributable to the Group's five
largest customers was less than 30% (2011: less than 30%) of the
Group's total turnover for the year.

The aggregate percentage of purchases attributable to the Group's five
largest suppliers was approximately 30% (2011: approximately 34%) of
the Group's total purchases and the percentage of purchases
attributable to the Group's largest supplier was approximately 9% (2011:
approximately 9%) for the year.

None of the directors, any of their associates or shareholders (which, to
the best knowledge of the directors, own more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in the
Group’s major customers or suppliers noted above.

During the year ended 31 March 2012, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's
listed securities.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2012 of the Group were audited by Ernst & Young.

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a
sufficient public float during the year ended 31 March 2012 and up to
the date of this report as required under the Listing Rules.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD
REEFE

1

GUO Wei 55
Chairman &

Hong Kong, 12 June 2012
58 —T—-FXA+=H
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To the shareholders of Digital China Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Digital China
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together, the
“Group”) set out on pages 67 to 193, which comprise the consolidated
and company statements of financial position as at 31 March 2012, and
the consolidated income statement, the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other
explanatory information.

DIRECTORS" RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit. Our report is made solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda
Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Those standards require that we comply with ethical
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free
from material misstatement.

Independent Auditors” Report
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Independent Auditors’ Report % 37 # £ £ ¥R

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.
The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement, including
the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In
making those risk assessments, the auditors consider internal control
relevant to the entity’s preparation of consolidated financial statements
that give a true and fair view in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal
control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the Group as at 31
March 2012, and of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and
have been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Ernst & Young
2KE A E AR
Certified Public Accountants
HEEE A

22nd Floor, CITIC Tower

1 Tim Mei Avenue, Central

Hong Kong
BEBRRAEBINR
s ANE2218

12 June 2012
—E—-FXA+=H
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Consolidated Income Statement N
e ERE

Year ended 31 March 2012 #HE=—ZT——F=A=+—HItFE

2012 2011
T —ET——F
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
K & BETIT B For
REVENUE LN 5 70,319,367 56,803,774
Cost of sales 5 & K AR (65,013,476) (52,891,788)
Gross profit E 7 5,305,891 3,911,986
Other income and gains N N & 5 755,170 646,664
Selling and distribution costs $HE R D 8K A (3,046,983) (2,246,123
Administrative expenses THRER (668,029) (480,973)
Other operating expenses, net HihsEERFE (400,910) (369,910)
Total operating expenses ZiEBRBE 6 (4,115,922) (3,097,006)
Finance costs & KA 8 (335,388) (229,125)
Share of profits and losses of: BRI A ARE 2@ F & EE :
Jointly-controlled entities H R4 il 1b 3 (3,590) (11)
Associates ER/NG]| 47,005 32,333
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B& #¢ & i F 7 1,653,166 1,264,841
Income tax expense Frisfi& A 11 (314,478) (208,502)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR A R 1,338,688 1,056,339
Attributable to: EER
Equity holders of the parent NAEIR R = 12 1,244,813 1,005,385
Non-controlling interests IE 2 AR 4 = 93,875 50,954
1,338,688 1,056,339
EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE # 2T
TO ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF LERE
THE PARENT eGSR E R 14
Basic HA 116.32 HK cents il 96.13 HK cents & il
Diluted e 115.54 HK cents &l 95.73 HK cents 7l

AEEZREMNBREREBIERE ZFBHNUIL T ERE
BfsE13 ©

Details of the dividend payable and proposed for the year are disclosed
in note 13 to the financial statements.

2011/125 3 #MNBEISEZERBARAF 67



68

Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

A EH U E R

Year ended 31 March 2012 #HE-ZT——F=A=+—HItFE

2012 2011
—E—Z_%§ T ——%F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
K i B F T BT T
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR KEERF 1,338,688 1,056,339
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME Hithzmlkix
Change in fair value of an available-for-sale At H&EZ & 2 A FBEEF
investment 26,904 —
Exchange differences on translation of BINETIRE 2 [ X =58
foreign operations 97,587 83,388
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR i HEMAEE
THE YEAR, NET OF TAX Hib 2wk 124,491 83,388
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR A fEE2MEU
THE YEAR ok} 1,463,179 1,139,727
Attributable to: FEBR
Equity holders of the parent B A AR R EE 12 1,345,297 1,076,317
Non-controlling interests IE P2 A% = 117,882 63,410
1,463,179 1,139,727
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

A M BRI R

31 March 2012 —ZE——F=fF=+—H
2012 2011
—g--f —ET——F
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
k=3 BETIT BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EREEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - BENZ 15 1,236,475 697,812
Investment properties ®EYE 16 305,005 265,581
Prepaid land premiums LA E 17 163,215 85,409
Goodwill (RS 18 236,377 228,601
Intangible assets ,ﬁﬁ?ﬁfé‘ 19 4,591 3,439
Investments in jointly-controlled entities REREZEHSEZRE 22 33,224 33,322
Investments in associates REtE QR Z2I&E 23 780,739 675,337
Available-for-sale investments AHHEZRE 24 214,321 1,596
Other receivables H e Y 5RIB 25 - 353,559
Deposits paid for acquisition of property U84 % &
and land use right T fF AR S - 184,280
Deferred tax assets BEHBEEE 26 32,135 40,263
Total non-current assets BIEREEE 3,006,082 2,569,199
CURRENT ASSETS mEBEE
Inventories TE 27 5,154,490 4,145,298
Trade and bills receivables FE W& % S e 29 10,787,427 8,323,230
Prepayments, deposits and other EMNRIE  E2 Rk
receivables Fﬁ\ﬁiﬂﬂg & @] 3,527,378 1,838,190
Derivative financial instruments TESMIA 32 92,440 20,203
Cash and cash equivalents BehBeEEY 30 4,253,966 3,049,455
Total current assets BmENEE 23,815,701 17,376,376
CURRENT LIABILITIES A R=R
Trade and bills payables ERESRERRENER 31 12,315,472 8,842,950
Other payables and accruals HEbETRIBERTBRE B 2,728,849 2,401,391
Tax payable fE & F 18 201,525 161,434
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M B ERITE R 33 2,323,895 651,980
Total current liabilities wREEE 17,569,741 12,057,755
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 6,245,960 5,318,621
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEER
LIABILITIES mBEE 9,252,042 7,887,820
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Il Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 4 & B4 & #k iR &

31 March 2012 —Z——F=HA=+—H

2012 2011
—g—-F —T——%
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
K i B FIT B For
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES ERBERE
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M B R ITE R 33 1,692,000 1,281,676
Bond payable EES 34 36,615 35,411
Total non-current liabilities BIEMBAEE 1,728,615 1,316,987
Net assets BEEHE 7,523,427 6,570,833
EQUITY R
Equity attributable to equity holders of % 5] i 3 FE{G #E 2
the parent
Issued capital BEITIRA 35 109,273 109,121
Reserves & 37(a) 6,286,928 5,571,959
Proposed final dividend # R R HA AR B 13 424,986 351,916
6,821,187 6,032,996
Non-controlling interests FEFE R 702,240 537,837
Total equity HSEE 7,523,427 6,570,833
Y
—_—F

| .
GUO Wei 5 A LIN Yang # 15
Chairman F J& Director # %
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

A TP E R

Year ended 31 March 2012 #HE=—ZT——F=A=+—HItFE

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

RARRELE
Employee
Share share-based Exchange Proposed Non-
Issued  premium Capital ~ Employee  compensation Reserve fluctuation Retained final controlling
capital account reserve  share trust reserve funds reserve profits dividend Total interests  Total equity
AR 32 A
BB F 17 % E& EEZ 323 Rk FER
& Bk HBAHE BKREEZS MerE GHEEZE RIERE REEN KRERS @t Bs RafR
Notes HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$000 HK$000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
i3 E¥FT BEFT BETT BETT EEFT BEEFT EEFT EEFr BETT BEfn  EETn BETR
At 1 April 2010 WZE-TF
A—AH 102,077 984,342 878,244 = 11,950 146,888 123,785 1,665,037 288,505 4,200,828 472,555 4,673,383
Profit for the year RELEH = — — — — - — 1,005,385 — 1,005,385 50,954 1,056,339
Other comprehensive income AEEHEM
for the year: 2EMNE:
Exchange differences in BINER
translation of foreign BEz
operations ERZE — — — — — — 70,932 — — 70,932 12,456 83,388
Total comprehensive income AEERE
for the year E: = = = = = = 70,932 1,005,385 — 1,076,317 63,410 1,139,727
Issue of shares Bk 35 7,000 1,053,405 — — — — — — — 1,060,405 — 1,060,405
Exercise of share options 17168 B8 AR 4 35 44 3,475 — — (898) — — — — 2,621 — 2,621
Share-based compensation WRGZ 28 & 36 = = — - 5,371 — - — — 5,371 = 5,371
Contribution to employee EERE
share trust B S 36(0) = = —  (2401) = = = = —  (2400) = (24,041)
Acquisition of non-controlling Wi 3R R B
interests 33 - - - - - - - - - — (1,153) (1,153)
Gain on acquisition of KEZHENEAR
subsidiaries pa & — — — — — — — — — — 3,025 3,025
Final 2010 dividend =t B 22
REAKE = = = = = = = — (288,505  (288,505) —  (288,505)
Proposed final 2011 BE-Z——%
dividend RER & 13 — — — - - — —  (351,916) 351,916 — — —
Transfer to reserve funds BRETHELS - - - — — 53,392 — (53392 - - - -
At 31 March 2011 ==%
109121 2,041,222*  878,244* (24,041)% 16,423*  200,280* 194,717%  2,265,114* 351916 6,032,996 537,837 6,570,833
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Jlll Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity & &

72

Year ended 31 March 2012 HE-_T——F=-A=1+—HItFE

Attributable to equity holders of the parent

BATRERL
Available-
Employee for-sale
Share share-based  investment Exchange Proposed Non-
Issued  premium Capital ~ Employee i luati Reserve fl { Retained final controlling
capital account reserve  share trust reserve reserve funds reserve profits  dividend Total interests Total equity
THHEEZ
BEfT R &% B8 WRHRHE h#&z i3 iRk E3: 4
23 BRE HE BRREE BIMeHRE | AEEE HEEE  RDRE  REEN RHRR @it BE  #ngE
Notes HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HK$000 HKS'000 HK$ 000
i3 EETR  RETT  REFT  REFR EEFT  REEFT  BEFL EEFL EETL EETAL RETR RETL EETR
At 1 April 2011 R=Z2--£mA-A 109121 2,041,222 878,244 (24,041) 16,423 - 200,280 194717 2,265,114 351,916 6,032,996 537,837 6,570,833
Profit for the year RERET - - - - - - - - 1244813 - 1204813 93875 1,338,688
Other compensative income for the year: REREMRERE:
Change i fair value of an available-for-sale AHEIREL
investment ATREZS - - - - - 26,904 - - - - 26,904 - 26,904
Exchange differences in translation of foreign ~ §5h ¥ H#E 2
operations EREE - - - - - - - 73,580 - - 73,580 24,007 97,587
Total comprehensive income for the year AEERANGAE - - - - - 26,904 - 73580 1,244,813 - 1,345,297 117,882 1,463,179
Exercise of share options i ERE 35 152 11,484 - - (2,662) - - - - - 8,974 - 8,974
Share-based compensation WGz B4 36 - - - - 90,518 - - - - - 90,518 - 90,518
Contribution to employee share trust EERZEEER 36(0) - - - (33%87) - - - - - - (3387) - (335,873)
Capital contribution from non-controlling -BRERAREERER
shareholders of a subsidiary LERHE - - 2,938 - - - - - - - 22,938 14,404 37342
Acquisition of non-controlling interests BB R RER - - - - - - - - - - - (3,303) (3,303)
Partal disposal of investment in a subsidiary HE-BREAR
LBARE - - - - - - - - - - - 35,515 35,515
Change in net assets of an associate BERRZFEERD - - 457 - - - - - - - 457 - 457
Final 2011 dividend “T--ERAKE - - - - - - - - 779  (351916)  (344,120) - (w0
Proposed final 2012 dividend BE-T-—FRHRE 13 - - - - - - - — (42,985 424,986 - - -
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders Bk ST ERKR - - - - - - - - - - - (95) (95)
Transfer to reserve funds BRBEEES - - - - - - 63,093 - 63,093) - - - -
At 31 March 2012
109,273 2,052,706* 901,639*  (359,914)* 104,279* 26,904* 263373 268297*  3029,644* 424,986 6,821,187 702,240 7,523,421
2 These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of approximately * ZERFRBREBERGEAUBRARPZEERELNEE

HK$6,286,928,000 (2011: HK$5,571,959,000) in the consolidated statement of

financial position.
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Consolidated

Statement of Cash Flows

.-vT = Iﬁ. G uu. %

Year ended 31 March 2012 #HE=—ZT——F=A=+—HItFE
2012 2011
i et 3 —T——%F
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
Kt & B FIT B For
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES B2 X¥EMNALRE
Profit before tax % 35 A& A 1,653,166 1,264,841
Adjustments for: R
Finance costs & KA 8 335,388 229,125
Share of profits and losses of jointly- R R S EREE A
controlled entities and associates 7] 2 m F & & B (43,415) (32,322)
Interest income F B A (89,967) (37,934)
Dividend income from AHEEZRE ZREBA
available-for-sale investments B (37) (10,912)
Loss on disposal of items of property, plant HEME BMERKEBEZ
and equipment &5 18 7 8,288 4,424
Fair value gain on an available-for-sale AHEEZREZAFEE
investment (transfer from equity on W (EEe HEER)
disposal) B - (13,622)
Fair value gain on investment properties BEMEZANFEEKS 5 (30,391) (44,265)
Gain on disposal of an HE—MAEHEZREZ
available-for-sale investment U #5 5 — (6,563)
Depreciation e 7 138,287 111,563
Amortisation of prepaid land premiums T £t 78 & 8 85 7 621 540
Amortisation of intangible assets mEEE#E 7 2,011 1,681
Provisions for and write-off of obsolete fRE T & B &
inventories 7 82,769 43,291
Impairment of trade receivables U E 5k R E 19,514 67,422
Write-off/(reversal of write-off) of other H fth B UG SR IB MRS
receivables (M 85 ¢ [=1) (2,439) 2,411
Share-based compensation AR 2/ 2B < 90,518 5,371
2,164,313 1,585,051
Increase in inventories F & & h0 (1,091,961) (761,429)
Increase in trade and bills receivables JRE W Z 5 R 3R % e Wi 3R 48 45 0 (2,483,711) (1,834,430)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and other TERIE - e REAE
receivables Wk IB 1 N (1,695,832) (192,638)
Increase in trade and bills payables FEST B 5 0R 3R & FE A EHR I8 0 3,472,522 1,553,911
Increase in other payables and accruals HEfb e RIB R AR E AL N 404,451 334,714
Increase in derivative financial assets TESREEREMN (72,237) (4,695)
Decrease in derivative financial liabilities MESBAERD - (6,456)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net EREFH s HEFE (12,734) (9,714)
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Il Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows &8 R &R E &

Year ended 31 March 2012 HE-T——F=-A=+—HILFE

2012 2011
—g—-% —T——%
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
K i B EFIT B For

Cash generated from operations KEMB RS 684,811 664,314
Interest received 2 A B 58,287 17,792
Hong Kong profits tax paid EHBNBEBFEH — (9,870)
The People’s Republic of China corporate EEAPEAREIMBE

income tax paid Fri5 % (270,277) (239,448)
Net cash flows from operating activities CEEBKEREREFHE 472,821 432,788
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES #&EHMEEHKEE
Purchases of items of property, plant and BAME  BERZHE

equipment (430,170) (157,201)
Additions to prepaid land premiums AEBERNIHES 17 (55,212) (24,060)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEWE BMERIKBZAME

plant and equipment KIE 3,902 413
Additions to intangible assets REBEFEE 19 (3,004) —
Increase in deposits paid for acquisition of WEMER T FERERS

property and land use right 0 — (184,280)
Acquisition of subsidiaries Wy 2 % BT 8 A A (149,797) (190,852)
Proceeds from partial disposal of investment in HE&E —FMWE QAR LA EE 2

a subsidiary B 15 5k 18 447,686 —
Dividends received from a jointly-controlled B —F A RES S EZRE

entity 5,670 2,512
Dividends received from associates WER % @ H & Az R E 97 1,348
Dividends received from available-for-sale WHAHEEZKRE ZRE

investments 37 10,932
Investments in jointly-controlled entities REREZEHCEZRE (9,162) (32,060)
Investments in associates REEERR 2R E (58,038) (309,367)
Investments in available-for-sale investments AHHEZIREZRE (185,819) =
Disposal of an available-for-sale investment HEAHBEZRE - 41,974
Net cash flows used in investing activities REZHMAREMEFE (433,810) (840,641)
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2012 2011
i et 3 —T——%F
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
Kt & B FIT B For
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES RIEFHMIRERE
Proceeds from issue of new ordinary shares BOIHEBRZABRE 35 — 1,060,405
Exercise of share options 7 fF B AR 4 35 8,974 2,621
Contribution to employee share trust BEREESMHR 36(b) (335,873) (24,041)
New bank loans IR ITE R 16,150,515 7,149,964
Repayment of bank loans ERFETER (14,079,330) (6,827,085)
Repayment of bond payable EEEMNES - (233,645)
Interest paid B AT F & (335,388) (229,125)
Dividends paid B E (344,120) (288,505)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders B 1 i% 8 F JE 5 i% % &= (95) =
Acquisition of non-controlling interests W B IF 1R IR R (3,303) (1,153)
Capital contribution from non-controlling — M BARFFIERREZ
shareholders of a subsidiary BEARME 37,342 —
Net cash flows from financing activities MEZTHAEREMEFE 1,098,722 609,436
NET INCREASE IN CASH ReRB&EEVEMNFER
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 1,137,733 201,583
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year F# R & MIHELEEY 3,049,455 2,772,026
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net EREFH o EFHE 66,778 75,846
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ERZBERBFLEEY
AT END OF YEAR 4,253,966 3,049,455
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND HERBELEEDZ
CASH EQUIVALENTS SR
Cash and bank balances He RIRITHERS 30 3,785,901 2,770,890
Non-pledged time deposits EE I E B E R 30 468,065 278,565
Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the REEHBERAKRREE
consolidated statement of financial position REREXRAMIB 2B R
and the consolidated statement of the cash ReEZEEY
flows 4,253,966 3,049,455

2011/125F 3%
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Statement of Financial Position

B %5 AR L3R

31 March 2012 =Z——F=A=+—H

2012 2011
—EF—-"F —T——F
Notes HK$’000 HK$000
K iE BETIT B F T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS EEHEE
Property, plant and equipment M BB RZE 15 272 272
Investments in subsidiaries KRB RRZIEE 20 842,082 764,911
Total non-current assets BIEREE E 842,354 765,183
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Prepayments, deposits and ERNRIE - Eek
other receivables H U 5K IE 9,494 1,359
Due from subsidiaries & 5 Bft 188 2 B R IE 21 3,625,593 3,796,813
Cash and cash equivalents ReRReEED 30 1,974 8,575
Total current assets wnmBEE 3,637,061 3,806,747
CURRENT LIABILITIES nBEE
Other payables and accruals HMEMNREBERBIREA 13,525 10,622
Due to subsidiaries FE 5B /B A &) 38 21 992,502 1,296,047
Total current liabilities BREBE 1,006,027 1,306,669
NET CURRENT ASSETS RBEEFE 2,631,034 2,500,078
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES BEERRDER 3,473,388 3,265,261
NON-CURRENT LIABILITY ERHER
Interest-bearing bank borrowing M ERITEXK 33 390,000 —
Net assets EEFE 3,083,388 3,265,261
EQUITY i
Issued capital BT 35 109,273 109,121
Reserves (] 37(b) 2,549,129 2,804,224
Proposed final dividend R R HA AR B 13 424,986 351,916
Total equity EiSEE 3,083,388 3,265,261
LY
—_—F
S :
| L
GUO Wei 55 LIN Yang # 15
Chairman T J& Director &%
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2.1

Notes to Financial Statements

CORPORATE INFORMATION

Digital China Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is a limited
liability company incorporated in Bermuda. The head office and
principal place of business of the Company is located at Suite
2008, 20/F., Devon House, Taikoo Place, 979 King's Road, Quarry
Bay, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Group was involved in the sale and
distribution of general information technology (“IT") products and
systems products, provision of supply chain services and IT
services.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
They have been prepared under the historical cost convention,
except for investment properties, derivative financial instruments
and an equity investment, which have been measured at fair
value as further explained in note 2.4. These financial statements
are presented in Hong Kong dollars and all values are rounded to
the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2012.
The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date of acquisition, being the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date
that such control ceases. All intra-group balances, transactions,
unrealised gains and losses resulting from intra-group transactions
and dividends are eliminated on consolidation in full.

Total comprehensive income within a subsidiary is attributed to
the non-controlling interest even if that results in a deficit balance.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a
loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

2.1

Bf 75 8 3= B &

31 March 2012 =—ZE—=—F=A=+—H

AEEH

Digital China Holdings Limited (18 M| 25 2= j% 5 [R
AEN(ARRRAD D —HREREFMALZER
DAl c ARAIZBMERERETELEMIMURE
7 8 B 2 3897958 K & B 1B R K [E 20422008
REAFEARN AEBERBHERDHBHAENER
BOTNDERERGE R - HEERSERITRSE
R o

EREE

HEMBRRDRBABTESAMRIERM2E
U BEREEN(EFEMBREEND(EF R
BERUBHELD  FESAEN(ET B STE
ANk ERE) EEEERMzEtRAIRE
BARMGH ZREREMMRE - LEMBHRKRTD
BRELSKARAUNGE  HREWE TLEEH
TAREGZEREDNRBEAFEEFE(FER
RHaE2.4) c WEMBHRRABET(HEE T

SIT - MR BAHBN  FABEYBEERE
2 T -
HEEE

IR A RRBEARRRERB AR (KA
EENBE-_ZTE——F=A=+—HItEENH
HHmER - -MWBAREARR Z P EHRE 2R EH
AR WHEA—HEAHRRREE - WBARZ
¥ERKEAHEIAEBESZHEZB) B4
AAR  WHEBGRAANREZEZHERILEZH
Al AREBRANERAB 2 EH X5 &6
AANEZRAIBARGFEI Bz AERRERERR
BREHREAIIRE B 2EIEE -

MBARZZ2EHKREABETIRENIFERES -
Bl s RS AR BB -

—HMEARZME SR EES(FEHIEL
ARELEDY) AREZIFHAR -

2011/126% WHNUBERERAR 77




Il Notes to Financial Statements B4 75 } & Bf &%

31 March 2012

2.1

2.2

—E——F=A=1+—H

BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)
Basis of consolidation (continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii)
the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and (i) the
cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the
fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus
or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components
previously recognised in other comprehensive income is
reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs
for the first time for the current year's financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendment Amendment to HKFRS 1 First-
time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards
— Limited Exemption from
Comparative HKFRS 7
Disclosures for the First-time

Adopters

HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures

HK(IFRIC)-Int 14 Amendments to HK(IFRIC)-Int 14

Amendments Prepayments of a Minimum
Funding Requirement
HK(IFRIC)-Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities

with Equity Instruments

Amendments to a number of
HKFRSs issued in May 2010

Improvements to HKFRSs
2010

Other than as further explained below regarding the impact of
HKAS 24 (Revised), and amendments to HKFRS 3, HKAS 1 and
HKAS 27 included in /mprovements to HKFRSs 2010, the
adoption of the new and revised HKFRSs has had no significant
financial effect on these financial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES

IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND

DISCLOSURES (continued)

The principal effects of adopting these HKFRSs are as follows:

(a)

(b)

HKAS 24 (Revised) Related Party Disclosures

HKAS 24 (Revised) clarifies and simplifies the definitions
of related parties. The new definitions emphasise a
symmetrical view of related party relationships and clarify
the circumstances in which persons and key management
personnel affect related party relationships of an entity.
The revised standard also introduces an exemption from
the general related party disclosure requirements for
transactions with a government and entities that are
controlled, jointly controlled or significantly influenced by
the same government as the reporting entity. The
accounting policy for related parties has been revised to
reflect the changes in the definitions or related parties
under the revised standard. The adoption of the revised
standard did not have any impact on the financial position
or performance of the Group. Details of the related party
transactions, including the related comparative information,
are included in note 42 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Improvements to HKFRSs 2010 issued in May 2010 sets
out amendments to a number of HKFRSs. There are
separate transitional provisions for each standard. While
the adoption of some of the amendments results in
changes in accounting policies, none of these amendments
has had a significant financial impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group. Details of the key
amendments most applicable to the Group are as follows:

. HKFRS 3 Business Combinations. The amendment
clarifies that the amendments to HKFRS 7, HKAS 32
and HKAS 39 that eliminate the exemption for
contingent consideration do not apply to contingent
consideration that arose from business combinations
whose acquisition dates precede the application of
HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008).
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICY AND
DISCLOSURES (continued)

The principal effects of adopting these HKFRSs are as follows:

(continued)

(b)

In addition, the amendment limits the scope of
measurement choices for non-controlling interest.
Only the components of non-controlling interests
that are present ownership interests and entitle their
holders to a proportionate share of the acquiree’s
net assets in the event of liquidation are measured
at either fair value or at the present ownership
instruments’ proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-
controlling interests are measured at their acquisition
date fair value, unless another measurement basis is
required by another HKFRS.

The amendment also added explicit guidance to
clarify the accounting treatment for non-replaced
and voluntarily replaced share-based payment
awards.

HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: The
amendment clarifies that an analysis of each
component of other comprehensive income can be
presented either in the statement of changes in
equity or in the notes to the financial statements.
The Group elects to present the analysis of each
component of other comprehensive income in the
statement of changes in equity.

HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements: The amendment clarifies that the
consequential amendments from HKAS 27 (as
revised in 2008) made to HKAS 21, HKAS 28 and
HKAS 31 shall be applied prospectively for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 or earlier
if HKAS 27 is applied earlier.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in
these financial statements.

HKFRS 1 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 1 First-
time Adoption of Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards
— Severe Hyperinflation and
Removal of Fixed Dates for
First-time Adopters’

HKFRS 7 Amendments Amendments to HKFRS 7
Financial Instruments:
Disclosures — Transfers of
Financial Assets’

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments®

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements*

HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements*

HKFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities*

HKFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement*

HKAS 1 Amendments Presentation of Financial

Statements — Presentation of
ltems of Other Comprehensive
income®

HKAS 12 Amendments Amendments to HKAS 12 /ncome
Taxes — Deferred Tax:
Recovery of Underlying Assets?

HKAS 19 (2011) Employee Benefits*

HKAS 27 (2011) Separate Financial Statements*

HKAS 28 (2011) Investments in Associate and
Joint Ventures*

HK(IFRIC)-Int 20 Stripping Costs in the Production

Phase of a Surface Mine*

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2012
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015
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ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

Further information about those changes that are expected to
significantly affect of the Group is as follows:

HKFRS 9 issued in November 2009 is the first part of phase 1
of a comprehensive project to entirely replace HKAS 39 Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. This phase focuses
on the classification and measurement of financial assets. Instead
of classifying financial assets into four categories, an entity shall
classify financial assets as subsequently measured at either
amortised cost or fair value, on the basis of both the entity’'s
business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial assets. This
aims to improve and simplify the approach for the classification
and measurement of financial assets compared with the
requirements of HKAS 39.

In November 2010, the HKICPA issued additions to HKFRS 9 to
address financial liabilities (the “Additions”) and incorporated in
HKFRS 9 the current derecognition principles of financial
instruments of HKAS 39. Most of the Additions were carried
forward unchanged from HKAS 39, while changes were made to
the measurement of financial liabilities designated at fair value
through profit or loss using the fair value option (“FVO"). For
these FVO liabilities, the amount of change in the fair value of a
liability that is attributable to changes in credit risk must be
presented in other comprehensive income (“OCI”). The remainder
of the change in fair value is presented in profit or loss, unless
presentation of the fair value change in respect of the liability’s
credit risk in OCl would create or enlarge an accounting
mismatch in profit or loss. However, loan commitments and
financial guarantee contracts which have been designated under
the FVO are scoped out of the Additions.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKAS 39 is aimed to be replaced by HKFRS 9 in its entirety.
Before this entire replacement, the guidance in HKAS 39 on
hedge accounting and impairment of financial assets continues to
apply. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 9 from 1 April 2015.

HKFRS 10 establishes a single control model that applies to all
entities including special purpose entities or structured entities. It
includes a new definition of control which is used to determine
which entities are consolidated. The changes introduced by
HKFRS 10 require management of the Group to exercise
significant judgement to determine which entities are controlled,
compared with the requirements in HKAS 27 and HK(SIC)-Int 12
Consolidation — Special Purpose Entities. HKFRS 10 replaces the
portion of HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements that addresses the accounting for consolidated
financial statements. It also includes the issues raised in HK(SIC)-
Int 12.

HKFRS 11 replaces HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures
and HK(SIC)-Int 13 Jointly Controlled Entities — Non-Monetary
Contributions by Venturers. It describes the accounting for joint
arrangements with joint control. It addresses only two forms of
joint arrangements, i.e., joint operations and joint ventures, and
removes the option to account for joint ventures using
proportionate consolidation.

HKFRS 12 includes the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries,
joint arrangements, associates and structured entities that are
previously included in HKAS 27 Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements, HKAS 31 Interests in Joint Ventures and
HKAS 28 /nvestments in Associates. It also introduces a number
of new disclosure requirements for these entities.

Consequential amendments were made to HKAS 27 and HKAS
28 as a result of the issuance of HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11 and
HKFRS 12. The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 10, HKFRS 11,
HKFRS 12, and the consequential amendments to HKAS 27 and
HKAS 28 from 1 April 2013.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (continued)

HKFRS 13 provides a precise definition of fair value and a single
source of fair value measurement and disclosure requirements
for use across HKFRSs. The standard does not change the
circumstances in which the Group is required to use fair value,
but provides guidance on how fair value should be applied where
its use is already required or permitted under other HKFRSs. The
Group expects to adopt HKFRS 13 prospectively from 1 April
2013.

Amendments to HKAS 1 change the grouping of items presented
in OCI. Items that could be reclassified (or recycled) to profit or
loss at a future point in time (for example, upon derecognition or
settlement) would be presented separately from items which will
never be reclassified. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments from 1 April 2013.

HKAS 12 Amendments clarify the determination of deferred tax
for investment property measured at fair value. The amendments
introduce a refutable presumption that deferred tax on investment
property measured at fair value should be determined on the
basis that its carrying amount will be recovered through sale.
Furthermore, the amendments incorporate the requirement
previously in HK(SIC)-Int 21 /ncome Taxes — Recovery of
Revalued Non-Depreciable Assets that deferred tax on non-
depreciable assets, measured using the revaluation model in
HKAS 16, should always be measured on a sale basis. The
Group expects to adopt HKAS 12 Amendments from 1 April
2012. Upon the adoption, the Group's deferred tax liability with
respect to investment properties located in Hong Kong is
expected to be reduced.

HKAS 19 (2011) includes a number of amendments that range
from fundamental changes to simple clarifications and re-wording.
The revised standard introduces significant changes in the
accounting for defined benefit pension plans including removing
the choice to defer the recognition of actuarial gains and losses.
Other charges include modifications to the timing of recognition
for termination benefits, the classification of short-term employee
benefits and disclosures of defined benefit plans. The Group
expects to adopt HKAS 19 (2011) from 1 April 2013.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES
Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an entity whose financial and operating policies
the Company controls, directly or indirectly, so as to obtain
benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries are included in the Company’s income
statement to the extent of dividends received and receivable.
The Company’'s investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost
less any impairment losses.

Joint ventures

A joint venture is an entity set up by contractual arrangement,
whereby the Group and other parties undertake an economic
activity. The joint venture operates as a separate entity in which
the Group and the other parties have an interest.

The joint venture agreement between the venturers stipulates
the capital contributions of the joint venture parties, the duration
of the joint venture and the basis on which the assets are to be
realised upon its dissolution. The profits or losses from the joint
venture's operations and any distributions of surplus assets are
shared by the venturers, either in proportion to their respective
capital contributions, or in accordance with the terms of the joint
venture agreement.

A joint venture is treated as:

(a) a subsidiary, if the Group has unilateral control, directly or
indirectly, over the joint venture;

(b) a jointly-controlled entity, if the Group does not have
unilateral control, but has joint control, directly or indirectly,
over the joint venture;

(c) an associate, if the Group does not have unilateral or joint
control, but holds, directly or indirectly, generally not less
than 20% of the joint venture's registered capital and is in
a position to exercise significant influence over the joint
venture; or

(d) an equity investment accounted for in accordance with
HKAS 39, if the Group holds, directly or indirectly, less
than 20% of the joint venture's registered capital and has
neither joint control of, nor is in a position to exercise
significant influence over, the joint venture.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
POLICIES (continued)

Jointly-controlled entities

ACCOUNTING

A jointly-controlled entity is a joint venture that is subject to joint
control, resulting in none of the participating parties having
unilateral control over the economic activity of the jointly-
controlled entity.

The Group's investments in jointly-controlled entities are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the Group's
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less
any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line
any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of
jointly-controlled entities is included in the consolidated income
statement and consolidated reserves, respectively. Where the
profit sharing ratio is different to the Group's equity interest, the
share of post-acquisition results of the jointly-controlled entities
is determined based on the agreed profit sharing ratio. Unrealised
gains and losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its jointly-controlled entities are eliminated to the extent of
the Group’s investments in the jointly-controlled entities, except
where unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of
the asset transferred.

Associates

An associate is an entity, not being a subsidiary or a jointly-
controlled entity, in which the Group has a long term interest of
generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights and over
which it is in a position to exercise significant influence.

The Group’'s investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group’s share
of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into line any
dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and reserves of
associates is included in the consolidated income statement and
consolidated reserves, respectively. Unrealised gains and losses
resulting from transactions between the Group and its associates
are eliminated to the extent of the Group's investments in the
associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates is included as part of the Group's
investments in associates and is not individually tested for
impairment.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair value of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether it measures the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation either
at the fair value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. All other components of non-controlling
interests are measured at fair value. Acquisition costs are
expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual items, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts by the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition
date fair value of the acquiree’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value as at the acquisition
date through profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is
recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration which is
deemed to be an asset or liability will be recognised in
accordance with HKAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change
to other comprehensive income. If the contingent consideration
is classified as equity, it will not be remeasured. Subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. In instances where the
contingent consideration does not fall within the scope of HKAS
39, it is measured in accordance with the appropriate HKFRS.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group’s previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
net identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the
sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair
value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired, the difference
is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as a gain on
bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment
annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may be impaired. The Group
performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as at 31 March.
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-
generating units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or
liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of
units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less than
the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a
subsequent period.

Where goodwill forms part of a cash-generating unit (group of
cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit
is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation
disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the operation
when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation.
Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance is measured based on
the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets, investment
properties and goodwill), the asset's recoverable amount is
estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit's value in use and its fair value
less costs to sell, and is determined for an individual asset,
unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely
independent of those from other assets or groups of assets, in
which case the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of
an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in
use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
income statement in the period in which it arises in those
expenses categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is any indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased. If
such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated. A
previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that
would have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is
credited to the income statement in the period in which it arises.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or close member of that person’s
family and that person,

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

or

has control or joint control over the Group;
has significant influence over the Group; or

is a member of the key management personnel of
the Group or a parent of the Group;

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions
applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same
group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow
subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the
same third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an
entity related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a); and

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant
and equipment comprises its purchase price and any directly
attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance,
is normally charged to the income statement in the period in
which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the assets as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required to
be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them
accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off
the cost of each item of property, plant and equipment to its
residual value over its estimated useful life. The principal annual
rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Over the lease terms 2% to 5%,
whichever is shorter

Land and buildings

Over the lease terms or 20% to
33%, whichever is shorter

10% to 33%
10% to 20%

Leasehold improvements

Fixtures and office equipment
Motor vehicles

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is depreciated
separately.

Residual values, useful lives and the depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal.
Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in the
income statement in the year the asset is derecognised is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying
amount of the relevant asset.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Construction in progress represents buildings under construction,
which is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and is not
depreciated. Cost comprises the direct costs of construction and
capitalised borrowing costs on related borrowed funds during the
period of construction. Construction in progress is reclassified to
the appropriate category of property, plant and equipment when
completed and ready for use.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including
the leasehold interest under an operating lease for property
which would otherwise meet the definition of an investment
property) held to earn rental income and/or for capital
appreciation, rather than for use in the production or supply of
goods or services or for administrative purposes; or for sale in
the ordinary course of business. Such properties are measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at fair value, which
reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in the income statement in
the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in the income statement in
the year of the retirement or disposal.

For a transfer from investment properties to owner-occupied
properties, the deemed cost of a property for subsequent
accounting is its fair value at the date of change in use.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value as at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to
be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and
the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite
useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Patents and licences

Purchased patents and licences are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised on the straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives of five years.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the income statement as
incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is
capitalised and deferred only when the Group can demonstrate
the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that
it will be available for use or sale, its intention to complete and
its ability to use or sell the asset, how the asset will generate
future economic benefits, the availability of resources to
complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the
expenditure during the development. Product development
expenditure which does not meet these criteria is expensed
when incurred.

Deferred development costs are stated at cost less any
impairment losses and are amortised using the unit-of-sale
method, commencing from the date when the products are put
into commercial production, with an amortisation method limited
to two years.

Systems software

Purchased systems software is stated at cost less accumulated
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Amortisation is provided on the straight-line basis over its
estimated useful life of five years.
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POLICIES (continued)
Operating Leases

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of ownership
of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for as operating
leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets leased by the
Group under operating leases are included in non-current assets,
and rentals receivable under the operating leases are credited to
the income statement on the straight-line basis over the lease
terms. Where the Group is the lessee, rentals payable under
operating leases net of any incentives received from the lessor
are charged to the income statement on the straight-line basis
over the lease terms.

Prepaid land premiums under operating leases are initially stated
at the cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms. When the lease payments cannot be
allocated reliably between the land and buildings elements, the
entire lease payments are included in the cost of the land and
buildings as a finance lease in property, plant and equipment.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
receivables and available-for-sale financial investments, or as
derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the classification of
its financial assets at initial recognition. When financial assets are
recognised initially, they are measured at fair value plus
transaction costs, except in the case of financial assets recorded
at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

The Group's financial assets include cash and cash equivalents,
trade and bills receivables, deposits, other receivables, available-
for-sale investments and derivative financial instruments.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include
financial assets held for trading. Financial assets are classified as
held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose of sale in the
near term. Derivatives are also classified as held for trading
unless they are designated as effective hedging instruments as
defined by HKAS 39.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in other income and gains or finance
costs in the income statement. These net fair value changes do
not include any dividends or interest earned on these financial
assets, which are recognised in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.

Financial assets designated upon initial recognition at fair value
through profit or loss are designated at the date of initial
recognition and only if the criteria under HKAS 39 are satisfied.

The Group evaluates its financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (held for trading) to assess whether the intent to
sell them in the near term is still appropriate. When, in rare
circumstances, the Group is unable to trade these financial
assets due to inactive markets and management’s intent to sell
them in the foreseeable future significantly changes, the Group
may elect to reclassify these financial assets. The reclassification
from financial assets at fair value through profit or loss to loans
and receivables or available-for-sale financial assets depends on
the nature of the assets. This evaluation does not affect any
financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss
using the fair value option at designation as these instruments
cannot be reclassified after initial recognition.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active
market. After initial measurement, such assets are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate
method less any allowance for impairment. Amortised cost is
calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on
acquisition and includes fees or costs that are an integral part of
the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation
is included in the finance income in the income statement. The
loss arising from impairment is recognised in the income
statement in finance costs for loans and in other expenses for
receivables.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative financial
assets in listed and unlisted equity investments and debt
securities. Equity investments classified as available for sale are
those which are neither classified as held for trading nor
designated at fair value through profit or loss. Debt securities in
this category are those which are intended to be held for an
indefinite period of time and which may be sold in response to
needs for liquidity or in response to changes in market
conditions.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments are
subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains or
losses recognised as other comprehensive income in the
available-for-sale investment revaluation reserve until the
investment is derecognised, at which time the cumulative gain or
loss is recognised in the income statement in other income, or
until the investment is determined to be impaired, when the
cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from the available-for-sale
investment revaluation reserve to the income statement in other
expenses. Interest and dividends earned whilst holding the
available-for-sale financial investments are reported as interest
income and dividend income, respectively and are recognised in
the income statement as other income in accordance with the
policies set out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be
reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that investment
or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates within the range
cannot be reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair value,
such investments are stated at cost less any impairment losses.

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell its
available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are still
appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable to
trade these financial assets due to inactive markets and
management’s intent to do so significantly changes in the
foreseeable future, the Group may elect to reclassify these
financial assets. Reclassification to loans and receivables is
permitted when the financial assets meet the definition of loans
and receivables and the Group has the intent and ability to hold
these assets for the foreseeable future or to maturity.
Reclassification to the held-to-maturity category is permitted only
when the Group has the ability and intent to hold until the
maturity date of the financial asset.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale
category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any previous
gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised in equity is
amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of the
investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference
between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is
also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the
effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined to
be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is reclassified to
the income statement.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset
or part of a group of similar financial assets) is derecognised
when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either (a)
the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it
evaluates if and to what extend it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the assets. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of
the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the asset is
recognised to the extent of the Group's continuing involvement
in the asset. In that case, the Group also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is any objective evidence that a financial asset or a group
of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of
financial assets is deemed to be impaired if, and only if, there is
objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (an
incurred “loss event”) and that loss event has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group of
financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group of
debtors is experiencing significant financing difficulty, default or
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that
they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and
observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in
the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses individually whether objective evidence of impairment
exists for financial assets that are individually significant, or
collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant.
If the Group determines that no objective evidence of impairment
exists for an individually assessed financial asset, whether
significant or not, it includes the assets in a group of financial
assets with similar credit risk characteristics and collectively
assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or
continues to be, recognised are not included in a collective
assessment of impairment.

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that
have not yet been incurred). The present value of the estimated
future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset's original
effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition). If a loan has a variable interest rate, the
discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current
effective interest rate.
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POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)

The carrying amount of the assets is reduced through the use of
an allowance account and the amount of the loss is recognised
in the income statement. Interest income continues to be
accrued on the reduced carrying amount and is accrued using
the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for
the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and
receivables together with any associated allowance are written
off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all
collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting
the allowance account. If a future write-off is later recovered, the
recovery is credited to other expenses in the income statement.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at
fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured, or
on a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled by
delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount of
the loss is measured as the difference between the asset's
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not
reversed.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses at
the end of each reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that an investment or a group of investments is
impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment and
amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss
previously recognised in the income statement, is removed from
other comprehensive income and recognised in the income
statement.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of an investment below its cost. The
determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires
judgement. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost of
the investment and “prolonged” against the period in which the
fair value has been below its original cost. Where there is
evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss — measured as the
difference between the acquisition cost and the current fair
value, less any impairment loss on that investment previously
recognised in the income statement — is removed from other
comprehensive income and recognised in the income statement.
Impairment losses on equity instruments classified as available
for sale are not reversed through the income statement.
Increases in their fair value after impairment are recognised
directly in other comprehensive income.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities within the scope of HKAS 39 are classified as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments
in an effective hedge, as appropriate. The Group determines the
classification of its financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initial at fair value plus, in
the case of loans and borrowings, directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and bills payables,
other payables, interest-bearing bank borrowings and a bond
payable.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2.4
POLICIES (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued) SHEFEGE
Subsequent measurement # B E
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on CRBECREFENARAREZEZDE BT
their classification as follows:
Loans and borrowings EAREER
After initial recognition, interest-bearing bank borrowings are RYIFHERE - M ERITEREE TR =L
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective BREENAFTE BUHRZFXELTEKN AR
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be BRAEAE FHABRABRRILIEERBREB
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and ERFEHEEFRNBEERANER -
losses are recognised in the income statement when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective
interest rate amortisation process.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount BEXRARFTEREER KB SIBE AT ERE
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral BERBERAME T —3m2 8 AkKA%
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate AEcBRAMEREHEAAKRZRZBEKRERA °
amortisation is included in finance costs in the income statement.
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EBERAIZCREMGT S8 RNV S HER

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because that specified debtor fails to

make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs

that are directly attributable to the issuance of the guarantee.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the
financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i) the amount of
the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the

present obligation at the end of the reporting period; and (i) the

amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative

amortisation.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
income statement.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if, and
only if, there is currently enforceable legal right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.

Fair value of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are traded in active
markets is determined by reference to quoted market prices or
dealer price quotations (bid price for long positions and ask price
for short positions), without any deduction for transaction costs.
For financial instruments where there is no active market, the fair
value is determined using appropriate valuation technigues. These
techniques include using recent arm'’s length market transactions;
reference to the current market value of another instrument
which is substantially the same; a discounted cash flow analysis;
and option pricing models.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward
currency contracts, to hedge its foreign currency risk. These
derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair
value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into
and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are
carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities
when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to the income statement.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis. Net
realisable value is based on estimated selling prices less any
estimated costs to be incurred to completion and disposal.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are readily
convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the statement of financial position, cash and
cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, including
term deposits, and assets similar in nature to cash, which are
not restricted as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of the
reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the discounted
present value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the income statement.

A contingent liability recognised in a business combination is
initially measured at its fair value. Subsequently, it is measured at
the higher of (i) the amount that would be recognised in
accordance with the general guidance for provisions above; and (ii)
the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation recognised in accordance with the guidance for
revenue recognition.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and prior periods
are measured at the amount expected to be recovered from or
paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and
practices prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts
for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from initial recognition
of goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is
not a business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable
future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint
ventures, deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary differences
will reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will
be available against which the temporary differences can
be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it
has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if a
legally enforceable right exists to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and the deferred taxes relate to the
same taxable entity and the same taxation authority.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there
is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all
attaching conditions will be complied with. When the grant
relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income over the
periods necessary to match the grant on a systematic basis to
the costs that it is intended to compensate.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to
a deferred income account and is released to the income
statement over the expected useful life of the relevant asset by
equal annual instalments or is deducted from the carrying
amount of the asset and released to the income statement by
way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be
measured reliably, on the following bases:

(a) from the sale of goods, when the significant risks and
rewards of ownership have been transferred to the buyer,
provided that the Group maintains neither managerial
involvement to the degree usually associated with
ownership, nor effective control over the goods sold;

(b) from contract revenue, on the percentage of completion
basis, as further explained in the accounting policy for
“Contract accounting” below;

(c) from the rendering of services, on the percentage of
completion basis, as further explained in the accounting
policy for “Contracts for services” below;

(d) rental income, on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms;
(e) interest income, on an accrual basis using the effective

interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts through the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset; and

(f) dividend income, when the shareholders’ right to receive
payment has been established.

Contract accounting

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract amount and
appropriate amounts from variation orders, claims and incentive
payments. Contract costs incurred comprise equipment and
material costs, subcontracting costs, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of variable and fixed construction
overheads.

Revenue from fixed price contracts is recognised on the
percentage of completion method, measured by reference to the
proportion of work completed to date to the estimated total work
of the relevant contract.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Contract accounting (continued)

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they are
anticipated by management.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits
less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is
treated as an amount due from contract customers. Where
progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus
recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is treated
as an amount due to contract customers.

Contracts for services

Contract revenue on the rendering of services comprises the
agreed contract amount. Costs of rendering services comprise
labour and other costs of personnel directly engaged in providing
the services and attributable overheads.

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised based on
the percentage of completion of the transaction, provided that
the revenue, the costs incurred and the estimated costs to
completion can be measured reliably. The percentage of
completion is established by reference to the costs incurred to
date as compared to the total costs to be incurred under the
transaction. Where the outcome of a contract cannot be
measured reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent that
the expenses incurred are eligible to be recovered.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they are
anticipated by management.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits
less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus is
treated as an amount due from contract customers. Where
progress billings exceed contract costs incurred to date plus
recognised profits less recognised losses, the surplus is treated
as an amount due to contract customers.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits
Share-based payment transactions

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the
form of share-based payment transactions, whereby employees
render services as consideration for equity instruments (“equity-
settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair
value at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is
determined by an external valuer using a binomial model, further
details of which are given in note 36(a) to the financial
statements.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised, together
with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period in which
the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The
cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at
the end of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects
the extent to which the vesting period has expired and the
Group’'s best estimate of the number of equity instruments that
will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the income statement
for a period represents the movement in the cumulative expense
recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.

No expense is recognised for awards that do not ultimately vest,
except for equity-settled transactions where vesting is conditional
upon a market or non-vesting condition, which are treated as
vesting irrespective of whether or not the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a
minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been
modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In addition,
an expense is recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the share-based payment transaction, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.
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24 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payment transactions (continued)

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it
had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet
recognised for the award is recognised immediately. This includes
any award where non-vesting conditions within the control of
either the Group or the employee are not met. However, if a
new award is substituted for the cancelled award, and is
designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a
modification of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is additional share
dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Restricted share award scheme

The Company operates restricted share award scheme (“RSA
Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to
eligible participants who contribute to the success of the Group's
operations. Employee share trust is established and administered
by an independent trustee and is funded by the Group's cash
contributions. The considerations paid (including any related
transaction costs) by the Company to purchase share of the
Company for the RSA Scheme are deducted from equity as
employee share trust. The administrator of the employee share
trust purchases the Company's share in the open market as
award shares to employees upon vesting.

The fair value of the award shares granted under the RSA
Scheme is recognised as employee benefit expense over the
vesting period.

Upon vesting of the award shares, the corresponding amount in
the employee share-based compensation reserve will be
transferred to the employee share trust.

Digital China Holdings Limited Annual Report2011/12
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefits scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) under the
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’
basic salaries and are charged to the charged to the income
statement as they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group's employer contributions vest fully
with the employees when contributed into the MPF Scheme,
except for the Group when the employee leaves employment
prior to the contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the
rules of the MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in the
People’'s Republic of China (the “PRC") are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal
government. Contributions are made based on a percentage of
the participating employees’ salaries and are charged to the
income statement as they become payable in accordance with
the rules of the central pension scheme.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their
intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of those
assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases when
the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All
other borrowing costs are expended in the period in which they
are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs
that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends proposed by the directors are classified as a
separate allocation of retained profits within the equity section of
the statement of financial position, until they have been approved
by the shareholders in a general meeting. When these dividends
have been approved by the shareholders and declared, they are
recognised as a liability.
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SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company's functional and presentation currency.
Each entity in the Group determines its own functional currency
and items included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates ruling at
the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the end of the
reporting period. All differences arising on settlement or
translation of monetary items are taken to the income statement.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost
in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary item measured
at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
The gain or loss arising on retranslation of a non-monetary item
is treated in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation differences on
item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries, jointly-
controlled entities and associates are currencies other than the
Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting period, the
assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into the
presentation currency of the Company at the exchange rates
ruling at the end of the reporting period and their income
statements are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the weighted
average exchange rates for the year.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange

fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the income
statement.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and
any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities
of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.
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2.4

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the
cash flows. Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas
subsidiaries which arise throughout the year are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for
the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities, at the
end of the reporting period. However, uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart from
those involving estimations, which have the most significant
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Operating lease commitments — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its
investment property portfolio. The Group has determined, based
on an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the
arrangements, that it retains all the significant risks and rewards
of ownership of these properties which are leased out on
operating leases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Judgements (continued)

Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied
properties

The Group determined whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making that
judgement. Investment property is a property held to earn rentals
or for capital appreciation or both. Therefore, the Group considers
whether a property generates cash flows largely independently
of the other assets held by the Group. Some properties comprise
a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation
and another portion that is held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. If
these portions could be sold separately or leased out separately
under a finance lease, the Group accounts for the portions
separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the
property is an investment property only if an insignificant portion
is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an
individual property basis to determine whether ancillary services
are so significant that a property does not qualify as an
investment property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year, are described below.

Impairment assessment for trade receivables

The policy for impairment assessment for trade receivables of
the Group is based on the evaluation of collectability and ageing
analysis of trade receivables and on the judgement of
management. A considerable amount of judgement is required in
assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables, including
the current creditworthiness and the past collection history of
each customer. If the financial conditions of customers of the
Group were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their
ability to make payments, additional impairment may be required.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Provision for obsolete inventories

Management reviews the ageing analysis of inventories of the
Group and makes provision for obsolete and slow-moving
inventory items identified that are no longer suitable for sales.
Management estimates the net realisable value for such
inventories based primarily on the latest invoice prices and
current market conditions. A considerate amount of judgement is
required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these inventories.
If the market conditions were to change, resulting in a change of
provision for obsolete items, the difference will be recorded in
the period it is identified.

Estimation of fair value of investment properties

As disclosed in note 16 to the financial statements, investment
properties are revalued at the end of the reporting period on an
open market, existing use basis by independent professional
valuers. These valuations were based on certain assumptions,
which are subject to uncertainty and might materially differ from
the actual results. In making the judgement, information from
current prices in an active market for similar properties is
considered and assumptions that are mainly based on market
conditions existing at the end of the reporting period are used.
The carrying amount of investment properties at 31 March 2012
was approximately HK$305,005,000 (2011: HK$265,581,000).

Impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The Group assesses whether there are any indicators of
impairment for all non-financial assets at the end of each
reporting period. Non-financial assets are tested for impairment
when there are indicators that the carrying amounts may not be
recoverable. An impairment exists when the carrying value of an
asset or a cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable amount,
which is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its
value in use. The calculation of the fair value less costs to sell is
based on available data from binding sales transactions in an
arm’s length transaction of similar assets or observable market
prices less incremental costs for disposing of the asset. When
value in use calculations are undertaken, management must
estimate the expected future cash flows from the asset or cash-
generating unit and choose a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on
an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use
of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is allocated.
Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an
estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The net
carrying amount of goodwill at 31 March 2012 was approximately
HK$236,377,000 (2011: HK$228,601,000). Further details are
given in note 18 to the financial statements.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the
reporting period and are expected to apply when the related
deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is
settled. Certain entities of the Group were recognised as “High
New Technology Enterprises” in Mainland China and entitled to a
preferential corporate income tax rate at 15% for a three-year
period. The tax regulations call for a renewal process after the
expiry. For the measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities
judgement is required to determine whether these entities will
continue to meet the criteria of “High New Technology
Enterprise” and estimate the tax rates expected to be applied.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised. The carrying amount
of net deferred tax assets at 31 March 2012 was approximately
HK$32,135,000 (2011: HK$40,263,000).

The Group’'s management determines the deferred tax assets
based on the enacted or substantially enacted tax rates and laws
and its best knowledge of profit projections of the Group for the
coming years during which the deferred tax assets are expected
to be utilised. Management reviews the assumptions and profit
projections at the end of each reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in various regions. As a
result of the fact that certain matters relating to the income
taxes have not been confirmed by the local tax bureau, objective
estimates and judgements based on currently enacted tax laws,
regulations and other related policies are required in determining
the provision of corporate income taxes. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters are different from the amounts
originally recorded, the differences will impact the corporate
income tax and tax provisions in the period in which the
differences realise.

Fair value of derivative financial instruments

Where the fair value of derivative financial instruments recorded
in the statement of financial position cannot be derived from
active markets, they are determined using valuation techniques.
The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets
where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of
judgement is required in establishing fair values. The judgements
include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk
and volatility. Changes in assumptions about these factors could
affect the reported fair value of derivative financial instruments.

Percentage of completion of contract

The Group recognises revenue according to the percentage of
completion of individual contracts. The stage of completion is
estimated by reference to the proportion of work completed to
date to the estimated total work of the relevant contract, and the
corresponding contract revenue is also estimated by
management. Due to the nature of the activity undertaken in
these contracts, the date at which the activity is entered into and
the date at which the activity is completed usually fall into
different accounting periods. Hence, the Group reviews and
revises the estimates of both contract revenue and contract
costs for each contract as the contract progresses. Where the
actual contract revenue is less than estimated or the actual
contract costs are more than estimated, a foreseeable loss may
arise.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

The Group classifies an asset as available-for-sale and recognises
movement of its fair value in equity. When the fair value
declines, management makes assumptions about the decline in
value to determine whether there is an impairment that should
be recognised in the income statement. The Group also
recognised unlisted equity investments as available-for-sale and
states at cost less impairment. Losses arising from the
impairment of such investment should be recognised in the
income statement as “Impairment losses on available-for-sale
financial assets”. At 31 March 2012, accumulated impairment
losses of approximately HK$2,425,000 (2011: HK$2,425,000)
have been recognised for available-for-sale financial assets. The
carrying amount of available-for-sale financial assets at 31 March
2012 was approximately HK$214,321,000 (2011: HK$1,596,000).
Further details are contained in note 24 to the financial
statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group’s operating businesses are
structured and managed separately according to the nature of
their operations, target customer segments and the products and
services they provide. Each of the Group's reportable operating
segments represents a strategic business unit that offers
products and services which are subject to risks and returns that
are different from those of the other reportable segments.
Particulars of the Group's four reportable operating segments are
summarised as follows:

(a) the “Distribution” segment, with a primary focus on the
SMB & Consumer markets, focuses on meeting the
demand for IT products and solutions from SMB and
consumer markets, and also explores new opportunities in
mobile internet devices and their applications with the
implementation of the Sm@rt City strategy. It engages in
the sale and distribution of general IT products which
consist of notebook computers, desktop computers, PC
servers, data projectors, peripherals, accessories and
consumer IT products;
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(b)

(d)

the “Systems” segment, with a primary focus on the
Industry & Enterprise markets, focuses on meeting the IT
demand from the urban information infrastructure
construction, as well as the major accounts and enterprise
markets and also makes direct sales to regional customers
to enhance direct control over the demand of the
enterprise market. It engages in the sale and distribution
of systems products which consist of Unix servers,
networking products, storage products and packaged
software, as well as the provision of related value-added
services;

the “Supply Chain Services” segment, with a primary
focus on the Hi-tech Industries, e-Commerce and Online
Service Providers and Platform Operators, is targeted at
manufacturers of IT and other high-value density products
manufacturers and industry customers, e-commerce
platform operators and branded service providers, providing
one-stop supply chain consultancy and execution services
in logistics, business flow, capital flow and information
flow through various means, including the creation of
e-commerce logistic parks; and

the “Services” segment, with a primary focus on the
provision of urban information infrastructure and Sm@rt
City operation services to the Industry market, focuses on
the provision of urban information infrastructure and Sm@rt
City operation services targeted at large-scale industry
customers, offering IT planning and IT systems
consultation, design and implementation of industry
application software and solutions, outsourcing of IT
system operation and maintenance, as well as products
and services in system integration and maintenance.

Management monitors the results of its operating segments
separately for the purpose of making decisions about resources
allocation and performance assessment. Segment performance is
evaluated based on the reportable segment profit, which is a
measure of adjusted profit before tax. The adjusted profit before
tax is measured consistently with the Group's profit before tax
except that interest income, finance costs, unallocated corporate
income and gains, unallocated corporate expenses and share of
profits and losses of jointly-controlled entities and associates are
excluded from such measurement.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The Group started to make adjustments to parts of the
businesses of the Supply Chain Services Business in the previous
financial year. Parts of the operations of the Supply Chain
Services Business will continue to focus on the hi-tech industries
and the industry market by providing one-stop supply chain
consultancy and execution services, while others will, in tandem
with adjustments to the Group’s business strategy, shift to a
distributor focus on the sale of general IT products, instead of
providing one-stop supply chain consultancy and execution
services to the hi-tech industries. In order to provide a more
appropriate presentation for the operating segment information,
the Group reclassified the results of the Fulfillment business (FA
business) from the “Supply Chain Services” segment into the
“Distribution” segment and restated the related results of the
comparative financial year.

Segment assets exclude available-for-sale investments, deferred
tax assets, derivative financial instruments, cash and cash
equivalents and other unallocated corporate assets as these
assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude tax payable, bond payables and other
unallocated corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed
on a group basis.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 4. RBEDBEHE(E)

The following tables present revenue, profit and certain asset, TREJINAGEEEHE_TZ—FR_T——F=
liability and expenditure information for the Group’s operating A=+t—HBLEFELE27H 2B A - &5FkET
segments for the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011. BE BERBRAEH -
Distribution Systems Supply Chain Services Services Consolidated
P Rig HEERE R Fa
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011

S®--§ ~F % “®--§ “F % -§--§ -~ —F -§-2f ~T & -g-=f -F &
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
BEFT  BETT  BEFL EETL  BEFL  BETL  BEFL BT EEFL  EETI

(Restated) (Restated)
(231) (E51)
Segment revenue: WA
Sales to external customers HETHMNEP 37,515,266 32,252,958 17,486,602 13,823,493 7,425,867 4,685705 7,891,632 6,041,618 70,319,367 56,803,774
Segment gross profit SWEFH 1,765,272 1,337,711 1,742,789 1,346,195 505082 259,326 1,292,748 968754 5,305,891 3,911,986
Segment results FBEER 733,791 512,669 856,518 599,871 140,763 56,971 260,205 228,882 1,991,277 1,398,393
Interest income, unallocated revenue FIBWA - k5 EK
and gains ARz 355,220 303,677
Unallocated expenses APERX (401,358)  (240,426)
Finance costs BEKA (335,388) (229,125
Share of profits and losses of: EBETHRRZEH
RER:
Jointly-controlled entities R E - — - — - — (3,590) (1) (3,590) ({0}
Associates 2N = = - = - = 47,005 32,333 47,005 32,333
Profit before tax B Bt 0 A 1,653,166 1,264,841
Income tax expense REHER (314,478)  (208,502)
Profit for the year REE g A 1,338,688 1,056,339
Assets and liabilities AERER
Segment assets AHEE 6,732,898 5,614,209 5,566,265 4,333,067 1,392,132 725519 5,527,259 3,685,272 19,218,554 14,358,067
Investments in jointly-controlled REREH %
entities ZRE - = - = - = 33,224 33,322 33,224 33,322
Investments in associates REERRAZRE - - - — - - 780,739 675,337 780,739 675,337
Unallocated assets APBEE 6,789,266 4,878,849
Total assets BEE 26,821,783 19,945,575
Segment liabilities FHEE 5,593,018 5045401 4,340,869 3,243,947 1,025,249 635,392 4711182 2,907,702 15,670,318 11,832,442
Unallocated liabilities RAHBER 3,628,038 1,542,300
Total liabilities BEE 19,298,356 13,374,742
Other segment information: Hitn 5 &K
Depreciation of property, plant VESY ST
and equipment ZiE 4,908 7,435 17,044 15,586 9,316 5,479 69,159 42,293 100,427 70,793
Unallocated amounts APBEH 37,860 40,770
138,287 111,563
Amortisation of intangible assets EREEBH - — - — - — 2,01 1,681 2,01 1,681
Amortisation of prepaid land premiums BANLHEE#H
— Unallocated —APH 621 540
Capital expenditure BARRX 4,531 3,284 29,421 19,652 36,733 13,158 59,766 54,734 130,451 90,828
Unallocated amounts ROBE@E 603,339 101,174
733,790 192,002
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) of trade ERESRTAE
receivables (RERE) (13,940) 5,963 4,194 33,019 38,762 20,089 (9,502) 8,351 19,514 67,422
Provisions for/(reversal of provisions) and REGFEEE/
write-off of obsolete inventories (B ERE) 75,598 19,651 (4,353) 14,158 4,994 5,306 6,530 4,176 82,769 43,291
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)
Geographical information

Since over 90% of the Group’s revenue from external customers
is generated in the Mainland of the PRC (“Mainland China”) and
over 90% of the non-current assets of the Group (except for
interests in associates) are located in Mainland China, no
geographic information is presented.

Information about a major customer

During the years ended 31 March 2012 and 2011, none of the
Group's revenue was derived from transactions with a single
external customer amounting to 10% or more of the Group's
revenue.
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REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5.

Revenue, which is also the Group's turnover, represents the net
invoiced value of goods sold and services rendered to customers,
net of business tax and government surcharges, and after
allowances for goods returned and trade discounts.

WA~ H U\ R W B

WATRGAEE 2 ZXE  EAEFPHERR R
RERBZEZEHREEVRLRFHRE - U
MREEBEZ M) -

WA~ B AR ez 2T

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

Group
FEE
2012 2011
—E—-=f —E——4F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
ok BETFIT BB TFor
Other income Hip g A
Government grants? I 4 BE 96,451 82,429
Bank interest income |ITF B WA 58,287 17,792
Imputed interest income on other HMEWHREELEZ
receivables HEFEKA 31,680 20,142
Gross rental income A WA 32,558 33,779
Dividend income from available-for-sale AREEZRE 2R BEKA
investments 37 10,912
Others HApb 33,240 42,461
252,253 207,515
Gains W =
Fair value gain on investment properties KEMEZRAFEAERKSE 16 30,391 44,265
Fair value gain on an available-for-sale AHEHEZREZRATFEE
investment (transfer from equity on W (ERe HEER)
disposal) - 13,622
Gain on derivative financial instruments mEemIAEK= 181,922 144,703
Gain on disposal of an available-for-sale PE—BAfEEzREZ
investment g 2= - 6,563
Foreign exchange differences, net INEEVFE R 285,563 229,540
Others HA 5,041 456
502,917 439,149
755,170 646,664
t Various government grants have been received for the sale of self- @ AEEERBEEPEREHHIRATZBITHRERMG -

developed software products approved by the tax authority in the PRC,
the development of software products in Mainland China, and the
investments in specific provinces in Mainland China. There are no
unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.
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6. TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES

An analysis of total operating expenses by nature is as follows:

BEBHAHE
REHEHSZEERAAESTOT

Group
AEE
2012 2011
—E—-Cf —T——F
HK$000 HK$'000
BEFIT B F T
Selling expenses HEEHR 382,498 305,803
Promotion and advertising expenses HEERSEER 253,922 173,167
Staff costs included in operating expenses %R &&E B FH 2 8 T KA
(including directors’ remuneration (BEEFEH2
(note 9)) (K7 7£9)) 2,124,642 1,613,311
Other expenses Efh & A 1,354,860 1,104,725
4,115,922 3,097,006
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX 7. B& i gy itz F1
The Group’'s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ REEBZGBAENE&HE GEA) -
(crediting):
2012 2011
—E—-% —T——F
Notes HK$000 HK$'000
K i# BT IT BT T
Cost of inventories sold EHFEKRA 63,520,011 51,527,231
Auditors’ remuneration = E D B & 5,150 4,716
Depreciation e 15 138,287 111,563
Amortisation of prepaid land premiums A i S HE Y 17 621 540
Research and development costs i 75 & f 3 A AR 293,137 244,990
Amortisation of intangible assets* EEEE#E 19 2,011 1,681
Minimum lease payments under operating i MEBFr HELLHEH S
leases in respect of land and buildings 144,931 113,015
Provisions for and write-off of obsolete PREFE R HRME
inventories* 82,769 43,291
Impairment of trade receivables* fEW B 5 R FORE* 29 19,514 67,422
Write-off/(reversal of write-off) of other E ftb, JE Ui X IB I 8
receivables* (M sy B m) * (2,439) 2,411
Loss on disposal of items of property, LEME BMEMXRBZER
plant and equipment 8,288 4,424
Employee benefits expense (including EERAMAZ (BEEEWE
directors’ remuneration (note 9)): (1 7£9))
Wages and salaries TERE < 2,061,086 1,542,940
Share-based compensation VA RR 19 X ~F 2 B & 90,518 5,371
Pension scheme contributions** fn g N AR K 165,170 115,318
Other benefits H fth 18 F 361,554 253,910
2,678,328 1,917,539
Direct operating expenses (including ARDESHREMENEESE
repairs and maintenance) arising on EERA(BREESNRE)
rental-earning investment properties 9,628 9,207
Rental income on investment properties HEMFE 2B AR EE % @
less direct operating expenses of B A&7 9,628,000 T (=
HK$9,628,000 (2011: HK$9,207,000) —4F : 7 ¥9,207,0007T) (22,930) (24,572)
Foreign exchange differences, net S BE = B8 (285,563) (229,540)
@ The amortisation of intangible assets, the provisions for and write-off of @ B EESE REFTEBREBERME EBRESHIK

OB (B R H b 8 UK E S, (RS BB B AT A £R
B BERPZ[EMEEERFEIA -

obsolete inventories, the impairment of trade receivables and the write-
off/(reversal of write-off) of other receivables are included in “Other
operating expenses, net” in the consolidated income statement.

RZF-——F=RA=+—B AEEALEEARA M
WA REE 2 RS & R 2 BORME (=T —
—F &)

*x At 31 March 2012, the Group had no material forfeited contributions **
available to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future
years (2011: Nil).
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8. FINANCE COSTS LY=o %3
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: BEKAZDMAT :
Group
AEE
2012 2011
—E—-Cf —T——F
HK$000 HK$'000
BEFIT B F T
Interest on bank borrowings IRITE KA B 197,834 82,018
Interest on a bond payable FEREHF B 1,883 11,234
Interest on discounted bills EEEEERNE 135,671 135,873
335,388 229,125
9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION EEME

Directors’ remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange

REEEBREXIMAERAA(KBRMA)ES L
AR B (TEm AR B ) R BB R EME G F16116 5K 55

of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing RAFEERZEESHES LT :
Rules”) and Section 161 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
is as follows:
Group
X5KHE
2012 2011
—E—-—%f —E——%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETF T BT T
Fees e 1,277 600
Other emoluments: HEm g :
Salaries, allowances and benefits in Fe EUHREYRERF
kind 7,856 8,228
Performance related bonuses KRB 2L 3,590 29,478
Share-based compensation (note) ARR 9 214 2 B & (47 aE) 10,220 625
Pension scheme contributions BRIRSFTEIHR 74 68
21,740 38,399
23,017 38,999
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9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued) 9. EEMN&£(E)

(a) Independent non-executive directors (a) BIAFEHITESE
The fees paid to independent non-executive directors RAFEANEINTFEILIENTEEZHR
during the year were as follows: 20T :
2012 2011
e —E——F
HK$000 HK$'000
EBETIT BT T
Mr. HU Zhaoguang B PR BE St A 263 150
Mr. WONG Man Chung, Francis BXCORGEAE 263 150
Ms. NI Hong (Hope)' {52 4T /N 48" 263 75
Mr. ONG Ka Lueng, Peter' EFRELAE 263 75
Professor WU Jinglian2 R - 75
Mr. KWAN Ming Heung, Peter? KWAN Ming Heung, Peter 4t 42 - 75
1,052 600
1 Appointed on 29 September 2010 L RZZE—ZTFALAZTHLBEZHE
2 Retired on 29 September 2010 2 R=ZZE—ZTFhLA=+ILBEME
There were no other emoluments payable to the RAFEALESZF FEBLIERNTESF
independent non-executive directors during the year (2011: AEMME(ZTE——F: &) -
Nil).
(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) RITEERIIEHITES
Salaries,
allowances Performance Pension
and benefits related Share-based scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses compensation contributions remuneration
e
BER RIZHEE LA B% 1 B
we HEMET ZTE4 Xtz Bk REEN Bl & 485
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000
BT BT BT BT BT BT
(Note)
(Kiat)
2012 —E—-F
Executive directors: WMITESE
Mr. GUO Wei PR E — 5,230 2,383 6,800 37 14,450
Mr. LIN Yang W5 5k & - 2,626 1,207 3,420 37 7,290
— 7,856 3,590 10,220 74 21,742

Non-executive director: FEFITE = :
Mr. Andrew Y. YAN B k% & 225 - - - - 225

225 7,856 3,590 10,220 74 21,965
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i

9. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION (continued)

9. EEM&@&)

(b) Executive directors and non-executive directors (b) HBRITEERFHRITEE(E)
(continued)
Salaries,
allowances Performance Pension
and benefits related Share-based scheme Total
Fees in kind bonuses compensation  contributions  remuneration
e
B R e UGS RKEEE
ik EYRFN HEZEL ZH& R <
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT EEFT B TFT BT T BT BT
(Note)
(H13%)
2011 —E——
Executive directors: MITESE
Mr. GUO Wei FRITE = 5,510 21,375 306 34 27,225
Mr. LIN Yang WGk E — 2,718 8,103 319 34 11,174
— 8,228 29,478 625 68 38,399
Non-executive directors: 3E# 1T E = :
Mr. Andrew Y. YAN B ok %k & — — — — — —
Mr. TANG Xudong' BER LA — — — — — —
Mr. SHENG Gang' B Wl 5 A& — — — — — —
Mr. QIU Zhongwei' B AP R S AR — — — — — —
— 8,228 29,478 625 68 38,399

U Retired on 29 September 2010

There was no arrangement under which a director waived
or agreed to waive any remuneration during the year.

Note: During the year, certain directors were granted restricted share
units (“RSUs"), in respect of their services to the Group, under
the RSA scheme of the Company, further details of which are
set out in note 36(b) to the financial statements. The fair value

of such RSUs, which has been
statement over the vesting period,
date of grant and the amount
statements for the current year
directors’ remuneration disclosures.
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recognised in the income
was determined as at the
included in the financial
is included in the above

RZZ—ZTFhLhA=-THBRME

RAFERN EFWTEITZHEXRB K
BERMMEZ 2B -

RAEER  ETEFAREAASEREH
BR 5 i AR #5715 52 IR 1) AR 10 52 B 5t B %
ZBGIBEO(ZREBRND B P
15 858 Ut BE 75 3R K HY 5E36(b) © % F X IR
Bz A FEEDIREHARER  YER
BEAANERSRARER Mt ARFES
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10.

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included two
(2011: two) directors, details of whose remuneration are set out
in note 9 above. Details of the remuneration of the remaining
three (2011: three) non-director, highest paid employees for the

10. AfiREHFMES

RAFERAZAUGREFMEERERA(ZT
——F MB)EF REZHMSFRHR LXMW
HON  AEERT=R(CE——F =ZR)RS
FHFEESTERECMESHFBI AL T

year are as follows:

Group

FEE
2012 2011
—F—-_f —E——%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETFIT BB TFor
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind & - 285 & B ¥ & 7 3,128 3,081
Performance related bonuses FIRAE 2 A 1,299 9,010
Share-based compensation (note) ARRMD A 2 & (47 22) 13,680 895
Pension scheme contributions RIRE 5B 104 100
18,211 13,086

The number of non-director,
remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

highest paid employees whose

ReFMIEEREZABRMESHEENT

Number of employees

Nil to HK$2,000,000

HK$2,000,001
HK$2,500,001
HK$3,000,001
HK$3,500,001
HK$4,000,001
HK$4,500,001
HK$5,000,001
HK$5,500,001
HK$6,500,001
HK$6,000,001
HK$7,000,001

to HK$2,500,000
to HK$3,000,000
to HK$3,500,000
to HK$4,000,000
to HK$4,500,000
to HK$5,000,000
to HK$5,500,000
to HK$6,000,000
to HK$6,000,000
to HK$6,500,000
to HK$7,500,000

T E B #2,000,0007T

7 12,000,001 Z 7 #2,5600,0007T
75 #2,5600,001 7T 2 7 #3,000,0007T
7 #3,000,0017T = 76 #3,500,0007T
7 %£3,600,0017T & 7 4,000,000 7T
7 #4,000,0017T = 76 %4,500,0007T
78 1£4,500,0017T & 7 5,000,000
7 15,000,001 7T = 7 # 5,500,000
75 5,500,001 2 7 # 6,000,000
7 #6,000,0017T & 75 #6,500,0007C
75 6,500,001 T £ 7 #7,000,000 7T
7 #7,000,0017T & 75 #7,5600,0007T

EE AH
2012 2011
e —E——F
- 1
- 1
1 —
1 —
1 1
3 3

Note: During the vyear, certain non-director, highest paid employees were
granted RSUs, in respect of their services to the Group, under the RSA
scheme of the Company, further details of which are set out in note
36(b) to the financial statements. The fair value of such RSUs, which
has been recognised in the income statement over the vesting period,
was determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in the
financial statements for the current year is included in the above non-
director, highest paid employees’ remuneration disclosures.

Hrit: RAFER ETESFMNIEFEEARSERA
S ER YIRS AR R A QR X RGBT 3
BEZWEIRND  BHE - TFERR LM BHRRM
F36(b) c REXMREIBNZAFEETIR KL A B
B YERFBHAEKRSZRABER - Mat AR
FEMBHRRZEFERALARSFHNIFEESE
EBMEAERSD -
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1.

—E——§=RA=+—H

INCOME TAX EXPENSE 1. FiISBER
2012 2011
—F—C-f —T——F
HK$000 HK$000
B EFIT B For
Group: REE:
Current — Hong Kong REE — BB 2,963 —
Current — PRC REF —F 302,112 197,859
Deferred (note 26) iR 3 (K7 7£26) 9,403 10,643
Total tax charge for the year REEMBEZHAEG 314,478 208,502
(a)  During the year ended 31 March 2012, Hong Kong profits @) MREBE-Z——F=A=T—HIEFERN "
tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5% on the BEEMERDIREBEBEA 2B ERM
estimated assessable profits arising in Hong Kong. No i A IR165% M EHE - AR BB E
provision for Hong Kong profits tax had been made for the ARRAHEEEBSELERTAERTESN - =
Hong Kong subsidiaries for the year ended 31 March 2011 N EmAEEENBARRREBEEZ——
as the Hong Kong subsidiaries had no estimated FZA=T—"RHLFEEEFNERELE
assessable profits arising in Hong Kong. & o
(o)  PRC corporate income tax represents tax charged on the (b) FREDEMERERTRRERREEES 2
estimated assessable profits arising in Mainland China. In FE SR B m A BT U 2 B IE o PR T AR BT
general, the PRC subsidiaries of the Group are subject to BARIZAMBEEIN  AKEE 2B K
the PRC corporate income tax rate of 25% except for BAR —MRAEHBMNPREACEMEGH 2B =X
certain PRC subsidiaries which are entitled to preferential 7325% ©
tax rates.
(c) The share of tax charge attributable to jointly-controlled ©) EHERZHEEZRBEBIELHNBE

entities of approximately HK$468,000 (2011: HK$473,000)
and the share of tax charge attributable to associates of
approximately HK$16,645,000 (2011: HK$10,377,000) are
included in “Share of profits and losses of jointly-controlled
entities” and “Share of profits and losses of associates”,
respectively, in the consolidated income statement.
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468,0007C (=& — — 4 : 5 ¥473,0007T) &
Bih i N ) 2 B T8 32 49 7 516,645,000 (=
T — — 4 : 5 ¥10,377,0007T) * 22 Bl A
REEAERBRPZIEEERZEH X2
s ) B 548 | I [ Bt &8 A A 2 i FI & B 48
W °



11.

12.

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to the profit before
tax at the statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the
Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the
tax expense at the effective tax rates, and a reconciliation of the
applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax rates) to the effective tax
rates, are as follows:

11.

FEsiER (&)

REBEARBRARMOENBRBEAERERER 2
EEBEEEBRBANG N 2B IR H - EBIRER
BEGFEZHIA S B E R - A RE BB E DA
FEBR) BB ERERMAT :

2012 2011
—E——f —ET——%F
HK$'000 % HK$'000 %

Group FEE BETFT A EXTT B
Profit before tax R 5 Al & Al 1,653,166 1,264,841
Tax at the applicable tax rate RERBEGTE 2MIE 413,292 25.0 316,210 25.0
Lower tax rates for specific provinces  FFE &Mk F KBS T2

or local authority BAR %K (203,304) (12.3)  (111,965) (8.9)
Profits and losses attributable to jointly- £ [l 12 i /b % R B4 A7 2

controlled entities and associates FEAE & A & 518 971 0.1 (8,080) (0.6)
Tax effect of unused tax losses not RERZARBAREBEEBHE 2

recognised R e 29,370 1.8 35,522 2.8
Income not subject to tax BARB ZWA (38,118) (2.3) (76,342) (6.0)
Expenses not deductible for tax R ed 3 179,366 10.8 86,338 6.8
Tax losses utilised from previous FABGEHMZHIEBEREIE

periods (67,099) (4.1) (33,181) (2.6)
Tax charge at the Group's effective rate ZAEBERHR R E 2 H B H 314,478 19.0 208,502 16.5
PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS OF 12. B 22 5] I 5 B 15 i 7

THE PARENT

The consolidated profit attributable to equity holders of the
parent for the year ended 31 March 2012 includes a loss of
approximately HK$67,437,000 (2011: HK$67,274,000), which was
arrived at after deducting dividend income received from a
subsidiary and other intercompany income totalling approximately
HK$466,065,000 (2011: HK$383,215,000) from the Company's
profit of approximately HK$398,628,000 (2011: HK$315,941,000),
that has been dealt with in the financial statements of the
Company (note 37(b)).

HAARRRMERERNBE_T——F=A=1
—BLEFENBRARBREREZAERN  £HAKX
N B ) 4 A 78 #398,628,000 (& — — 4 ¢
7 #6315,941,0007T) F R 2R B W B A 7 ik B WK
AR EAFBA T A 5T 497 %466,065,0007T (=
T — — 4 : #5%383,215,00070) & - BEN A B
#67,437,0007T (== — — 4 : & #67,274,0007T)
(Bt 5E37(b)) °
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13.

14.

DIVIDENDS 13. &2
2012 2011
—F—C-f —T——F
HK$000 HK$'000
B EFIT B For
Proposed final dividend — 39.80 HK cents #tRAHIKE —Z=A=+—HH
(2011: 32.25 HK cents) per ordinary BB TR A § % A% 39.80 % 1l
share based on issued share capital at (ZZ——4F:32.25/81l)
31 March 434,908 351,916
Less: Dividend for shares held for the B ZREIRDEEBAER=A=1+—8
RSA Scheme at 31 March BT 5 AR 15 89 AR 2 (9,922) =
424,986 351,916

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the
approval of the Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of basic earnings per share amount is based on
the profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of
the parent of approximately HK$1,244,813,000 (2011:
HK$1,005,385,000), and the weighted average of 1,070,204,311
(2011: 1,045,911,614) ordinary shares in issue less shares held
under the RSA Scheme during the year.

The calculation of diluted earnings per share amount for the year
ended 31 March 2012 is based on the profit for the year ended
31 March 2012 attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
parent of approximately HK$1,244,813,000 (2011:
HK$1,005,385,000) and the weighted average of 1,077,348,072
(2011: 1,050,205,872) ordinary shares, which represented
1,070,204,311 (2011: 1,045,911,614) ordinary shares in issue
during the year ended 31 March 2012, as used in the basic
earnings per share calculation, and the weighted average of
7,143,761 (2011: 4,294,258) ordinary shares assumed to have
been issued at no consideration on the deemed exercise of all
dilutive potential ordinary shares relating to the Group's share-
based incentive schemes into ordinary shares.
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14.

AEERRRAAREBALARBDBRENSERT
ZBRRBERE LHE -

BABEERRKRRELESRER

EXAGRAFNDEAFE 2B ARE BB EE
18 % M 4975 #61,244,813,000c (T — —F : B
1,005,385,0007T) ' A R RAAFE ANE 1T L}

&Rk 5 BR 1 A% 10 22 [Bh 51 &1 P #5 A% (5 2 0 4 T 15 &
1,070,204,311 % (ZZF — — 4 : 1,045,911,6148% ) 5t

st

= o

HE-_Z——#=-A=1+-BHLFEZ2EHEER
B NERBEE_E——F=A=+—HIFE
2 B R aE] B AR AR R A & B 4975 %61,244,813,000
T (=Z — — 4 : /& ¥1,005,385,0007T) & f0 # F
5 £11,077,348,072f% (==& — — £ : 1,050,205,872
BIEBBAE - WROBREAEAFTEELS
BRENOARBE-_E——F=A=+—HILEE
N2 BEITERBK 21,070,204, 311K (ZF——4F :
1,045,911,6148%) - LA R B B A& B 2 IR 2B 5t
BB EEEENT AR RAEITEL
BEABEEERFITEBER 2 M T E7,143,761
B (ZZF——45:4,294,2580%) 2 #70 o



15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15. Y% BER:R

Group A&
Leasehold Fixtures
land and Leasehold and office Motor Construction
buildings improvements equipment vehicles in progress Total
HELTHR RER
& HERE HAERE RE EEIR @zt
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BETFIT BEFT BETFT AEETT BEFT ABETT
31 March 2012 —F—-%
=A=+—H
At 31 March 2011 and R-ZZ——%F
1 April 2011: =A=+—HAKk
—F——%mA—HB:
Cost AR E 246,748 109,672 830,180 37,217 59,795 1,283,612
Accumulated depreciation 2t E (24,638) (82,858)  (458,733) (19,571) - (585,800)
Net carrying amount R EF B 222,110 26,814 371,447 17,646 59,795 697,812
At 1 April 2011, net of RZE——FMA—H -
accumulated depreciation MR BT E 222,110 26,814 371,447 17,646 59,795 697,812
Additions NE 327,058 23,720 126,385 13,860 167,771 658,794
Disposals funk=S — (129) (8,584) (672) (2,805) (12,190)
Transfers from construction HEEERZIRR
in progress — 6,183 13,494 — (19,677) —
Depreciation provided during REEFE
the year (9,871) (15,551) (108,291) (4,574) — (138,287)
Exchange realignment I 5, A & 13,746 965 12,209 522 2,904 30,346
At 31 March 2012, net of NRZE——F
accumulated depreciation =A=+—8"
ks R E 553,043 42,002 406,660 26,782 207,988 1,236,475
At 31 March 2012: RZT—=F
=A=+—8:
Cost A AE 588,537 140,623 908,532 48,175 207,988 1,893,855
Accumulated depreciation E i (35,494) (98,621) (501,872) (21,393) — (657,380)
Net carrying amount R % & 553,043 42,002 406,660 26,782 207,988 1,236,475
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 15. ¥ BERRIE(E)
Group (continued) AEE(E)
Leasehold Fixtures and
land and Leasehold office Motor Construction

buildings improvements  equipment vehicles in progress Total
FE L& KEBER

BF HEEE BAERE AE EEIR 4t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BHTF T EBEFT BETFT EETrT EETFT BETFT

31 March 2011 —EF——%5
=A=+—H
1 April 2010: R-ZE—ZTFWMA—A:
Cost B A ME 174,724 87,099 478,397 29,806 8,071 778,097
Accumulated depreciation 25 E (18,862) (68,051) (299,093) (17,831) — (403,837)
Net carrying amount R & F E 155,862 19,048 179,304 11,975 8,071 374,260
At 1 April 2010, net of RZZT—ZFMA—H -
accumulated depreciation MK E 155,862 19,048 179,304 11,975 8,071 374,260
Additions NE = 14,230 83,461 8,218 62,033 167,942
Acquisition of subsidiaries e BE % 8 N B A 7
(note 38) (417t 38) — 1,402 168,139 567 11,399 181,507
Disposals e — (125) (4,592) (120) — (4,837)
Transfers from investment EHEAREME
properties 63,230 5,252 — — — 68,482
Transfers from construction in EHEEERIRE
progress — 6,463 16,407 — (22,870) —
Depreciation provided during ANEEWE
the year (4,827) (20,361) (82,848) (3,627) — (111,563)
Exchange realignment A 7,845 905 11,576 533 1,162 22,021
At 31 March 2011, net of R-T——4F
accumulated depreciation =A=+—8"
ks 2T E 222,110 26,814 371,447 17,646 59,795 697,812
At 31 March 2011: R-ZZE——%F
ZA=+—8:
Cost KA E 246,748 109,672 830,180 37,217 59,795 1,283,612
Accumulated depreciation R E (24,638) (82,858) (458,733) (19,571) — (585,800)
Net carrying amount R EDF E 222,110 26,814 371,447 17,646 B9, 7€ 697,812
The Group's leasehold land and buildings are situated in Mainland RNREBZHEE L RIEFHA R AR ARE - 1A
China and are held under medium term leases. RHEAFR 43 o
At 31 March 2012, certain of the Group's property, plant and R-E——F=HF=+—H AEEE@FELY
equipment with net carrying amount of approximately 7 #5653 079,000 T (= & — — 4 : # #26,440,000
HK$53,079,000 (2011: HK$26,440,000) were pledged to secure TIZETFTYE BERZIESTFUIER  £5
certain bank loans granted to the Group (note 33). AREBMEESETFHERITERZER(ME33)
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 15. Y% - BERREE)

Company |
Leasehold Office
improvements equipment Total
HERE WAERE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
EEFIT EEFIT EBETFIT
31 March 2012 —E—-f$=ZHA=+—H
At 31 March 2011 and 1 April 2011: R=ZT——F=A=+—H
ERZZF——FMNA—QH:
Cost B AN B 2,990 1,227 4,217
Accumulated depreciation i (2,973) (972) (3,945)
Net carrying amount iR M F B 17 255 272

At 1 April 2011, net of accumulated R=ZZF——FMA—A8 -

depreciation Mk RETITE 17 255 272
Additions NE - 128 128
Disposal ArR== — (7) (7)
Depreciation provided during the year ~ AFEiTE (17) (104) (121)

At 31 March 2012, net of accumulated WR-ZE——F=HA=+—H "

depreciation Mk RETITE - 272 272
At 31 March 2012: R=FE——-—F=A=+—8:

Cost NI 2,990 1,187 4177

Accumulated depreciation MR RFAHE (2,990) (915) (3,905)

Net carrying amount R EF B - 272 272
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15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

15. Y¥ - BERREE)

Company (continued) AANE (48)
Leasehold Office Motor
improvements equipment vehicles Total
HERE HAEHRME "B @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
BT T BT T BT T BB For
31 March 2011 —¥——F=H=+—H
1 April 2010: R-ZE—TEmMA—8:
Cost A B 2,990 1,249 985 5,224
Accumulated depreciation 2T & (2,922) (958) (985) (4,865)
Net carrying amount iR EFE 68 291 — 359
At 1 April 2010, net of accumulated RZZT—-—ZTFWMA—AH "
depreciation MR R E 68 291 — 359
Additions NE — 67 — 67
Depreciation provided during the year ~ AFE T E (51) (103) — (154)
At 31 March 2011, net of accumulated WR—-ZT——4
depreciation =—A=+—8"
MR E 17 255 — 272
At 31 March 2011: R-ZE——F
=H=+—8:
Cost BB 2,990 1,227 — 4,217
Accumulated depreciation B2 E (2,973) (972) — (3,945)
Net carrying amount R % B 17 255 — 272
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. EYE

Group
AEH
2012 2011
—E-C-F —T——F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BEFT B For
Carrying amount at 1 April RMEA—BZIEAEE 265,581 285,472
Net gain from a fair value adjustment & A F(EEAZE 2 F W25
(note 5) (1 7#5) 30,391 44,265
Transfer to owner-occupied property/ HEZORYME BN LTHES
prepaid land premium - (74,748)
Exchange realignment & N8 9,033 10,592
Carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=1+—HZiE@EE 305,005 265,581
The Group's investment properties are situated in Mainland China REBZEEMEAMA P B REE - I AR HIFE
and are held under medium term leases. FOES SN
The Group's investment properties were revalued on 31 March R-ZZE——F=ZA=+—H XAEEREMEH
2012 by Vigers Appraisal & Consulting Limited, independent BUSESCERGEMBRTEETEBEEAR
professionally qualified valuers, at approximately HK$305,005,000 AR AFEMGERATHEEEEHOBE
on an open market, existing use basis. The investment properties 305,005,000 - ZEREMERBLEEHLH L
are leased to third parties under operating leases, further HMTE=F #E—FTFBEUEHRN LT BFRKRW
summary details of which are included in note 40(a) to the F£40(a) °

financial statements.

Further particulars of the Group's investment properties as at 31 RZE—Z—F=A=+—H AEEKEYWHE
March 2012 are as follows: E—TEFBOT:
Attributable

interest of the
Location Use Tenure Group
h B Ri& £H AEBEEGER
Digital Technology Plaza, Office building Medium term lease 100%
No.9 Shangdijiu Street, PAKE FHERAE 49
Haidian District, Beijing,
The PRC
R R TERE
i R BR 9T 9%
IS B KBS
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17. PREPAID LAND PREMIUMS

17. BTt £

Group
*5E
2012 2011
i g 3 —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T B For
Carrying amount at 1 April RMEA—BZIEEE 86,661 54,272
Additions NE 74,996 24,060
Transfers from investment properties EHRERERENE - 6,266
Amortisation during the year N S S (621) (540)
Exchange realignment & 38 & 3,474 2,603
Carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=+—HZiE@EE 164,510 86,661
Current portion included in prepayments, 7 2205 & & 72 J8 1+ 218 -
deposits and other receivables =& K& H M e IR (1,295) (1,252)
Non-current portion IE 7 B 2B 163,215 85,409
The Group's leasehold lands are situated in Mainland China and AREBZHE L MBHMNRPEKRE - AR EHE

are held under medium term leases.

At 31 March 2012, a certificate of land use right with respect to
one parcel of the Group's leasehold land situated in Mainland
China with an aggregate net carrying amount of HK$40,903,000
(2011: HK$22,462,000) had not been issued by the relevant
government authorities.

Digital China Holdings Limited Annual Report 2011/12
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18. GOODWILL 18. W&

The amount of goodwill capitalised as an asset, arising from the AREZHNBARELAMEAGEECAE S
acquisition of subsidiaries, was as follows: BT :
Group
AEE
2012 2011
—E——% —T——F
HK$’000 HK$'000
B FIT B F T
At 1 April: RMEA—R:
Cost B A B 276,331 47,730
Accumulated impairment 2R E (47,730) (47,730)
Net carrying amount R EDF B 228,601 —
Cost at 1 April, net of accumulated RMWB—HZKAE -
impairment Mk REHRE 228,601 —
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 38) Uk B 2 8 Bt /8 & B (Y 2£.38) - 223,252
Exchange realignment FE 5, 58 & 7,776 5,349
Net carrying amount at 31 March R=ZA=+—RHZiEEFE 236,377 228,601
At 31 March: R=ZA=+—8:
Cost AN B 284,107 276,331
Accumulated impairment 2EREE (47,730) (47,730)
Net carrying amount IR EDF E 236,377 228,601
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18.

—E——§=RA=+—H

GOODWILL (continued)
Impairment testing of goodwill

Goodwill acquired through business combinations has been
allocated to the industry application software and solutions cash-
generating unit, which is under the Services segment, for
impairment testing.

The recoverable amount of the industry application software and
solutions cash-generating unit is determined based on a value in
use calculation using cash flow projections based on financial
budgets covering a five-year period approved by senior
management. The discount rate applied to cash flow projections
is 6%.

Key assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the
industry application software and solutions cash-generating unit.

The following describes each key assumption on which
management has based its cash flow projections to undertake
impairment testing of goodwvill:

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the
value assigned to the budgeted gross margin is the gross
margins achieved in the year immediately before the budget year.

Discount rate — The discount rate used is before tax and reflects
specific risks relating to the cash-generating unit.

Digital China Holdings Limited Annual Report2011/12
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& ()
38 A o

BREBAFRBLHBE S RITERBRMR
BANTRREELBEMN  IhRARB S - AEST
AR R -

TERAEMEBASTRESELEM 27 K [E
EBENREEREEEE MEMBEEDEBRE
SREEBEHEZAFHUBRERNZRER
EBE-RARSREMERZHBRER6% °

AHETEEREMRBATRREELABM 2&
REERSEHEZRR °

TXHEAEEERETHERENABARS
MEMKBEZEREERR:

BHENE — BEENXBELEEEERE
EREFER—BAFEMRBIENE -

HMHEF — MERZMRRBBEVAMEIRE A
RRBBEMTS R 25 ERR -



19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS 19. BREEE

Group b
Deferred
Patents and development Systems
licences costs software Total
BEHER iR 3E A 5%
FF oI R 4 A& RGBT K @t
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$000

EBETFIT EBETIT EBETFIT EBETFIT

31 March 2012 —F—-—#=A=+—H
At 1 April 2011: RZE——FMA—A:
Cost B AN ME 6,457 2,136 35,181 43,774
Accumulated amortisation and R #HRRE
impairment (4,985) (169) (35,181) (40,335)
Net carrying amount R EF E 1,472 1,967 - 3,439
Cost at 1 April 2011, net of RZTE——FMA—HBZ
accumulated amortisation and BRANME o H0E 25
impairment B RORE 1,472 1,967 - 3,439
Additions NE - 2,895 109 3,004
Amortisation provided during AN E B
the year (1,506) (502) (3) (2,011)
Exchange realignments PE 5 B 34 125 - 159
At 31 March 2012 RZTE——F=A=+—H - 4,485 106 4,591
At 31 March 2012: RZE——F=A=+—H:
Cost B AE 6,457 5,031 35,290 46,778
Accumulated amortisation and RETEE G ROBE
impairment (6,457) (546) (35,184) (42,187)
Net carrying amount IR T F B - 4,485 106 4,591

2011/12% % #MNBIBZRARAT 141



142

Notes to Financial Statements B4 ¥ 3R 3 Mt 5t

31 March 2012 =ZE—=F=A=+—H

19. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 19. BREEGE)
Group (continued) AEE(E)
Deferred
Patents and development Systems
licences costs software Total
= #E & iR RE B 2%
5T A B B 7R B 5t
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
BT T B F T BT T BT T
31 March 2011 —E——%=A=+—H
At 1 April 2010: RZE—TFWMA—A:
Cost B AN E 6,457 — 35,181 41,638
Accumulated amortisation and R #EHERRE
impairment (3,635) = (35,181) (38,816)

Net carrying amount IR R E 2,822 — — 2,822
Cost at 1 April 2010, net of RZE—TFMA—RBZ

accumulated amortisation and KANE - R R E

impairment 8H RORE 2,822 — — 2,822
Acquisition of subsidiaries Uk B 2% e BT /B 2 A)

(note 38) (K7 #£38) — 2,136 — 2,136
Amortisation provided during the year 74 & # 4 (1,439) (242) — (1,681)
Exchange realignments bE 38 & 89 73 — 162
At 31 March 2011 RZZE——F=A=+—H 1,472 1,967 — 3,439
At 31 March 2011: R-—E——F=A=+—8:

Cost N 6,457 2,136 35,181 43,774

Accumulated amortisation and Rt # S RORE

impairment (4,985) (169) (35,181) (40,335)

Net carrying amount iR T F B 1,472 1,967 — 3,439
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20.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 20. RMIBATIZIEE
Company
XAT
2012 2011
—T-—=-F =Z=="%
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETFIT BT T
Unlisted shares, at cost LMD » RKAE 699,407 699,407
Capital contribution in respect of employee share- RHZNIEE 2
based compensation e EREE 142,675 65,504
842,082 764,911

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows:

Place of incorporation/
registration and

Nominal value of
issued and paid-up

TEWMBRARFBNOT :

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

Name operations capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
AATEIGREDS
ERTRMRE Rl

& HEMRI EEREEDES BAZHEE HE & TEER
Digital China (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands US$5,125 100 - Investment holding

REEBREES 5,125% 7T BB
Digital China Limited Hong Kong HK$2 — 100 Investment holding
BN R AR BE 72T 2=l
Digital China (China) Limited** Mainland China HK$1,000,000,000 — 100 Distribution of IT products
TN B (R B AR AR B K BE 7% #1,000,000,0007T 2 HITE &
Chengdu Digital China Limited** Mainland China HK$5,000,000 — 100 Distribution of IT products
P #B 48 N B A PR A Rl B OK R 7 #5,000,0007T 2 HITE @
Shenyang Digital China Limited** Mainland China HK$39,000,000 — 100 Distribution of IT products
7 5 48 M BRS A R A Al R K R 75 #39,000,0007T D HITE @
Shanghai Digital China Limited** Mainland China HK$30,000,000 — 100 Distribution of IT products
EEMNBBAERRR R OK R 7 #30,000,0007T D HITE S
Digital China (Shenzhen) Limited** Mainland China HK$12,000,000 — 100 Distribution of IT products

1M 2 HE ORI BR AR

hE AR

7% #12,000,0007T

2 #HITE @

2011/125 3% @ MBIBIERER D
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20.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Place of incorporation/
registration and

i

20.

Nominal value of
issued and

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

RMEBATZRE ()
TEMBARFEOT ()

Name operations paid-up capital Direct  Indirect Principal activities
AT EEHER
ERTRMRE H5E

1 MR B REEE KkAzEE =§: & ETEER
Xian Digital China Limited** Mainland China HK$10,000,000 — 100 Distribution of IT products
BARHMNEBEER QT B K R 75 %10,000,0007T DEHITE @
Navimentum Information System Ltd.** Mainland China HK$120,000,000 — 100 Distribution of IT products
EMB I EEREBRRAA K B 7 %120,000,0007C D #ITE @
Nanjing Digital China Limited+** Mainland China HK$3,000,000 - 100 Distribution of IT products
MRS MNEIEE R AR K R 7% #3,000,0007T D HITE @
Guangzhou Digital China Limited*~ Mainland China HK$12,000,000 — 100 Distribution of IT products
& )M 4% )N 2085 B R A E) - A K B 7 %12,000,0007T DEHITE @
Jinan Digital China Limited** Mainland China HK$6,000,000 — 100 Distribution of IT products
EREAMNEE R AR B K B 7 #6,000,0007T D HITE R
Digital China Marketing & Services Ltd. British Virgin Islands US$1 — 100 Investment holding

EEERMRHS 1€ 7T RE R
Digital China Technology Limited Hong Kong/Mainland China HK$1,000,000 — 100 Distribution of IT products
NS R R ERGR AR BB/ RBEKE 7 #1,000,0007T DEHITE @
Digital China (HK) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 — 100 Distribution of IT products
18 85 (BB AR AR BB 7 #10,0007T 2 #ITE @
E-Olympic International Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 — 100 Holding of trademarks

HBAEBRRES 17T A EER
Digital China Networks, Ltd. British Virgin Islands US$10,000,000 — 100 Investment holding
BN EEAR DA HEERRHS 10,000,000 7T & 2R
Digital China Networks (HK) Limited Hong Kong/Mainland China HK$2 - 100 Distribution of networking products
BMNEHBE(FE)ARRA B/ B A RE B2 DIHBERE R
Digital China (Shanghai) Mainland China HK$3,000,000 — 100 Development and distribution of

Networks Limited**

BMER (LB BRERAR!
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20.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Name

k=%

Place of incorporation/
registration and
operations

SR AL B AE R B E MBS

20. RHBABZIRE (&)

Nominal value of
issued and
paid-up capital

ERTRAR
kAZEHE

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company
Direct Indirect

AATEIGHEZ
=504
=% &

TEMBARFENT : (&)

Principal activities

EEEH

Digital China Networks (Beijing) Limited**

N BB R AR L) BR AR

Grace Glory Enterprises Limited

BREEXERAA

Beijing Digital China Limited*
R M BB H R A A

Beijing Digital China Supply Chain
Services Co., Ltd.*
RS MEFHERRBEERAA

Shenzhen Instant Logistics Co., Ltd.*
RINE R RE R AR

Digital China (Zhengzhou) Limited*
N B (BB M) B BR A A)

Talent Gain Developments Limited

Power Gateway Limited

Guangzhou Digital China Information
Technology Co., Ltd.**
BEM A M 2 5 SR R B R QA"

Mainland China
K BE

British Virgin Islands
HBARRES

Mainland China
B K B

Mainland China
AR K BE

Mainland China
K R

Mainland China
Y K B

British Virgin Islands
REEBARES

British Virgin Islands
EBEBREES

Mainland China
R B K B

HK$3,409,091
7 #63,409,0917T

Us$1
1% 7T

RMB1,000,000,000
A R #1,000,000,0007T

RMB10,000,000
A R #10,000,0007C

RMB50,000,000
A R #50,000,0007C

RMB5,100,000
A R %5,100,0007T

Us$1
1€ 7T

Us$100
1003 7T

US$50,000,000
50,000,000 7T

— 88

Development and distribution of
networking products
RERSHBEER

Investment holding

REER

Distribution of IT products
2 HITE @

Distribution of IT products

DEEITE &

Provision of logistics services

12 459 7 AR 75

Distribution of IT products
DEEITE S

Investment holding

BAEER

Investment holding

REER

Distribution of IT products
o HITE @
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20.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Place of incorporation/
registration and

i

20. RMBABSZIRE (&)

Nominal value of
issued and paid-up

ITEZMBARFBNT

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

(%)

Name operations capital Direct Indirect Principal activities
A2 E) FE 4G 28
ERTRMRE Bk
£ HEMAI B REEE BAZEE HiE & 3% ETEER
Beijing Digital China Si-Tech Information Mainland China RMB43,715,000 — 49.6* Research and development,
Technology Co., Ltd.* (“STQ") A B K B AR #43,715,0007C application and maintenance of
b RN S B F 5 SRR software products
BRAR(TR%E] BB E R
DA R 42 A R AR ' AR S
Hangzhou Digital China Limited** Mainland China HK$3,000,000 — 100 Distribution of IT products
U A8 M B ES B R R Al K B 7 %3,000,0007T DEHITE @
Digital China Software Limited** Mainland China US$6,000,000 = 100 Investment holding
NS RGBR AR R OK R 6,000,000 7T & 2R
Digital China Macao Commercial Macao MOP1,000,000 — 100 Distribution of IT products
Offshore Limited P! JE P9 #51,000,0007T 2 HITE @
BMNBERMIBEFEERBERAA
Fuzhou Digital China Company Limited** Mainland Chnia HK$10,000,000 — 100 Distribution of IT products
BN M BT H R DA R K BE 7 %10,000,0007T D HITE &
Changsha Digital China Company Mainland China HK$20,000,000 — 100 Distribution of IT products
Limited** A B K R 7 #520,000,0007T DHEITE @
P BINEE R R AT
Digital China (Hefei) Company Limited*# Mainland China HK$10,000,000 — 100 Distribution of IT products
1N B (AR AR A A B K B 7 #10,000,0007T D WITE @
Wise Source Investments Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 = 100 Investment holding
EBERRHES E RE R
Cellular Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 — 100 Investment holding
BRREBFRAA &8 BT (Ea- el
Digital China Jinxin Technology Co., Ltd.* Mainland China RMB60,060,000 = 60.98 Technology development and

NI S ERE D ER AT

146  Digital China Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2011/12

B AR

A R #60,060,0007T

promotion, technology
consultancy and services, and
computer systems services
M 5 2% B

B B R S
AR EERERRS



20.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

20. RHBABZIRE (&)

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries are as follows: (continued)

Place of incorporation/
registration and

Nominal value of
issued and paid-up

Percentage of
equity attributable
to the Company

TEMBARFENT : (&)

Name operations capital Direct Indirect Principal activities

AATEAGH L

EBTRME Ckals

&B M, B REEDE BAZEE =% & ETEER
Digital China Information Technology Mainland China RMB340,000,000 — 60.98 Systems integration services,
Service Co., Ltd.* B K R A K %340,000,0007T application software development,
MBS E S RERH AR AR maintenance and outsourcing,
(A& A [ 19 M 875 15 B 5T AR 75 consultancy and training services
BRAAE]) REMEKR - EREMMRE
RERINBIRTE - 7K R IE AR
Digital China Software (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 = 60.98 Investment holding
N EEE A (BVNER AR RBEBREES E REER
Digital China Advanced Systems Limited Hong Kong/Mainland China HK$300,000,000 — 60.98 Systems integration and
N BIEEK R R BRDA &5/ REKRE 75 #300,000,0007T distribution of IT products
EREKRRDHITER
Digital China Advanced Systems Service Mainland China RMB500,000,000 — 60.98 Systems integration,
Limited* B K B A K #500,000,0007T software development and
N R & KRB R QA maintenance services
EGEK BRHERERRERS
Shanghai Digital China Information Mainland China RMB10,000,000 — 60.98 Systems integration,
Technology Service Co., Ltd.* B K R A K %10,000,0007T software development and
Eg MBI S RMRE AR AR maintenance services
REEK  BMEFHERRERS
Digital China Financial Software Ltd.** Mainland China HK$100,000,000 = 60.98 Research and development,

HMNBBRERTEERA A B K BE 7 #100,000,0007T
+ The English names of these companies are direct transliterations of
their Chinese registered names.
A The Chinese names are the trade names but not the official names of
these companies.
# Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under the PRC law.

~ Registered as Sino-foreign joint ventures under the PRC law.

* This entity is accounted for as a subsidiary by virtue of the Company’s

control over it.

application and maintenance of
software products
HHERZTEREE

LA K 42 4t JE PR S AR 38 IR 75

+ ZERAZRXEWNEZAAMBLZPXEH -

ZERAZHXEBINES AR WHFAEARHE -

REFBEEZREAMBLRBIIERE -

RETEZEZEMBLRTIEEDLE -

ERARBEU AR ZEGE AR TERKE

AFAIE °
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20.

21.

22.

INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 20. RPHBABRZIRE (&)
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in BERALRABZARRNB AT E ANEBAK
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for FEREERBEEATNESIEASEEEFEZ
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the BAEMD - EERAEMI L EHERRE R -
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion HEREREBERITE °
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
Except for Digital China (HK) Limited, Digital China Limited, Bris N IS (BB AR AR - M EBEERAR -
Digital China Technology Limited, Digital China Advanced ENBEREERAERAD - @NBEBEKRSR
Systems Limited, Digital China Networks (HK) Limited, Digital ERARF - MNEABEEEB)BRIA - 18I
China Macao Commercial Offshore Limited and Cellular HHRMBEFAERBBERATIRGREZEERR
Investments Limited, the statutory audits for the above ARSN P B ARMNEER B RERLIEASD
subsidiaries were not performed by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong BEKEETMEBBAR L KEFTAIEHAEAMS
or another member firm of the Ernst & Young global network. KA B FTEZ -
DUE FROM/(TO) SUBSIDIARIES 21. W (R KMBASIRIE
The amounts due from/(to) the subsidiaries are unsecured, U (B MBARZRBEEKE R 8 RE
interest-free and have no fixed terms of repayment. The carrying BETEER SRR (BMHHKBARREZ
amounts of these amounts due from/(to) the subsidiaries REEAEAFEBERSE °
approximate to their fair values.
INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY-CONTROLLED 22. REFEFISCEZRSE
ENTITIES
Group
AEE
2012 2011
—E—-=%f —T——F
HK$000 HK$000
BEFIT B F T
Share of net assets BEEEFE 33,224 34,356
Provision for impairment A - (1,034)
33,224 53,822

The Group's trade receivable and payable balances due from/(to)
jointly-controlled entities are disclosed in notes 29 and 31 to the
financial statements, respectively.
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22.

INVESTMENTS IN JOINTLY-CONTROLLED
ENTITIES (continued)

Particulars of the principal jointly-controlled entities are as
follows:

22. REREFEEZRER)

EHREHEEZFBENAT

Percentage of ownership

Place of incorporation/ Particular of issued share interest attributable
Name registration held/ registered capital to the Group Principal activities
BRAECBTRE AEEREERE
£ = AL ST B AT b B HEMERFE EEmESL EEER
Suzhou Digital China JieTong Mainland China Registered capital 30 Sale of software and
Technology Co., Ltd.* A B K B RMB1,000,000 repair and maintenance
BN SIS R E R A R AR HEfMER BHHER f##E

A R #1,000,0007T

Digital China-Octopus Information Mainland China Registered capital 51 Provision of backup system
Systems Service Limited*" A B K B RMB50,000,000 software for bank or other
N BIE N ERERE XGRS ERiEEEN issuing authority
BRAR" A K #50,000,0007T BITHHAMEE FHRBED
‘AaRZEMT

+ The English names of these companies are direct transliterations of
their Chinese registered names.

A Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm of
the Ernst & Young global network.

The Group’s shareholdings in the jointly-controlled entities are
held through the subsidiaries of the Company.

The above table lists the jointly-controlled entities of the Group
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected the
results for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net
assets of the Group. To give details of other jointly-controlled
entities would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars
of excessive length.

All the jointly-controlled entities have been accounted for using
the equity method in these financial statements.

+ ZERACRAXEBDERAZMBELZPXEHE -

2 FHBEBRKEFAMEBARL KGN FEME
ft 2 BRWAE R B T EAZ ©

7R 4 B A A R 3 7 B T B AN A A 2
BARARA -

EERALRABZAEEARZEHNDEH K
SEAFEZEBEREAFEIGAKEEE
FEZ BRI o EER A H E 2 7 2
TERER SEREAENTE -

Fi 7 25 R # 1hil £b 2635 B R 4 25 0K 0 L A TS R 5
5 o
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22. INVESTMENTS
ENTITIES (continued)

IN JOINTLY-CONTROLLED 22.

The following table illustrates the summarised financial

information of the Group’s jointly-controlled entities:

REREFHEEZRE ()

TRINTAEEKXFRZEF X ZHBHERBE

2012 2011
—g—-—F —E——F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEEFIT B F T
Share of the jointly-controlled entities’ FERERERIREZ
assets and liabilities: BEERBE:
Current assets B A E 15,939 44,406
Non-current assets IEREBEE 50,363 1,270
Current liabilities B AE (32,582) (10,840)
Non-current liabilities EREBEE (496) (480)
Net assets BEEFE 33,224 34,356
Share of the jointly-controlled entities’ results: R EREGI S ¥4E:
Total revenues FENL N 27,648 17,270
Total expenses B (30,770) (16,808)
Tax 1B (468) (473)
Loss after tax B i 1% & 1B (3,590) (11)
bt 2o g\ = =
23. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES 23. RBEATZRE
Group
AEH
2012 2011
—_g—-=-F =g ===
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEEFIT BT T
Share of net assets EEEEFE 405,924 344,994
Goodwill on acquisition (note) H g A 2 i B (BT ) 374,815 337,483
Provision for impairment A B - (7,140)
780,739 675,337

Note: The amount of goodwill capitalised as an asset during the year ended
31 March 2012 arose from the acquisition of the equity interest of

Hangzhou Wuyouke Information Technology Co., Ltd.
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23.

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 23.

The Group’s trade receivable and payable balances due from/(to)

associates are disclosed in notes 29 and 31

statements, respectively.

to the financial

REBEABZRE (&)

AEEER(BMZHEER
KRB SRR

Bf 5E29831 °

A2 W B 5 ik

# 0 Bl B¢ B8 10t B 7% R

Particulars of the principal associates are as follows: FEBERRIZFBRR:
Percentage
of ownership
Place of Particular of issued interest
incorporation/ share held/registered attributable to the
Name registration capital Group Principal activities
BECBTHRG AEEELRA
£ AL ST, B AT b B HMERFEE EEmESL TEER
Digital China Golden Vista Hong Kong Ordinary share of 30 Investment holding
Company Limited" BB HK$1 each REZK
HMNEHESEBR QA BREEEEITZ

Digital China Golden Vista (Beijing)
Technology Co., Ltd.*"

BMEB SR QR BMRERAR

Beijing Digital China Golden Vista
Technology Co., Ltd. **
IRBBSEMBRREFGRAR"

SJl Inc. *

DigiWin Software Co., Ltd.*"

Mainland China
R B K BE

Mainland China
B K B

Japan

SN

Mainland China

Registered capital
HK$15,000,000
ERECN

7 #15,000,0007T

Registered capital
RMB10,000,000
it & A

A R #10,000,0007T

Registered capital
JPY 3,5652,101,604

M ER
3,5652,101,604H

Registered capital

SERERMER DA B A BE RMB90,000,000
i & A
A R #90,000,0007T
+ The English names of these companies are direct transliterations of
their Chinese registered names.
* Listed on the The Jasdaq Securities Exchange Inc..
# These companies are accounted for as associates of the Group as the

Group is able to exercise significant influence over the companies
because it holds 20% of the voting power of the companies.

A Not audited by Ernst & Young, Hong Kong or another member firm of
the Ernst & Young global network.

The Group's shareholdings in the associates are held through
certain subsidiaries of the Company.

30 Provision of enterprise resource systems
software and the related services

RELEXRGHREREBRE

30 Investment holding
RE R
12,55 IT systems development, software

products, and information related
products, and offers petrochemicals
engineering services
PHERMREABBER
A KR A TZRS

ITRBERE

19.81*% Provision of ERP software
and related services

1R HERPEL (B B IR %5

Z2ERAZRXERBNEZAAMBLZPXEH -

+
aur

* REAEHEREFRZH LM -

# AEBHEBUFRAF0BNRAE  HHARASR
EARFE EARUSARNERAEEMNBE AT -
A FAEBRKEMEHAMA L K G MBI

it 2 BRWAE R B T EAZ ©

AEBREE AR ZREDEBARA 2E TH
BAREE -
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23. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 23. REBEATZIREE)
The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the EERA/LERAMBIAEERE QAR HAEER
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the FECEERBEEARNESIEASEEEFEZ
year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the BAHMD - EERAEMIEEMEE AR AR -
Group. To give details of other associates would, in the opinion HEREREBERITER °
of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.
All the associates have been accounted for using the equity FEBE RRIHEERES AR B REIK -
method in these financial statements.
The following table illustrates the summarised financial TRINTAEBME E QE 2 M5 E B E (E i
information of the Group’s associates extracted from their BEEE®RRK) :
management accounts:
2012 2011
—E—-—%f —E-—%
HK$000 HK$'000
B EFIT B For
Assets BE 4,394,134 3,249,853
Liabilities B&E (1,740,663) (1,512,584)
Revenue A 3,311,442 2,985,333
Profit s ) 228,892 132,969
24. AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS 24, TEHBEZES
Group
AERE
2012 2011
—E—-—f —T——F
HK$000 HK$'000
EEFIT B F T
Listed equity investment, at fair value: TSR E  BRAFEE:

Hong Kong b 107,619 —
Unlisted equity investments, at cost ELEMEREE BRAE 109,127 4,021
Less: Accumulated impairment loss B BENREE R (2,425) (2,425)

106,702 1,596
214,321 1,596
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24.

25.

AVAILABLE-FOR-SALE INVESTMENTS (continued)

During the vyear, the gross gain in respect of the Group's
available-for-sale investments recognised in other comprehensive
income amounted to HK$26,904,000 (2011: Nil).

The above investments consist of investments in equity securities
which were designated as available-for-sale financial assets and
have no fixed maturity date or coupon rate.

The Group’s unlisted equity investments are measured at cost
less impairment. The fair values of these unlisted equity
investments cannot be measured reliably because the
probabilities of various estimates within the range cannot be
reasonably assessed and used in estimating fair values.

OTHER RECEIVABLES

The balance as at 31 March 2011 represented the outstanding
cash consideration due from Beijing Digital China Information
Technology Academe Co. Ltd. (“Beijing DCITACL") in respect of
its acquisition of the Group’s 19.51% equity interest in DCITS
during the year ended 31 March 2010. The consideration would
be paid by instalments up to 31 December 2015 pursuant to the
equity interest transfer agreement. Beijing DCITACL was a
related party of the Company, in which Mr. GUO Wei, the
Chairman of the Company, has beneficial interest in this
company. Further details of the acquisition are set out in the
Company’s circular dated 6 October 2009.

On 19 July 2011, the Group entered into a supplemental
agreement to the equity interest transfer agreement with Beijing
DCITACL to agree to a one-off payment of the outstanding
consideration to the Group on or before 30 July 2011. The
outstanding balance was fully settled during the year ended 31
March 2012. Further details of this arrangement are set out in
the Company’s announcement dated 19 July 2011.

Pursuant to the disclosure requirements of Section 161B of Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance, the maximum amount outstanding
during the year ended 31 March 2012 amounted to
HK$362,791,000 (2011: HK$353,559,000).

24.

25.

o EZRE &)

REAFERN  AEEAIELEEZRENBIKE B
#26,904,000c (=T ——F : &)  ERHME2@E
=P RER ©

LB ERFEEEESRE REREWEESR
AHEESREE -

AEBE I LEMEDRERKANERRETIER
MR EHEREANSAGT 2R EEZABT AR
RAUABERAFEE WEEAUEFEFELTER
REZRFEE-

H fth FE Wy 3R IH

MR-B——F=A=+—RAz&E# At ZH M
BEEEMAERERAA(HEREMELEDR
BHE-_Z-—ZFE=-A=1+—BLFERK BN
ER21951%REZHAZINHBEESRE - &R
BEREREEZHEAFEIEIN  UXHFES
E-—RE+-_A=t+-—H-dtxHMEEARE
BrEBALNBAELEE(RARARZER) EEZ
ARIZERZES ABRRBZE—THBINA
HA—ZTZAETANBZARBREKA o

R=ZZT——FtA+NAhB AEERREGSZH
FEA N EaERMELNRER=ZE—— &+t A=
T A ZATHIEEEMNEE—RME A ERNRE -
ZHARBERBE-_ZT——H#=A=+—H8It
FEANZHEZ BHTHEZE—SHBHRNE
MAE—T——FtLtA+THBZARARER -

BREBBAAIEHFI6BEZHEEERREE
TE——FZA=+-—BLEFERASZEHAIMK
B & B #362,791,0000 (= T — — F: B K&
353,559,0007T) °
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26.

DEFERRED TAX

i

The movements in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the

year are as follows:

Group

Deferred tax assets

Losses available
for offsetting
against future

26. REFHIE

EERBEERBERAFEANZEFHN T :

3 L]
BEEFHEEE

2012

—E—C-F

Fair value

Asset adjustment of other

taxable profits provisions receivables Others Total
o] A 4 8 R 2K HitEWRIEZ
EEBRETZEBER EERE AFEEAE Hity w@st
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$000
BEFT BEFT BEFT BEFT BEFT
At 1 April 2011 R-ZE——FWMA—H 26,822 38,713 24,334 40,091 129,960
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to 74 & A £ I 25 = R
the income statement during A (HB) 2
the year IE FE F 18 (13,202) 38,066 (24,686) 24,738 24,916
Exchange realignment [E 5 38 2 665 2,084 352 1,598 4,699
Gross deferred RZT——F
tax assets at EH=—E2
31 March 2012 BLERBEERSE 14,285 78,863 - 66,427 159,575
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFIEEE
Unrealised losses
from intragroup Revaluation of
transactions properties Others Total
EERAXBDEEZ
REREIE YIEER Hit et
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000
EETTT EETTT BETFTT EETTT
At 1 April 2011 R-ZTE——FWMA—H 31,289 22,136 36,272 89,697
Deferred tax charged to the income REERNERZRFIRZ
statement during the year iR 3E B 18 6,813 7,598 19,908 34,319
Exchange realignment AR 1,137 753 1,534 3,424
Gross deferred tax liabilities at R=—T——F=ZA=+—H2
31 March 2012 ELEREaERE 39,239 30,487 57,714 127,440
Net deferred tax charged to the income AEERNEKRZRFT NG 2
statement during the year (note 11) EE R TEFEE (M A1) 9,403
Net deferred tax assets recognised in R=ZZE—=—F=A=+—8H
the consolidated statement of e B R KRB ER
financial position at 31 March 2012 ZELEHRBEETSE 32,135
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DEFERRED TAX (continued) 26. EEBIIA(E)

Group A&
Deferred tax assets BT B TR &
2011
—E——%F
Losses available for
offsetting against Asset Fair value adjustment
future taxable profits provisions of other receivables Others Total
A] A 3 85 K 3R Hfth fE MR TE 2
JERB R A 2 B8 BERE AT EEAE HAth 4t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
BB TFT B TFT BETFT EETFT EBETFT
At 1 April 2010 RZE—FF
mA—H 14,572 23,213 28,238 31,603 97,626
Acquisition of subsidiaries Uz B % [ B B 2R R
(note 38) (H1#£38) — 78 — — 78
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to AN E R £ U 25 K F
the income statement during AR 2
the year i I % 18 12,051 13,968 (5,036) 6,785 27,768
Exchange realignment [ 5, 38 8 199 1,454 1,132 1,703 4,488
Gross deferred R-ZT——4&F
tax assets at =A=+—82
31 March 2011 EEBIRE E LR 26,822 38,713 24,334 40,091 129,960
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFHIEEE
Unrealised losses
from intragroup Revaluation of
transactions properties Others Total
SERARGEELEZ
REREE MBI EHAh st
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000
B F T BT T B F T BT T
At 1 April 2010 R-_ZE—ZFFWA—H 23,867 14,058 10,583 48,508
Deferred tax charged to the income REERNERZRFNRZ
statement during the year iR 5E % 1R 6,200 7,654 24,657 38,411
Exchange realignment & X 3 & 1,222 524 1,032 2,778
Gross deferred tax liabilities at R=ZZT——F=A=+—8H
31 March 2011 ZEERIBAERSE 31,289 22,136 36,272 89,697
Net deferred tax charged to the income AEERERZRFTNRZ
statement during the year (note 77 RAERIEERE (Mt 1) 10,643
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the RZ-Z——F=F=+—H
consolidated statement of financial EREVBRAERPER
position at 31 March 2011 ZEERBEETSE 40,263
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26.

F=A=+—H

DEFERRED TAX (continued)

The Group has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
approximately HK$121,775,000 (2011: HK$247,276,000) which are
due to expire within five years for offsetting against future
taxable profits of the subsidiaries in which the losses arose.
These tax losses and certain deductible temporary differences of
approximately HK$32,090,000 (2011: HK$51,191,000) have not
been recognised as deferred tax assets since they have arisen in
subsidiaries that have been making losses for some time.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in
Mainland China. The requirement has become effective from 1
January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007.
The Group is therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland China in
respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. For the Group, the applicable rates are 5% and 10%.

At 31 March 2012, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings that are subject to withholding taxes of the Group's
subsidiaries established in Mainland China. In the opinion of the
directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will distribute
such earnings in the foreseeable future. The aggregate amount
of temporary differences associated with investments in
subsidiaries in Mainland China for which deferred tax liabilities
have not been recognised totalled approximately HK$739,348,000
(2011: HK$614,457,000) at 31 March 2012.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment
of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

Digital China Holdings Limited ~Annual Report2011/12

26.

i 3E B 1A ()

REBREBETFHRANEZHBEBBEBBEOBE
121,775,0007T (ZZ ——4F : 7&%247,276,0007T) -
AAREEEEBIEZHBRARZ RKERR G
o HEERAEFRER BRALEFHEEBERSE
T AT 300 B B 22 B 40 7B #532,090,0000T (= F —
—4F : B #51,191,0007T) IR B E £ B 1B — B B
MZMBAR  MUTABRRBELHEEE °

REPECEMSTE  REAREZIIEERED
ERMEEEEDIKKE  FiR10% 2B XK
BB - ZRER_ZEZENF A -—HEELER
WEARZZEZELF+_A=+—HZRELZ
B o MAKEBERA R EF LR P B AEZH
BRAm _ZEZNF-—HA-—HEBEEZBHNFD
KT BB HMEREIEH o 6% B B KR &5
BEEEZHRBEERE R BERBGHE - A
BRAZASHEATRE AEBZEARXR
5% K10% °

M-ZT——FE=A=+—0 BAEEURATEH
AEZHB AR ERTERELRAFR 2 EBMAAMEH
Me WABRRTMNELEHRE EFRAE - &EF
BER ZEMNBRAABITESDREZATR - K=
T——_F=ZA=+—H BRFERAREZHBA
RIZBREERERE = ERB(EARBEREINMN
IR IE B TH B (&) 4 78 739,348,000t (= & — —
F : 75 ¥614,457,0007T) °

RRRARRIMZRE - TEHEREHER -



27.

28.

INVENTORIES 27. #E&
Group
X5KE
2012 2011
—¥-C-F —T——%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETFIT BT T
Trading stock BES51FE 5,154,490 4,145,298
DUE FROM/(TO) CONTRACT CUSTOMERS 28. FEMW (FEFHEHERZRIE
Group
X5KHE
2012 2011
—E—"% T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETIT BT T
Gross amount due from contract customers B & A E b FE W K IE 2 FE IR
included in other receivables ERNEPRIB BT 515,583 81,293
Gross amount due to contract customers B &t A E At & 518 2 FE A
included in other payables AHNBPRBZETE (48,796) (104,874)
466,787 (23,581)
Contract costs incurred plus recognised profits less IR 2 & 4 2 & A AN
recognised losses to date B 0% FIm B R & 18 1,276,636 931,311
Less: Progress billings SRR (809,849) (954,892)
466,787 (23,581)
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29. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES 29. EESIRMEEWEHE
Group
*£H
2012 2011
—E—ZF —T——F
HK$000 HK$'000
BETFT BEEF T
Trade and bills receivables EUWE 5k 11,513,335 9,012,533
Impairment A (725,908) (689,303)
10,787,427 8,323,230

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required. The credit period is generally within a period
of 30 days to 180 days. The Group seeks to maintain strict
control over its outstanding receivables and has a credit control
department to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by management. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade receivable
balances. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables as at the end
of the reporting period and net of impairment is as follows:

AREZTENEESTABEREFITEL S HEHR
HE-—REERFTEPBANKEB - EEH KR
30K E=180K o A & [ Hf H K e 3 /& Y 5708 B i
BREZER UYREEEZEMNM  BREEER
RRREREK BEEESETHRATBHMMBRE-
AEBERRZEERTAEAERRREEEM
MREERENE - BIKRESRRIL BN S -

RIEHR - HBRRER 2 BKE SRR R ER
SR ZIREDTFFBOT

Group

AEH
2012 2011
—F—-C-f —T——F
HK$’000 HK$'000
BEFIT BT T
Within 30 days 30K A 4,616,485 4,035,574
31 to 60 days 31£E60K 2,494,412 1,106,189
61 to 90 days 61290k 547,398 711,071
91 to 180 days 912180k 1,842,493 1,435,201
Over 180 days B 8180k 1,286,639 1,035,195
10,787,427 8,323,230
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29. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 29. EWE SRR EWELR(E)

The movements in the provision for impairment of trade ERB SRR RERE  EEHFENT :
receivables are as follows:

Group
AEE
2012 2011
—E——% —ET——F
HK$’000 HK$'000
EETIT VBB T T
At 1 April REA—H 689,303 603,428
Amount written off as uncollectible KRB 2 HisE & FH (7,588) (8,204)
Impairment losses recognised (note 7) WRZmEBE N Z7) 19,514 67,422
Exchange realignment bE 5 38 2 24,679 26,657
At 31 March R=A=+—8H 725,908 689,303
Included in the above provision for impairment of trade A E B & fE Uk B 50RO B B A E B R E Y
receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade FE U B8 5 IR 2K 5% 5 7 #5145,831,000 (= & — —
receivables of HK$145,831,000 (2011: HK$193,647,000). £ #1193,647,0007T) ©
The individually impaired trade receivables related to customers BRRENEKESEZRTTERE P L K EE
that were in financial difficulties and only a portion of the BR800 B FE W bR e aT Uk bR AT [ o
receivables is expected to be recovered.
The aged analysis of the trade and bills receivables that are not THEERBEBEZEVNZ SRR ERKEE KK
collectively considered to be impaired is as follows: DITEHBWOT :
Group
ARE
2012 2011
—E—"% —T——%F
HK$’000 HK$'000
EBETFTT BT T
Neither past due nor impaired KRE|EB KRR E 9,313,844 7,238,958
Less than 30 days past due 8 H D 30K 476,425 475,698
9,790,269 7,714,656
Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired relate to a REBHERBEZCERERDEZHEE TEREE
large number of diversified customers for whom there was no B REEMHAYEERFIA 2L -

recent history of default.
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31 March 2012 —Z——F=HA=+—H
29. TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES (continued) 29. FEWWESIRFEEWKEIE(E)
Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a BIEAR BN R E 2 EURIR R Ty BB T 8L
number of independent customers that have a good track record XPEH 2EREFPEASEANERENEET
with the Group. Based on past experience, the directors of the B o BEBRATER AXRAAEZTARREHEZEL
Company are of the opinion that no provision for impairment is RUBEFEFELRERE TEZEEFPZEE
necessary in respect of the balances as there has not been a EEVEEANESEMABABHRBEKATNE
significant change in credit quality and the balances are still U E -
considered fully recoverable.
Included in the Group's trade and bills receivables are amounts AEEEKESEALERERSBRERIA
due from associates of the Group of approximately HK$772,000 E@r—HEE AR ZRIBELEEET72,0007T (=
(2011: HK$233,000), which are repayable on similar credit terms T — —F: B #233,0007)  WELEKTIBEIR
to those offered to the major customers of the Group. HYIREEFEZFFPZ2HEUEEBRRER -
At 31 March 2011, included in the Group’s trade and bills RZE——F=ZRA=+—H AEEEKZEFIK
receivables were amounts due from jointly-controlled entities of FAEEBEESERERRASEE 2 ZHHER
the Group of approximately HK$1,572,000. = 1 ¥ 2 FRIE 4978 #51,672,0007T ©
The carrying amounts of the trade and bills receivables T ERDBERETAEEEZEZL 2 EBUE
approximate to their fair values. ElRZEE -
30. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 30 RERBELEEY
Group Company
FEE EAT
2012 2011 2012 2011
—®-—% -T-—4 —B-—%F -T-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
BEFIT B F T B EFIT B F T
Cash and bank balances RERW|ITHEER 3,785,901 2,770,890 1,974 8,575
Time deposits TE H3 17 3K 468,065 278,565 — —
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY 4,253,966 3,049,455 1,974 8,575

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank equivalents
of the Group denominated in Renminbi (“RMB"”) amounted to
approximately HK$3,670,551,000 (2011: HK$2,846,861,000). The
RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however,
under Mainland China's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations
and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Digital China Holdings Limited ~Annual Report2011/12
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30.

31.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (continued)

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying
periods of between one day and three months depending on the
immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at
the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances
are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximate
to their fair values.

TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES

An aged analysis of the trade and bills payables as at the end of
the reporting period is as follows:

30.

31.

RERBEEFEYER)
RITERTDREBARITERF R EBFIXGE -
EHMERERNERBLIA - RE—FAF K
AEENERRESHRME - LiRBHEDEH
B AR R ERERA B - SRITAE R LAY &
BRORLBEMEBRBEZRT -

REeMRLEBYZRAEEEAFEERAS

FE £+ B 55 R =k R FE £ SR 4%

RBEERR BENESERRRENREZREK D
FrEfBmT:

Group

AEE
2012 2011
—E—-% —ET——F
HK$000 HK$'000
BT B F T
Within 30 days 30K 5,829,962 4,189,636
31 to 60 days 31£60K 3,303,573 2,122,394
61 to 90 days 61£90K 1,104,136 1,160,812
Over 90 days B 90K 2,077,801 1,370,108
12,315,472 8,842,950

Included in the Group’s trade and bills payables are amounts due
to associates of the Group of approximately HK$1,839,000 (2011:
HK$118,000), which are repayable on similar credit terms to
those obtained from the major suppliers of the Group.

At 31 March 2011, included in the Group's trade and bills
payables were amounts due from an jointly-controlled entity of
the Group of approximately HK$794,000.

AEEENESEREENZEESBERERRA
EE 2 2 ML N E 2 FRIBH 11,839,000 (=
T —— & : B #118,0007T) r WELEHKIBER
SEFZHEEMAETCEUCERRER -

R-ZB——F=ZA=+—HB AKBEENEZIK

FERENRESEBEREAEE —HHRFZE
il 1 2 2 FRIA A& #5794,0007T °
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31. TRADE AND BILLS PAYABLES (continued) 3. EFNEBISIRREEMEE(E)
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally ERESERATH S - I — MR HR30K =180k
settled within a period of 30 days to 180 days. BRI NEE -
The carrying amount of trade and bills payables approximate to ENESEREENEREZIREEEZEAFER
their fair values. HBE -
32. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 32. fTEE€MTR
Group
AKRE
2012 2011
—E—-=%f —T——F
HK$000 HK$'000
BETFIT B F T
Assets &aE
Forward currency contracts EHEEAYN 92,440 20,203
The Group has entered into various forward currency contracts to REEVZERAEEGANEEAEXRRER -
manage its exchange rate exposure. Net fair value gains of such ETME2RIANAFEBFRERBE
derivative financial instruments amounting to HK$181,922,000 181,922,0007T (= & — — 4F : # #144,703,0007T)
(2011: HK$144,703,000) were credited to the income statement FARAKEE AR ©

during the year.

The carrying amounts of the derivative financial instruments i ASETEEMTAZEEEREAFEER
above are the same as their fair values. The above transactions HE Ll FETESRIAZRSNHEER
involving derivative financial instruments are conducted with 4F B3 HA I M 4 R A0 Bk 2 SRATHEAT o

creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.
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33. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS 33. MIBIRITER

2012 20N
—g-=f —T——%
Effective Effective
contractual contractual
interest rate interest rate
(%)  Maturity  HK$000 (%) Maturity  HK$'000
BRSO = B &K F =X
(B A EEFT (BEHt) ZHR B FT
Group AEE
Current RE
Bank loans, unsecured RITER - |ER 1.98-7.87 2012-2013 1,468,521 0.65-6.39 2011 543,219
Bank loans, secured BITER  FER 6.56-7.54 2012-2013 106,184 5.31-6.06  2011-2012 43,673
Current portion of long term RHRITERZ
bank loans, unsecured MBS - I 0.99-6.78 2012-2013 749,190 5.40-6.10  2011-2012 65,088
2,323,895 651,980
Non-current El3540)
Bank loans, unsecured RITEK - EIKHH 0.99-1.85 2013-2014 1,692,000 1.05-6.10 2012-2013 1,281,576
4,015,895 1,933,556
Company i UNEGT
Non-current FEiF &
Bank loan, unsecured RITER - EE 1.85 2013 390,000 —
Group Company
T&EE EATF
2012 201 2012 2011
“®¥-—f -T—F Z¥--f -—T —F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
B FIT BT T B FIT B F T
Analysed into: DT
Bank loans repayable: JEEEZBHFETER:
Within one year or on demand —FRRIZBEAN 2,323,895 651,980 — —
In the second year = | 529,500 880,254 390,000 —
In the third to fifth years, F=ZFE=ZFEFRF
inclusive (BEEEMF) 1,162,500 401,322 — —

4,015,895 1,933,556 390,000 —
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33. INTEREST-BEARING BANK BORROWINGS
(continued)
Notes:
(a) The Company guaranteed certain of the Group’s bank loans of

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

approximately HK$3,236,110,000 (2011: HK$1,657,939,000) at the end
of the reporting period.

Certain of the Group’s bank loans of approximately HK$81,774,000 (2011:
HK$43,673,000) extended by financial institutions to a subsidiary of the
Group, STQ, were secured by a property situated in Mainland China
with a value of approximately HK$26,422,000 (2011: HK$26,440,000)
and trade receivables with an aggregate carrying amount of
approximately HK$64,021,000 (2011: Nil) at the end of the reporting
period, and 8,229,004 (2011: 22,290,980) issued shares of STQ in
favour of Beijing Zhongguancun Sci-Tech Guaranty Co., Ltd. (the
“Pledgee”), an independent third party, for securing a guarantee issued
by such Pledgee on behalf of STQ at the end of the reporting period.

Certain of the Group's bank loans of approximately HK$24,410,000 (2011:
Nil) extended by a financial institution to a subsidiary of the Group,
Digital China Jinxin Technology Co., Ltd. (“Beijing Jinxin"),
secured by fixtures and office equipment with an aggregate carrying
amount of approximately HK$26,657,000 (2011: Nil) at the end of the
reporting period in favour of Beijing Zhongguancun Sci-Tech Guaranty
Co., Ltd., an independent third party, for securing a guarantee issued
by such Pledgee on behalf of Beijing Jinxin at the end of the reporting
period.

were

During the year ended 31 March 2012, a subsidiary of the Group,
Digital China Technology Limited, entered into a facility agreement with
a syndicate of banks for a three-year loan facility of US$150 million for
the purpose of financing general working capital of the Group. Included
in the Group's non-current bank borrowings of approximately HK$1,162
million (equivalent to US$150 million) represented the syndicated loan
repayable in three years from the date of the drawdown and were
guaranteed by the Company.

Except for bank borrowings of approximately HK$1,458,876,000 (2011:
HK$979,233,000) and HK$2,035,739,000 (2011: Nil)
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and United States dollars,
respectively, all bank borrowings are denominated in RMB.

which are

The carrying amounts of the Group’'s and the Company's
borrowings approximate to their fair values which are calculated
by discounting the expected future cash flows at prevailing
interest rates.
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(a)

(d)

AEEERZRAEREERAFEBRREE

RBEPRR  ARAERE TAEEARTERLNE
#3,236,110,0007C (= & — — 4 : & #1,657,939,000
T EH AR -

REEEFRITERD AR A B ¥81,774,0007T (=
T — — 4 : 5 %43,673,00070) EHEREBERT
AEEZ-—HRBARBESD  WHARBEHRE
8 H 4 & %26,422,000c(= T — — F: B &
26,440,0007T) I R BI K FE 2 — B ¥ R HIREE
R S 64,021,000 (ZT——F E)ZEKRE
SR AR B F 98,229,004 (=T — — F ¢
22,290,980 EBITRHER T —MBLE=771
AR R R ERAR QR (TR A L) AR R &R
AMEXBETZERELZER -

REE 2 RmEBRITE KA #24,410,0007T (ZF —
—F BRHTABKBRTAREZ-HHEBEAR
HNBEBEEHMEEROBERAA(ERERFD ¥
VATA 37 &5 5 oK H ik [ {8 42 %8 40 %8 #26,657,0007T (=
T —FIEZERERPAERFEEAT MBI
F=FARFHANBERERER QA - LA A X
FARRIERESEZEFTIEHZER -

RBEFT-—F=A=+—HLFERN AEHZ
—RHBAR S MEBRRERAR AR ERE K
RI—BEnGE BHESBEROEEXLZ=FE
AEE  BEAEEN-—REEED - BERER
Bz IR BIRTE R ¥1,1628 B T (10 51508
EBXT)RARREREHEF=FRERZREENR
WERARAREER -

B #) 7% %1,458,876,0007C(= T — — F: B ¥
979,233,0007T) K& 7 #2,035,739,0007T (= F ——4 :
E)ZRITERABE TR ETINEN FIBRTE
HIBUAARKEIIE -

AFE
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34. BOND PAYABLE 34. EfTtES
Group
TEE
2012 2011
—_E—-=-F =E==
HK$°000 HK$'000
BEFIT B For
Non-current FERE 36,615 35,411
Note: In September 2010, the Group completed the acquisition of the We: RZZE—ZFNA AEEZTKABILE=HKE

remaining 89.56% equity interest in Beijing Jinxin Technology Co., Ltd.
(now named as "“Digital China Jinxin Technology Co., Ltd.”) from
independent third parties (the “Acquisition”). Beijing Jinxin was owned
as to 10.44% by the Group prior to the Acquisition and subsequent to
which, it became a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. In August
2010, i.e., before the Acquisition, Beijing Jinxin and twelve other
companies being independent third parties of the Group (collectively
referred as the “Issuers”) issued “2010 Collective Bonds of
Zhongguancun High-tech SME” (“2010 Bonds”) to institutional and
public investors in Mainland China through the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange. The aggregate principal amount of the 2010 Bonds is
RMB383 million, of which Beijing Jinxin accounts for RMB30 million
(equivalent to approximately HK$37 million). The fund raised by Beijing
Jinxin was applied to the development of its ATM network construction
project. The 2010 Bonds which carry interest at a rate of 5.18% per
annum, will mature in August 2016, and are unconditionally and
irrevocably guaranteed in full with joint liabilities by Beijing
Zhongguancun Sci-Tech Guaranty Co., Ltd., an independent third party,
from the first to third year of the issuance (“ZGC Guarantee”). At the
same time, ZGC Guarantee is guaranteed by Beijing SMEs Credits
Re-guarantee Co., Ltd., and also guaranteed by Beijing Jinxin for the
principal amount of the 2010 Bonds it accounted for (i.e., RMB30
million). The Investors’ Put Option and the Issuers’ Full Redemption
Option in respect of the 2010 Bonds may be exercised under the
following circumstances: if the Issuers can provide a guarantor with
good reputation before the conclusion of the interest period in the third
year of the issuance of the 2010 Bonds, investors may opt to hold the
2010 Bonds in full or in part and/or exercise the Investors’ Put Option
to sell the 2010 Bonds back to the Issuers within five working days
from the publication of the announcement in respect of information
regarding the continuing guarantee; and if the Issuers cannot provide a
guarantor with good reputation before the conclusion of the interest
period in the third year of the issuance of the 2010 Bonds, the Issuers
shall redeem the 2010 Bonds in full.

The carrying amount of the Group's bond payable approximates
to its fair value.

RGN eERBERNAERADRCGRE RN
SERBBROBERAT ) BT 289.56% A4 ([UhE 1)
(Rt W R - AR B EHE B IR S5 210.44% iR
) R ER R ERAREE—M2EH
BWBRAR -RZZE—ZFN\ABRKBILEREE
BRTRERN) IREERT-_REMCERXRER
ZBIE=R)HEBIETADERRINESFX S AT
BT A ARYEISIE B L 2201046 F BN &
BMiF N (EAEFI(ZTE—ZTFEHF)THEH
AEZHEERAREEE RS EMBETELS
BRAARBIEETHESEHNEBITEET) 54
MESARERAIMARESRBER - W= —TF
BEHENFEHNEASI8%RER T —NFE/\ AR -
WHEBYE=FItRPRANBRERERERAR AL
T THEBEHFRHE FEF=FE2EERHT
A HENETETRBER(PEANERD AR -
HBYE=FLtRPIECRBERERAAA
FEANERREEER TR EBREH-T—
TEEFNILELRSEMETESF B EIARKI0E
BLNPEANERREER - _F-—FTFHEHFRN
INTFERREEREERBERBETAFLHAMEEE -
EBTARZ - ZSFEHFNE=FTESHMATEE
RECBREINERAN REZARERTARY
BEERBAAEBREABMIFRAARELESS
AHBOBRE_T—TFEEEHER AT ERERER
BT EFEEFEELEBTAN BERBITARSZT—
THEBEHFNE=FAEHRAIRERHEEERTN
BRA AIBITABRZEEON T —ZFFF -

AEBENEFZREEEZEIAFEEES
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35. SHARE CAPITAL 35. &K
Shares B%
2012 2011
—g-=% —F-—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
EBEFIT BT T
Authorised: JERE
2,000,000,000 (2011: 2,000,000,000) 2,000,000,000f% (=& —— 4 :
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 2,000,000,0000%) & BX A B & #0.17T
(2011: HK$0.1) each (Z2——F: BTz ERAR 200,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BT R R :
1,092,734,581 (2011: 1,091,212,581) 1,092,734,581 Kk (=T — — % :
ordinary shares of HK$0.1 1,091,212,581%) & i& E (B & % 0.17T
(2011: HK$0.1) each T ——F Bz ERR 109,273 109,121
A summary of the movements in the Company's issued share NBEE-_E——FER _ZE——F=A=+—HI1t
capital and share premium accounts during the years ended 31 FEAN  AATIHNEBITRARIRGD & EREE
March 2012 and 2011 is as follows: Bt R -
Number of
ordinary shares in Share premium
issue Issued capital account Total
ERTEEREE BETERE B 43 it (B R st
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B iF BB T T BT T BETT
At 1 April 2010 R-ZZE—ZTHFMA—B 1,020,767,581 102,077 984,342 1,086,419
Issue of shares BEIRG (a) 70,000,000 7,000 1,053,405 1,060,405
Exercise of shares options 171 BB AR A (b) 445,000 44 3,475 3B1¢
At 31 March 2011 and RZZE——F=A=+—H
1 April 2011 k=ZT——®FmMA—H 1,091,212,581 109,121 2,041,222 2,150,343
Exercise of shares options 71 8 AR e (b) 1,522,000 152 11,484 11,636
At 31 March 2012 R—FT—-—F#=A=+—H 1,092,734,5681 109,273 2,052,706 2,161,979
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35.

36.

SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Shares (continued)

Notes:

(a) On 22 November 2010, the Company has allotted and issued
70,000,000 new ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each (“New Shares"”) for
the listing of Taiwan Depository Receipts (“TDR") in the Taiwan Stock
Exchange Corporation (the “Taiwan Stock Exchange”). On 24 November
2010, the TDR were listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange. As each unit
of TDR represented half an ordinary share, the New Shares were
issued at NT$60.40 per New Share. The New Shares were issued by
the Company with total net proceeds of approximately
NT$4,161,393,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$1,060,405,000).
Further details of the transaction were set out in the announcements of
the Company dated 4 October 2010, 9 November 2010, 17 November
2010 and 23 November 2010.

(b) During the year ended 31 March 2012, the subscription rights attaching
to 1,521,000 (2011: 445,000) and 1,000 (2011: Nil) share options were
exercised at subscription prices at HK$5.89 and HK$15.04 per share
respectively, resulting in the issue of a total of 1,522,000 (2011:
445,000) ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each for a total cash consideration
of approximately HK$8,974,000 (2011: HK$2,621,000). An amount of
HK$2,662,000 (2011: HK$898,000) was transferred from the employee
share-based compensation reserve to the share premium account upon
the exercise of the share options.

Shared-based incentive schemes

Details of the Company's share option schemes and restricted
share award scheme are included in note 36 to the financial
statements.

SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE SCHEMES
(a) Share Option Schemes

The Company operates two share option schemes, one of
the share option schemes was adopted on 18 July 2002
(the “2002 Share Option Scheme”) and the other share
option scheme was adopted on 15 August 2011 (the “2011
Share Option Scheme”) (the 2002 Share Option Scheme
together with the 2011 Share Option Scheme, hereinafter
collectively referred to as the “Share Option Schemes”).

35. IRA(E)

36.

B% 3 (4
Kt aF -

IM

(a) R=ZF—FF+—A=+=8 ARAIBEERET
70,000,000 A% & A% 1 {8 75 % 0.1 7T 2 37 8 38 A% AR 19 ([ %7
Hw’\JM’E?%ﬁA;/%‘ﬁ#x%ﬁﬁﬁxﬁﬁBE ( =&
Mﬁx%ﬁﬁj)imZ;gT%um( 7
WR-_ZT—ZTH&+—A=+mMAH
EBEFRGH LT o mwtﬁuggr%
FERERA D IR GRS IR 7D T E%60.40
To 2 BATEEAT o AR R B AR D B AT A 5t 00 F BT
BRIBH A E%4,161,393,0007T (F Z R 4 75 &
1,060,405,0007T) - AR H 2 —FFFHR B H
AR-FT—TF+AWA - :% TE+—ANAB =
T-TF+—A+EtAR=-T-TFE+—A=F+= EI
ZARRRAERA -

(b) RHEE-T——F=A=+—HILFER ' 1,521,000
9 (ZZ ——4 : 445,0001p) }%1,0001p (=T — — 45 :
E)NBEREEZERES B SR B L8907 kB
¥15.04T 2 REERETH - Bt - 5 501,522,0008%
(ZZ— —F : 445,000/ SR EE B K I T2 LR
fR LA 4838 & KB 4 5 #58,974,000t (=T ——F : &
#£2,621,00070) T AT - REERRAERATER - A

7 #2,662,0007T (= F — — 4 : }# #898,0007T) 1 &
BOHNBROXNEEZ M FEERERNDEE
MR o

B 4 % B 5t &

B R R E B A At 8 I X IR I AR 40 2% B 5t &) #Y
15 B Bt B R R AR MY 36 e

G M Bt B
(a) FERRAESTE

ARNAAMEERESS - o — 88K
B R_TT— itﬂ-@—)\ﬁ?ﬁk’iﬂﬁ_
TE_EREBREE] - — fE 8 A
it & \42**¢)\ﬁ+£5%%((:%§
—— FBREFEDCET _FERER
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36. SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE SCHEMES (continued)

(a)

Share Option Schemes (continued)

The principal terms of the Share Option Schemes are as
follows:

(1)

(1)

(1)

Purpose

The Share Option Schemes seek to recognise and
acknowledge the contributions or potential
contributions made or to be made by the qualified
persons (as defined below) to the Group, to motivate
the qualified persons to optimise their performance
and efficiency for the benefit of the Group, and to
maintain or attract business relationships with the
qualified persons whose contributions are or may be
beneficial to the growth of the Group.

Qualified persons

Any part-time or full-time employee or officer or
director (including executive, non-executive or
independent non-executive directors) of any member
of the Group or of any associated company, or any
supplier, agent, customer, joint venture partner,
strategic alliance partner, distributor, professional
adviser of, or consultant or contractor to, any
member of the Group, or the trustee of any trust
pre-approved by the board of directors of the
Company, or the beneficiary (or in case of
discretionary trust , the discretionary objects) of any
of the above-mentioned persons.

Maximum number of shares

The maximum number of shares available for issue
under the 2002 Share Option Scheme was
86,303,308 and under the 2011 Share Option
Scheme was 109,206,058, which represents
approximately 7.90% and 9.99% of share capital of
the Company in issue as at the date of these
financial statements respectively.

Digital China Holdings Limited ~Annual Report2011/12
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36. SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE SCHEMES (continued)

(a) Share Option Schemes (continued)

(1v)

Maximum entitlement of each qualified person

The maximum number of shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options granted under
the Share Option Schemes and any other share
option schemes of the Company to each qualified
person (including both exercised and outstanding
options) in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1%
of the shares of the Company then in issue. Any
further grant of share options in excess of this limit
is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general
meeting of the Company.

Any grant of options to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company or any of
their respective associates must be approved by the
independent non-executive directors of the Company
(except when the independent non-executive director
is the grantee of such options).

Any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director of the
Company or any of their respective associates must,
in addition to obtaining the approval of the
independent non-executive directors of the
Company, be approved by the shareholders of the
Company in a general meeting if such proposed
grant of share options, when aggregated with all
options (whether exercised, cancelled or outstanding)
already granted to such substantial shareholder or
independent non-executive director during the
12-month period up to and including the date of
such grant of options, would (i) entitle that relevant
person to receive more than 0.1% of the total
issued share capital of the Company for the time
being; and (ii) represent an aggregate value in
excess of HK$5,000,000 based on the closing price
of the shares of the Company on the Stock
Exchange at the date of such grant.

36. BRfEF BT EI(E)
S B 2 3T B (48)

(a)

(1v)

=y

&7 AT

BHREERATEEAN @A™
BRIBEBEREFERARR T M EAM
BREFSTERE2ERERERS
THERERITE)  FEITER TARE
TEEFEAIZESRHBEE TS
BBEARAREREEITRMZI% °
FRE—THELBRY FRZER
E-HAFRRERARARBREREANS
FHER  FEEE -

b P

nN
op
o
a|
At

’!{»F

7 H

EFRRMARBESE  THRAEHKE
ERRIBEZACHBEARLE
Bt WAEARRE ZEILIEATT
E=(TEREARSTBEREARA
ZBIFERITER) A -

FEMEAARE 2 EER RSB IE
HITESTARESEZHEARL
BRERN WERFOZBREN
tEEEZARHEREER (B
BEZAERN) T—EASBMAERF
FZEERRKBYIIEATEEZ AT
EEBRECITREDITE  E 8k iH
RITE)BE:(VFEZBBAALHE
WS BRANRERFDET
B 7 48 8L E0.1% 5 R (i) 32 AN A &) B% 19
Rz B REBR Tz W mETE
H 48 {5 B & /8 #5,000,0007C ¢ Al &
TERBARRBYIERNITESEZ
HES B EERERE ELH
PN L i =

2011/125 % WMBESIZERBERAR 169



Il Notes to Financial Statements B4 7% $} & Bf &%

—E——-—F=HA=+—H

170

31 March 2012

36. SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE SCHEMES (continued)

(@) Share Option Schemes (continued)

(V)

(Vi)

(Vil)

(Vi)

Timing for exercise of options

The period during which an option may be exercised
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option
Schemes shall be the period set out in the relevant
offer letter, provided that such period must expire
on the date falling on the tenth anniversary of the
offer date.

Acceptance of offers

An offer of the grant of an option shall be accepted
by the grantee on or before the last date for
acceptance of such offer as set out in the offer
letter, which must not be more than 28 business
days from the relevant offer date. A consideration of
HK$1.00 shall be received by the Company on
acceptance of each offer.

Basis for determination of the subscription price

The subscription price shall be the highest of (a) the
closing price of the shares on the offer date; (b) the
average of the closing prices of the shares for the
five business days immediately preceding the offer
date; or (c) the nominal value of a share.

Life of Share Option Schemes

The 2002 Share Option Scheme and 2011 Share
Option Scheme shall remain valid and effective for a
period of ten years commencing from 18 July 2002
and 15 August 2011 respectively, being the date on
which such scheme was deemed to take effect in
accordance with its terms.

Digital China Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2011/12

36. R HE R Bt &I (4])
P R 1 a1 B0 (40

(a)

(V)

(Vi)

(Vil)

(Vi)

771 fiE 1 .2 B IR

RiFBERER & 2R BER
HTEZHRSEEBREZO K
e R EZHRANRED
BHMzETBFERRER -

kxr 4 05 4
BEREL

B ZHAERE LR AT
BEWNZ B 2 %R sk 2 Al &
BAEWN MZBHTIESRBEE
THBRBEFZ28ELEEB - §1B
SHEEZERBEARARRBWRERNKEE
#1.007T °

BIEEBZBEEEE

RBERHRATIFZESE  @QBRHD
REHNBRZWHE: b BROHRERE
EHHHPMMAEEERR 2 FHK T
B &)k zmEE -

BIRIE & 2B AT

— TR _FEEEFEIAR T —
FHEREAEAIIN_-_ZTZT _Ft
A+NAR=—ZF——F\A+HH(E
FZat BIRIBEEGRRR BT ERZH)
Btz T FHEAERERLEE
A e



(a)

36. SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE SCHEMES (continued) 36. RxHEREHEHEI(E)
Share Option Schemes (continued) (a) FERRHEESTEICE)
The following table shows the movements in the share TREHNE-ZSZT_FERETE TER
options under the 2002 Share Option Scheme during the BRAFERNZEZE  UEREFENRER
year and the options outstanding at the beginning and end W ARITIE 2 BRRAE
of the year:
Number of share options
BREYE
Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed Outstanding Subscription
as at during the during the during the as at price per Date of Exercisable
Grantee 1/4/2011 year year year 31/3/2012 share grant period
R-F——% R-¥—--%
mA—-B FEER FEER XEERM Z=ZA=+-—H
RBA i R AT R T ES: BRITHE SRIBEE REHBH e
(HK$)
(note ifi) (note iv) (note i) (note ii)
(E¥T)
(H & i) (Kt itiv) (K i) (K i)
Directors is
GUO Wei BAE 960,000 — — = 960,000 5.89 21/05/2008 21/05/2009-
20/05/2016
LIN Yang w5 1,000,000 — — — 1,000,000 5.89 21/05/2008 21/05/2009-
20/05/2016
Other employees HitmE 5,365,000 = (1,521,000 — 3,844,000 5.89 21/05/2008 21/05/2009-
20/05/2016
5,000,000 — (1,000) (50,000) 4,949,000 15.04 11/01/2011 11/01/2012-
10/01/2019
— 2,000,000 — — 2,000,000 13.288 15/06/2011 15/06/2012-
14/06/2019
In aggregate At 12,325,000 2,000,000 (1,522,000) (50,000) 12,753,000

Notes:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

The subscription price of the options is subject to adjustment in
the case of rights or bonus issues, or other similar changes in
the Company’s share capital.

All options granted are subject to a vesting period of four years
with 25% becoming exercisable on the first anniversary, 25%
on the second anniversary, 25% on the third anniversary and
25% on the fourth anniversary of the respective dates of grant.

On 15 June 2011, the Company granted 2,000,000 options to
employee of the Company under the 2002 Share Option
Scheme. The closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheet on 14 June
2011 (being the date immediately before the date of grant of
the outstanding options) was HK$12.70.

LEX

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

BRENREBRARE KRR ARk
ERAREEMBOEREA THE -

ARG ZBREASHRSHNFNRE
B HA25% R & & HAMER R —AF
Z BRI 1TE - 25% A W B F 2 A R 48
T 5% RNm = BFEZHRKRITR &
25% Al B EFE 2 AR RITRE

R-ZE——FR ATHB ARARRBRE-F
T FERESTEMAARE T H2,000,000
BEERE  ARRBROHR_F——FXA+
PO B (BD SR % 5% W R 1T (2 BB AR B B 2 A
—REMXFEARERESIUTER
7 #12.707C -
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36. SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE SCHEMES (continued)

(a)

172

Share Option Schemes (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iv) The weighted average of the closing prices of the Company's
shares immediately preceding and at the dates of exercise of
options were approximately HK$14.09 and HK$14.26 per share,
respectively.

(v) No options were cancelled under the 2002 Share Option
Schemes during the year.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at general meetings.

During the year, no options were granted,
cancelled under the 2011 Share Option Scheme.

lapsed or

The fair values of the share options granted during the
current and prior years amounted to approximately
HK$53,000,000, of which the Group recognised share
option expenses of approximately HK$16,421,000
(2011: HK$5,371,000) during the year ended 31 March
2012.

The fair values of share options granted under the Share
Option Schemes were estimated as at the dates of grant,
using a binomial model, taking into account of the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted. The
following table lists the inputs to the model used:

Granted on:

R

36. [x BT 8 (4R)

(a)

15 June 2011
—g——%
~A+EE

RE Rz HE ST B (4R)
Wit (48)

(iv) AR AR D 7 B B B AR A 2 1T 6 A R AT
Bz i FH KT E S B4R SRS 1%14.09
TC K% #E14.267T ©

VM RAFEREEEBRERE DTSR
B BUK -

BRELTERTHEATAREINEKRER
ARELERENEF -

REAFEERN BEBRERE_T——F
B R B - RS ©

RAFER EFFEAMBELERENA T
BEEA £ 4 &% 53,000,000t - RE=E
T —F=-ZA=+-—HBILFER KXEH
MR BEREERERERINSEE
16,421,0007C (= & — — 4 : # 5,371,000
JL) °

EBEREASTHROBREZAFEE
TTRENXEERRA _EAEGE
EHEARBREZZBERRMEMS T
REFIRAER 2 BIRE R

11 January 2011 21 May 2008
=F——F ZETAE
—A+-—H AA=-+—H

Dividend yield (%)
REEX(BADL)

Expected volatility (%)
T8 B R 08 (B 9 k)

Historical volatility (%)
WERE(AED L)

Risk-free interest rate (%)
mREEANE(ED L)

Weighted average share price (HK$ per share)
e IR E (BB B IT)
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3.5 per annum
B E35

47 per annum
HFF47

47 per annum
T F47

1.8 per annum
&F1.8

13.06

3.5 per annum
B E35

48 per annum
§F48

48 per annum
T F48

2.1 per annum
BF21

14.98

3.5 per annum
BH35

45 per annum
HF45

45 per annum
FF45

2.6 per annum
BF2.6

BE3Y)



36. SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE SCHEMES (continued)

(a)

(b)

Share Option Schemes (continued)

The expected life of the options is based on the historical
data over the past three years and is not necessarily
indicative of the exercise patterns that may occur. The
expected volatility reflects the assumption that the
historical volatility is indicative of future trends, which may
also not necessarily be the actual outcome.

No other feature of the options granted was incorporated
into the measurement of fair value.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had
12,753,000 (2011: 12,325,000) share options outstanding
under the 2002 Share Option Scheme. The exercise in full
of the outstanding share options would, under the present
capital structure of the Company, result in the issue of
12,753,000 (2011: 12,325,000) additional ordinary shares of
the Company and additional share capital of HK$1,275,300
(2011: HK$1,232,500) and share premium of approximately
HK$133,919,000 (2011: HK$117,112,000) (before issue
expenses).

Restricted Share Award Scheme

The Company’s RSA Scheme was adopted on 28 March
2011 for the purpose of rewarding and motivating, among
others, directors (including executive and non-executive)
and employees of the Company and its subsidiaries (the
“Participants”) with the shares of the Company. The RSA
Scheme is intended to attract and retain the best available
personnel, and encourage and motivate Participants to
work towards enhancing the value of the Group and the
Company’s shares by aligning their interests with those of
the shareholders of the Company.

Pursuant to the RSA Scheme, existing shares of the
Company will be purchased by the trustee of the RSA
Scheme from the market out of cash contributed by the
Group and be held in trust for the relevant Participants
until such shares are vested with the relevant Participants
in accordance with the provisions of the RSA Scheme. The
shares of the Company granted under the RSA Scheme
and held by the trustee until vesting are referred to as the
RSUs and each RSU shall represent one ordinary share of
the Company.

36. [fx#E# BT 8 (4R)

(a)

(b)

A Bz #E 5t &1 (4R)

BREZHEFFHDIBEREE =287
ERAE  RURBATEEHE Z1TEIER -
T8 HA R bR S R 52 A5 BL T R AR B K 1R AT 48

RARKES - BRI AL EERZERA
Gl

R EF 8 R B E I AT PTR H BEAAE
B H MR E

RBEWRR  RARRE-FT_FBR
i & 8 T 512,753,000 (= T — — &
12,325,000%) 8 A% #E 1o R AT £ © RIBA R
ABRKBMNAARE 2HTEERESS

B EE AN #E 1712,753,0000% (= & — — 4 :
12,325,0000%) A" A &) I 38 A& & {5 A% 2 38 0
# ¥1,275300L(= T — — F: B ¥

1,232,5007T) + LA K& 3R 497% #5133,919,000
TT(=ZZ——4F: B #117,112,0007T) B9 B 17
mECRINBRBETHAL) -

5 PR ) Bz 43 2% Bh 51 &

REB——F=A -+ N\AEXRERHT—
BAERSROEBHTE - EENERET
ARABZ B ARE RSB (Eh ) Ax
AARAEMBARNER(BREATRIEA
TIRBET(28EE]) - ZR A7 & B
EERSI RBRBEEAL BRESS
BEFGZEANRRRER  ZBRAB
WERNERAEEEERARA B
BE -

RIB SRS A D B R AT &) - R I ) 28
B EEREARRAEEREZRESRT
BELBEARRARBEZBROYNEERE
M2EERA E2ABRODBEXRG
BRORBAIZEREBTER2EE -
EXBREIBAD R E TR TFLHAFTEA
REEERBZBRNBEAZRGIED - Mm
FhREZEHRORER - BRAQE N EBE R

B o e
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36. SHARE-BASED INCENTIVE SCHEMES (continued)

(b)

Restricted Share Award Scheme (continued)

During the year, the trustee purchased 23,274,000 (2011:
1,655,000) shares of the Company at a total cost (including
related transaction costs) of approximately HK$335,873,000
(2011: HK$24,041,000) and a total number of 24,929,000
(2011: Nil) RSUs were granted to the Participants. A total
number of 130,000 RSUs were lapsed under the RSA
Scheme during the year. All RSUs will be vested on 1
August 2014 subject to fulfilment of certain performance
targets.

The fair values of the RSUs granted were calculated based
on the market price of the Company's shares at the
respective grant dates. The expected dividend vyield of
3.5% per annum and risk-free interest rates ranged from
0.633% to 1.154% per annum have been taken into
account when assessing the fair value of these RSUs.

The weighted average fair value of the RSUs granted
during the year ended 31 March 2012 was HK$12.53 per
share. The Group recognised the RSUs expenses of
approximately HK$74,097,000 (2011: Nil) into the
consolidated income statement during the year ended 31
March 2012.
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36. RR#EF BT EI(B)

(b)

3 PR 1 Bz #3 2% Bh =t 8 (&)

REFER  ITARBEREA(BEHEBR
5 & ) 7% 335,873,000 (Z F — — 4 :
75 #24,041,0007T) B A AN A 723,274,000 %
(ZZ — — 4 : 1,655,000 % 19 & £ % H
24,929,000 (== — —4F : #) Z R H
F2EE RAFEARN - E£XRH KGR
B a2l T 5 130,000% 52 R Hll & 15 B K 2 -
ERFAETREERE IAXRHRHD
BR_ZE—NFEFNA—BRE -

ERTERGIROHOATFEEDREAR
ARORERLEBHNTEFNE - R HE
XREBEODOATEEREZERARR
ERBFINRERRBANXRTFF
0.633% £1.1564% °

RBE-_Z——F=ZA=+—HILEFER
ERENEBBRONNEFHRAFEES
SR E®I1263TT c RBE=ZT—=—F=A
=+ HFERN AKEEERGEAEKER
A 3R X BR il AR 17 7 2 #0 74 %74,097,0007T
ZE——F )



37.

RESERVES

(a)

(b)

Group

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity of the
financial statements.

Reserve funds

Reserve funds are reserves set aside in accordance with
the relevant PRC regulations applicable to the Group's
subsidiaries in Mainland China. These reserve funds can
be used to offset accumulated losses but are not be
distributable in the form of cash dividends.

37.
(a)

i@

AR

AEBMNAEER FEE I HEREBS
DLEENRUABRE 2 EARE R
£R o

P

= = A
Z e H

IAH == Az

BEESR/AEERPEKXEZHE QR
BABEERERBHZEHE ZFRERE
SR AAEERFTER  BTENARASK
B2HADIK °

b

Company (b) ZAXAF
Employee
Share share-based
premium Contributed Employee compensation Retained
account surplus  share trust reserve profits Total
B8 URHBXfE
B 153 itk 1B R £ N4 BREEE BZHNEMHE R F @t
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Mt it BT T BT T BT T BB TF T JEMF T BT T
At 1 April 2010 RZT—FF
MA—H 984,342 623,689 — 11,950 182,906 1,802,887
Total comprehensive REFRFNRAFEE
income for the year EHEK B — — — — 315,941 315,941
Issue of shares BT 35 1,053,405 — — — — 1,053,405
Exercise of share options T AR E 35 3,475 — — (898) — 2,577
Share-based compensation LARR 9 32 5 2 B & 36 — — — 5,371 — 5,371
Contribution to employee EERE
share trust HEEHR 36(b) — — (24,041) — — (24,041)
Proposed final 2011 RE-T——4
dividend REIAR 8 13 — — — = (351,916) (351,916)
At 31 March 2011 RZZ——%F
=Z=A=+—8H 2,041,222 623,689 (24,041) 16,423 146,931 2,804,224
Total comprehensive REEHFRAFE
income for the year FHEK B — — — — 398,628 398,628
Exercise of share options 1710 8 AR 4 35 11,484 — — (2,662) — 8,822
Share-based compensation LARR 5 A4 2 B & 36 — — — 90,518 — 90,518
Contribution to employee EERSE
share trust EEHER 36(b) — — (335,873) — — (335,873)
Final 2011 dividend —E-—FRHEKE — — — — 7,796 7,796
Proposed final 2012 BE-T——F
dividend REIAR 8 13 — — — = (424,986) (424,986)
At 31 March 2012 RZZ——F
=Z=A=+—8H 2,052,706 623,689 (359,914) 104,279 128,369 2,549,129

2011/12% % #WMNBIBZERARAT 175



Il Notes to Financial Statements B4 75 } & Bf &%

31 March 2012

176

37.

38.

—T-——#=fA=+-H

RESERVES (continued)
(b) Company (continued)

The contributed surplus of the Company represents the
excess of the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to a corporate reorganisation in
preparation for the listing of the Company’s shares on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange, over the nominal value
of the Company's shares issued in exchange therefor.
Under the Companies Act of Bermuda (as amended) and
the Bye-Laws of the Company, the contributed surplus can
be distributed to the shareholders, provided that the
Company will be able to pay its liabilities as they fall due,
and subsequent to the distribution, the aggregate amount
of its total liabilities as well as the issued share capital and
premium is less than the realisable value of its assets.

The employee share-based compensation reserve
comprises the fair value of options or RSUs granted under
the share-based incentive schemes which are yet to be
exercised, as further explained in the accounting policy for
employee benefits in note 2.4 to the financial statements.
The amount will either be transferred to the share
premium account when the related options/RSUs are
exercised/transferred, or be transferred to retained profits
should the related options/RSUs expire or be forfeited.

BUSINESS COMBINATION

In September 2010, the Group entered into the acquisition and
subscription agreements for the acquisition of the remaining
89.56% equity interest in Beijing Jinxin and its subsidiaries at a
consideration of RMB309,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$356,173,000). Beijing Jinxin was owned as to 10.44% by the
Group prior to the acquisition and subsequent to which, it
became as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. Beijing
Jinxin is a private company incorporated in Mainland China with
limited liability. Beijing Jinxin and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in the technology development and promotion,
technology consultancy and services, and computer systems
services.

Digital China Holdings Limited ~Annual Report2011/12

37.

38.

fiti i (4R)
(b)  FLT ()

KRAZBABBRERBEREBARAR
MEBMIXMER LT METZ - HARE
AmbBEREBRRZENERFEERR
ARAMERRBMBETZROEEZEHE -
REBEARERATERETN RARA 2R
AAA - BABBRASRTRERE  EXR
AVABRNEZBIMZEYR MEZRA
DIKE  ARB 2 BERARBEETRA
FaBhEREEENTZ#HRE -

AR fn 1B B 2 B & & 5 FR I 1 B B =t
A TZERT HATHENBREXZR
A 2 A FEEBK - & I15 8N U7
BRI E24H AR O XN R FE 5 BORE
- HEEREZREKOTE B
FiE o ZREETHESBFEARMEER
SEMBBEE RBEHROINP KK E
‘R BARBRR -

EBaH

n=

Z-ZFNA FAEBEFTLRBRRBBE S

WLt RS EREKE QA 289.56% Mk # - £
& & A R #309,000,000c (8 & R 4 & &

356,173,0007T) - R ER  REBEH B R

£E21044% 4 - Rt E%R - RS EE K
EREE—HME2ERENBAR - EREEAR
FRAEEMAINLEERAR  ERESER
HWNBARETEXERIWHAZEER RitE®
HARK  UARTERAEFRS ©



BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 38. ¥BEAH(E)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the REBEHBHIIRESERENBEATMNAIZARNEE
Beijing Jinxin and its subsidiaries as at the date of acquisition MEBBEZAFEELET:

were as follows:

Fair value

recognised on

acquisition

UK B B T 2R

NFEE

Notes HK$'000

K aF B For

Property, plant and equipment Y - WE K& 15 181,507

Intangible assets mEEE 19 2,136

Cash and cash equivalents ReERREEEY 21,569

Inventories 7& 58,673

Trade and bills receivables FEUE 5 IR 3 K e = IR 175,745

Prepayments, deposits and other receivables — TE{f 3K - & & M E 4ib fE I 5K 18 6,585

Deferred tax BERIBEE 26 78

Trade and bills payables EREZERRENER (108,333)

Other payables and accruals EfENHRIBERTEIRE A (66,055)

Tax payable FE ST 18 (740)

Interest-bearing bank borrowings M B RITE K (85,142)

Bond payable FE & % (34,582)

Non-controlling interests FE ¥ AR 4 2 (3,025)

Total identifiable net assets at fair value AHENEEFEZATER 148,416
10.44% equity interest held prior to the R E R E £10.44% %4 2 A FEE

Acquisition measured at fair value (15,495)

Goodwill on acquisition AWBEEEZEE 18 223,252

Satisfied by cash THRRE 356,173
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38. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 38.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
subsidiaries is as follows:

B a (@)
ARLEHBARNRSRAES AT

HK$'000
BT T
Cash consideration ReERE (356,173)
Other payables H i & 5 5k IE 143,752
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FrEReRBESEEY 21,5669
Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents FFAREEEN
included in cash flows from investing BeRhEmBe Rk
activities REEBYRLFE (190,852)

The part of consideration for acquisition of Beijing Jinxin of
approximately HK$143,752,000 had been settled and included in
net cash flow from investing activities during the year ended 31
March 2012.

Since its acquisition, Beijing Jinxin and its subsidiaries contributed
HK$220 million to the Group's turnover and HK$13 million to the
consolidated profit for the year ended 31 March 2011.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the vyear,
the revenue from operations of the Group and the profit of the
Group for the year would have been HK$327 million and HK$10
million, respectively.
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Lt R 5 2 3B H K E X #143,752,0007T E
REBEE-_E——E=A=+-—HILEEANEE "
WA ARBEHHRSHE ©

BREZ LR ERENBARREE=ZF—
—FZA=tHALEFERAAESEEMEEEE
B2200BE BT REERNBEISEE T °
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39. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

40.

At the end of the reporting period, contingent liabilities not

39. HARERE
RBEWR TARUHBREBBEZAREE

provided for in the financial statements were as follows: U
Group Company
AEHE EATF
2012 2011 2012 2011
=¥--§f —ZT——F Z¥B-ZF =—T——F
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
EBETIT B F T BT T B F T
Guarantees given for banking B EBAREERZ
facilities utilised by WITHEEREEZ
subsidiaries R - — 5,240,398 2,979,620
Guarantees given to suppliers for AW B AR RS M
subsidiaries ez ER - — 3,881,261 3,279,049
- — 9,121,659 6,258,569

OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS

(a)

As lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 16 to the
financial statements) under operating lease arrangements,
with leases negotiated for terms of one year. The terms of
the leases generally also require the tenant to pay security
deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments
according to the then prevailing market conditions.

At 31 March 2012, the Group had total future minimum
lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases
with its tenants falling due as follows:

40. EERERH
(a) fEBHEA

AEBRBEEHERHEEEREDE
(B HRERM TS AEEEOB[A
—F - BOGFIBETEERBPLINRE
T WIAERBEERTAESRARESE

R_ZTE——F=A=+—HB BREAEE
HEBAPRITZTAIMBE ALY &K
SEINBARBBZ ARKEREFKLOT :

Group
FT&EE
2012 2011
—E-C-F —T——%F
HK$000 HK$'000
B FIT B For
Within one year —F A 1,898 27,739
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40. OPERATING LEASE ARRANGEMENTS (continued)
(b) As lessee

The Group leases certain of its office properties and
warehouses under operating lease arrangements. Leases
for properties are negotiated for terms ranging from four
months to ten years.

At 31 March 2012, the Group and the Company had total
future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases falling due as follows:

40. &

(b)

HERH#(E)
fEBEEA
AEEREGEEREZHBELETHA

EMERER - B ENFEHEORERT
POfE A E+F -

RZZE—Z=ZF=A=Z+—HB REFFTT
AR EETHY  NEBEAARF H
Bz RARFEBEESKOT :

Group Company
AEEH AATH
2012 2011 2012 2011
—®-=% -T % Z¥-=f -T —F
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
EEFIT BB T T EE T BB T T
Within one year —FR 137,101 114,601 6,341 2,392
In the second to fifth years, F_EEERTF
inclusive (BEERME) 114,100 62,469 8,735 —
After five years hF 18 712 2,393 — —
251,913 179,463 15,076 2,392
41. COMMITMENTS M. EiE

Apart from the operating lease commitments detailed in note
40(b) above, the Group and the Company had the following
capital commitment at the end of the reporting period:

B £ XK E40(0) it R EHE R BEIN RIS

HR

Group
FRE

2012
—F—-f
HK$°000
BETIT

A& H o AR A R E AT B AR E

Company
AAE
2011 2012 2011
=——0F —E—-f ===
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$000
VBB FoT EETFIT BB TF T

Contracted, but not provided for: EEROBERBERE:
Land and buildings T i RIEF

76,863

151,149 - =
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42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a)

Transactions with related parties:

42, FAEBANLEERS

(a)

In addition to the transactions and balances detailed
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had

HEAEALZXS:

Rt BBRREMBOM2ZINZZERS
REHN AEERAFEANBATER

the following material transactions with related parties HEBEBALTZRS:
during the year:
Group
AEME
2012 2011
—g--F —E——F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
K &t BT EETFT
Lenovo Group Limited (“Lenovo”) and its ARAEFERRZBE QA -
subsidiaries, the associates of the Company's BREEEARAR(HENRE
substantial shareholder: Ffd 8 X &)
Sales of goods and provision of IT services by AEBHEHEZEDR
the Group* FEEITAR B (i), (iii) — 76,762
Purchases of goods by the Group* AEEEEZED* (i) - 2,305,753
Digital China Golden Vista Company Limited and its A& E 2 Bt & Q7] - @ &5 &2
subsidiaries, associates of the Group: BRARKEKNBAR :
Purchases of goods by the Group and provision AEEMBEEZ2EYRRA
of IT services to the Group 7N 3 1R AT AR 75 (i), (iii) - 10,905
DigiWin Software Co., Ltd.* and its subsidiaries, AEEZHBEQNR  SEEERG
associates of the Group: BRAF RENERR :
Provision of IT services by the Group 75 B R TR A5 (iii) 8,239 1,335
Provision of IT services to the Group ) AR R B R TR 75 (iii) 1,607 —
PinHu Digital China BoHai Science & Technology AEBZBERT - TSNS
Co., Ltd.*, an associate of the Group: BERMRAERAA :
Provision of IT services to the Group AN £ B R RIT AR S (iii) 6,168 —
NingBo Digital China HongBo Information Technology 7<% B ~ Bt & A 7] » 8 14 )| &85
Company Limited*, an associate of the Group: REEERMARRR :
Provision of IT services by the Group N5 B 1R HIT AR 75 (iii) 2,061 —
Digital China BB Limited, a jointly-controlled entity 7N £ B > £ [F 42 &l & % - b M
of the Group: HEMEERAT IR AR
HINEBERBRERAA]) -
Sales of goods and provision of IT services by AEBHEHEZEMR
the Group REITRS (i), (iii) - 2,011
Purchases of goods by the Group AEBEEZEY (i) — 2,590
Digital China-Octopus Information Systems Service 785 8 2 #£ R 2 # 1 % - 14 )1 215
Limited*, a jointly-controlled entity of the Group: NEBEERERBEERAA:
Purchases of goods by the Group and provision AEEBEZEDRAAEE
of IT services to the Group R HEITRE (i), (i) - 1,221
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42. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(a) Transactions with related parties: (continued)

Notes:

(i) The sales were made with reference to the listed prices and
conditions offered to the major customers of the Group.

(ii) The purchases were made at prices mutually agreed between
the Group and the corresponding related parties.

(iii) The prices for the provision of IT services were determined at
rates mutually agreed between the Group and the corresponding
related parties.

+ The English names of these companies are direct transliterations
of their Chinese registered names.

* Legend Holdings Limited (“Legend”) was a connected person
of the Company by virtue of being a substantial shareholder of
the Company. Lenovo is an associate of Legend by virtue of
Legend being its controlling shareholder. During the year ended
31 March 2011, Legend ceased to be a substantial shareholder
of the Company and therefore Legend and its respective
associates ceased to be connected persons of the Company
under the Listing Rules. The aggregate amounts of the sales
and purchases with Lenovo and its subsidiaries, being the
Group's continuing connected transactions, for the period from
1 April 2010 up to the date when Lenovo and its subsidiaries
ceased to be connected persons of the Company were
approximately HK$76,762,000 and HK$2,305,753,000,
respectively.

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties:

(i) Details of the Group's trade balances with the
jointly-controlled entities and associates as at the
end of the reporting periods are included in notes
29 and 31 to the financial statements, respectively.

(ii) At 31 March 2012, the loan to the jointly-controlled
entity, in relation to the loan of HK$80,876,000
granted to the jointly-controlled entity during the
year ended 31 March 2012, included in the Group's
prepayments, deposits and other receivables was
approximately HK$52,163,000 (2011: Nil).
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(c) Compensation of key management personnel of the (c) AXEEFABEBASZRIM:
Group:

2012 2011

—E—-=%f —T——F

HK$°000 HK$'000

BE-FIT BB For

Short term employee benefits EEE B &R 13,758 40,872

Post-employment benefits E1E %= T 109 101

Share-based compensation LRMDZ Az & 15,285 1,182
Total compensation paid to key TRHRAREEAEB

management personnel BN A8 5T 29,152 42155

Further details of directors’ emoluments are included in
note 9 to the financial statements.

182 Digital China Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2011/12

EHEESHE 2 E—SFEBH NN B R
F M 5E9 ©



43.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

43. HEHE S Z2EMTIA

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2012
Group

Financial assets

—®-—=%
*%E

Financial assets
at fair value
through profit

RBEHRR SERTARMNZEEENT

Available-for-

or loss — Loans and sale financial
held for trading receivables assets Total
BAFTEE
SIAERD
SRMEE - BRE oHHEEZ
BEEE FE W SR I8 SREE et
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$’000
EBETIT EBETIT EBETIT EBETIT
Available-for-sale investments AHEHEZRE - - 214,321 214,321
Trade and bills receivables FE W B 5 R 3k K pE Uk
Sz - 10,787,427 - 10,787,427
Financial assets included in BEREMNKE -
prepayments, deposits and = e &k H M E R
other receivables RERZ CREE - 958,261 - 958,261
Derivative financial instruments TESMIA 92,440 — — 92,440
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY - 4,253,966 - 4,253,966
92,440 15,999,654 214,321 16,306,415
Financial liabilities =N

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost

BREBHEBRATEZ

SHERE

HK$'000

EBETFIT

Trade and bills payables BRNESERZR R ENEE 12,315,472
Financial liabilities included in other payables £ & K H i f& {318 &

and accruals ERREATzEMEE 1,737,989

Interest-bearing bank borrowings HEERITER 4,015,895

Bond payable R ESH 36,615

18,105,971

2011/12% % #WMNBIBERARAT 183



31 March 2012 =ZE—=F=A=+—H

43. FINANCIAL
(continued)

2011
Group

Financial assets

INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 43.

Il Notes to Financial Statements Bt 7% #§ 3 Mt 5%

—e-——%

F%H

THEE

Financial assets
at fair value

REMNSSzE&mM I AR

through profit or Available-for-
loss — held for Loans and  sale financial
trading receivables assets Total
BRAFEEE
FTAEBZEE
SREE— BER Kk A HE 2
BIEEE JE W 5K 18 EREE @Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
B F T B For B For B F T
Available-for-sale investments AHEHEZ®RE — — 1,696 1,696
Trade and bills receivables FE W E 5 R 3k & &
W & — 8,323,230 — 8,323,230
Financial assets included in BERENRE - &
prepayments, deposits and other & I H h FE R
receivables HRZ&mEE — 808,659 — 808,659
Derivative financial instruments MmESRIA 20,203 — — 20,203
Cash and cash equivalents RERREEEY — 3,049,455 — 3,049,455
20,203 12,181,344 1,596 12,203,143

Financial liabilities

@B E

Financial liabilities at
amortised cost

REBHEKATEZ

Rt AE

HK$'000

BT

Trade and bills payables ERESERRARENERE 8,842,950
Financial liabilities included in other payables B 5 1 E fth BT 3 E K&

and accruals HIRBERAGT 2 eRMARE 1,447,567

Interest-bearing bank borrowings BB IR 1T E 3K 1,933,556

Bond payable FEEFH 35,411

12,259,484
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43.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 43. REMNEIsZ2E&MI A &)
(continued)
Company F48
Financial assets LHEE
2012 2011
—E—-=-f —ET——4F
Loans and Loans and
receivables receivables
ERREWKRRE SR RERRE
HK$000 HK$'000
BETIT BB TF T
Financial assets included in prepayments, BEREMNRE B kEMEK
deposits and other receivables RIEFRZ & FHE,%F 8,713 1,007
Due from subsidiaries FE U Bt B8 B R IR 3,625,593 3,796,813
Cash and cash equivalents ReERASEED 1,974 8,575
3,636,280 3,806,395
Financial liabilities THEE
2012 2011
—¥-C-F T ——F
Financial Financial
liabilities at liabilities at
amortised cost amortised cost
REBHEBE big 3 I
TEZERER TEZEmAR
HK$000 HK$'000
BETIT BT T
Financial liabilities included in other payables BEREMENRERERERT
and accruals ZEBAE 13,525 10,622
Due to subsidiaries RN ENE E S 992,502 1,296,047
1,006,027 1,306,669

2011/125 3k
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31 March 2012

44.

—E——-—F=HA=+—H

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and
disclosing the fair value of financial instruments:

Level 1:

Level 2:

Level 3:

fair value measured based on quoted price
(unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

fair value measured based on valuation techniques
for which all inputs which have a significant effect
on the recorded fair value are observable, either
directly or indirectly

fair value measured based on valuation techniques
for which any inputs which have a significant effect
on the recorded fair value are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs)

Assets measured at fair value:

4. AFEEZER
AEBFERATIHISRETRBEENSRIAZA

PR

Fh—

H
i
[

ATEEFESRBEETRTS L
FERECREABINESEEELR

&

ATEEFERREMEAFEE
BEAXENTHEZMENEE
of R B B R B 19 (b (B R AT

ATFEEFEESRBEYEFNAITE
EEEAZENFHEERAIZERN
A] B AR B B T 45 B O 4 (B Bl (R
AEEIFEEER)

LI FEEGBEE:

Group xE
As at 31 March 2012: R-ZFE——F=ZH=4+—A:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
EH— EFH= EFH= st
HK$000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000
BETFTT BETFIT BT IT BT IT
Available-for-sale investments: AREHEZRE
Equity investment E=HIRE 107,619 - - 107,619
Derivative financial instruments MmESRIAE - 92,440 - 92,440
107,619 92,440 — 200,059
As at 31 March 2011: R-ZEFE——F=ZHA=+—H:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Eh— ER= EH= @5t
HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T BT
Derivative financial instruments MESRIA — 20,203 — 20,203

During the year, there were no transfers into or out of Level 3
fair value measurements (2011: Nil).

The Company did not have any financial assets at fair value as at
31 March 2012 and 2011.
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45.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments, other than derivatives,
comprise interest-bearing bank borrowings, a bond payable and
cash and cash equivalents. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group's capital expenditure
and operations. The Group has various other financial assets and
liabilities such as trade and bills receivables and trade and bills
payables, which arise directly from its operations.

The Group also enters into derivative transactions, including
principally forward currency contracts. The purpose is to manage
the currency risks arising from the Group’s operations and its
sources of finance.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are
interest rate risk, market risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk
and liquidity risk. The board of directors reviews and agrees
policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below. The Group's accounting policies in relation to
derivatives are set out in note 2.4 to the financial statements.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group's borrowings with floating
interest rates.

At 31 March 2012, approximately HK$3,598,162,000 (2011:
HK$1,915,851,000) of the Group's interest-bearing borrowings
bore interest at floating rates. The Group believes that the
exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates is
minimal.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in interest
rates, with all other variables held constant, of the Group's profit
before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings).

45.

HHEEREEBERBUR

BOTEmI AEBEZIZ2SRMTARTEMER
TER EBNEFRASRASSED %52
MIANTERBERRAKEBE ZEAR REE
E5E8e - AKEERREEMEREERAE
PImEERRTPERELEZRREZRAKIE
WEBARENEZRA R ENRERE -

AEENAUNMETAERS BRI B2EHEES
EREH FNENRENAEREXBLLE LA
AELMIINER R -

AEBCRTAMELE 2T ZARASMEEAR -
SRR - TS ER - EERR KRBT RR
ExgRdBREESRRARZBE  BHER
KA MT - AEENEHEITET AN ST RE
BRI RARMEE24 -

o

I 2= = g

AEBEFHEB TSN EESER T REAELE
BEPNEABZ2EREH -

R-ZZE——F=A=+—HB AEBzHEER
4 7 %3,598,162,000L (= T — — F: & #
1,915,851,0007T) HiZ F B FI K5 8 - XEEHE
H & 2 T 5 F| & 2 &) [, i B £k o

RBMERR  TRETAEAEZNEES (ME
MBHRTE TE)HAEEGRHANENCERTD
MEERZEE)NBRE
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31 March 2012 =ZE—=F=A=+—H

45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 45. BB EGEBBERBE(EF)

AND POLICIES (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued) % =L b (48)
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) in (decrease) in
basis points profit before tax
EEEH B Bt B it F
(B %) wim, GRd)
HK$'000
BB For
2012 T
HK$ borrowings okl 100 (49,312)
HK$ borrowings ok = (100) 49,312
2011 %
HK$ borrowings ik 100 (26,774)
HK$ borrowings 7 B R (100) 26,774
Market risk h 5 b

The Group trades in financial instruments including derivatives.

Market risk represented the risk that the fair values or future
cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due to changes
in market variables, such as interest rates and foreign exchange
rates. The Group is exposed to market risk through its derivative
financial instruments.

Foreign currency risk

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures
mainly arise from purchases by operating units in currencies
other than the units’ functional currencies. Approximately 14%
(2011: 16%) of the Group’s purchases were denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the operating
units making the purchase. In order to minimise the impact of
foreign exchange exposure, the Group has entered into forward
currency contracts with creditworthy banks to manage its
exchange rate exposure.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of
the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the RMB
exchange rate, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group's profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of
monetary assets and liabilities).

Digital China Holdings Limited ~Annual Report2011/12
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45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (continued)

45. HHEBREEBERBR(B)

Foreign currency risk (continued) b5 BB (48)
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease)
(decrease) in profit
in RMB rate before tax
ARBER B Bt 5 i F
7 (BER) Wi, GR)
% HK$'000
B BT T
2012 —T——F
If RMB weakens against US$ EAREHEHETLRER (1) (51,828)
If RMB strengthens against US$ BEAREHESETRE 1 51,828
2011 —E-—%F
If RMB weakens against US$ EAREHEEETRE (1) (44,970)
If RMB strengthens against US$ EARBHEEETRE 1 44,970
Credit risk = & B Ig

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third
parties. It is the Group's policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.

The credit risk of the Group's other financial assets, which
comprise cash and cash equivalents, available-for-sale financial
investments, other receivables and certain derivative instruments,
arises from default of the counterparty, with a maximum
exposure equal to the carrying amounts of these instruments.
The Company is also exposed to credit risk through the granting
of financial guarantees, further details of which are disclosed in
note 39 to the financial statements.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
third parties, there is no requirement for collateral. Over 90% of
the Group's customers and operations are located in Mainland
China. Concentrations of credit risk are managed by industry
sector and customer.

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from trade and bills receivables are disclosed in
note 29 to the financial statements.

AEBERERTREEBBEIF=TETRS °
AEBEZBRRRREMBEEERIRR G 2EP#
TERARERRA -

AEEEMMEREERRRSRESEFED
AftHEZ SRS  EtEKIRARE TITAE
TRAZEERBRTTEARRZHEFENME M
FEEz&=SRBSBERERZETLAZIREE -
ARBTERHMBERTESEERR - #—
& B U B 7% 3R MY E39 -

HRAEEERERTREEBE E= HET
X5 METIRMEER AEBBBIOb IR
R 61 R e BARE o {5 P E R B 1TES
DREFER -

HEMEBRAAEEELHEKRE SRR KR EKRER
EENEERE 2S5 58 RN It M % HRE W
29

2011/125F 3% @ MBUESZRAR LT 189



Il Notes to Financial Statements B4 7% $} & Bf &%

31 March 2012 —Z——F=HA=+—H

45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 45. BB EGEBBERBE(EF)
AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk i B 1 L BR
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a ARBRAERALCFURDESH B TAER
P2 =} 74 2 N =
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity EempmEk ZTAZEEYREGRIT AR
ah > 57 E= =
of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade ﬁ@EQE(IQDEE\WE%@TK&EHQ%E)Z@J A
and bills receivables) and projected cash flows from operations. UEREBEXRGZAYLERESAE °
The Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity $%@ZE %ﬁéﬁﬁﬁﬁmﬁ i ﬁ%%ﬁ(l&(&ﬁﬁﬂ
of funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing bank ﬂHX_TﬁE‘Zéfﬁmﬁ ' ”H‘ifé/f}%tzg MHRBEEMEZ
borrowings and other available sources of finances. In addition, Pl i ARBERGRTEAEAHREZZ
banking facilities have been put in place for contingency A e
purposes.
The maturity profile of the Group's and the Company's financial DKT%W'JK%@i&$@ﬁ%$ﬁ%%$2@%ﬂﬁ%
liabilities as at the end of reporting period, based on the BB (REBCATNIERMBFEAE) -
contractual undiscounted payments, was as follows:
Group AL E
2012
—g—-f
Less than 3 to
3 months or less than 1to Over
on demand 12 months 5 years 5 years Total
ZEAMUT ==
g8 +t-EAR —ERF BBEAF st
HK$000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000
EBETFT EETT EETT EBETT EBETT
Interest-bearing bank borrowings BB ER1TE K 1,143,656 1,237,437 1,721,842 — 4,102,935
Bond payable &S 474 1,423 37,421 - 39,318
Trade and &+ & 50k R &%
bills payables B E & 12,086,776 228,544 152 — 12,315,472
Other payables H fth JE 5 3R IE 1,251,760 486,229 - — 1,737,989

14,482,666 1,953,633 1,759,415 — 18,195,714
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 45. BBEGEBEERBE (&)
AND POLICIES (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued) i Eh i R B (48)
Group (continued)
2011
—E——%F
Less than 3 to
3 months or less than 1 to Over
on demand 12 months 5 years 5 years Total
=EAT =
EE +t—@AAR —ZE=ERF HBBARF #Et

HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$°000 HK$°000
EBETT EETT EETT EETT EETT

Interest-bearing bank borrowings M B ERITE R 467,335 237,804 1,328,225 — 2,033,364
Bond payable A EH 459 1,376 38,055 — 39,890
Trade and ERESRR K
bills payables EREE 8,745,032 97,918 — — 8,842,950
Other payables H fth Ji& 1~ 51 18 875,616 571,951 — — 1,447,567
10,088,442 909,049 1,366,280 — 12,363,771
Company ¥ /Y=
2012
—F——f
Less than 3 to
3 months or less than 1to Over
on demand 12 months 5 years 5 years Total
=EEAUT =F
HEH +t-@EAR —EREFE BBEAF st

HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
BETT BETT BEETT ENETRT ENTT

Due to subsidiaries FET KB R R R IE 992,502 — - - 992,502
Other payables E i & 5 3R 13,525 - - - 13,525
1,006,027 - — — 1,006,027
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31 March 2012 —Z——F=A=+—H
45. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 45. MBEBEEBERBEK(E)
AND POLICIES (continued)
Liquidity risk (continued) FEN RS ()
Company (continued) KR E] ()
2011
—E——F
Less than 3 to
3 months or less than 1 to Over
on demand 12 months 5 years 5 years Total
=EART =5
KEE +=—@AAR —ZERF BARF #Et
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BEFr BT EBEFr EETT
Due to subsidiaries JE 15 BT /BB 2 B 578 1,296,047 — — — 1,296,047
Other payables H fth fE 5 3R IE 10,622 — — — 10,622
1,306,669 — — — 1,306,669
Capital management BXER

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business
and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, return capital to shareholders or issue
new shares. The Group is not subject to any externally imposed
capital requirements. No changes were made in the objectives,
policies or processes for managing capital during the years ended
31 March 2012 and 31 March 2011.
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45.

46.

47.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (continued)

Capital management (continued)

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is net
debt divided by the total capital plus net debt. The Group's policy
is to maintain the gearing ratio as low as possible. Net debt
includes interest-bearing bank borrowings, a bond payable, trade
and bills payables, other payables and accruals, less cash and
cash equivalents. Capital represents equity attributable to equity
holders of the parent. The gearing ratios as at ends of the
reporting periods were as follows:

45.

MHHEEREEBERBR(E)

AEXREE (&)

AEBEREEABXRERELR ZLEXTIAE
EFRBANBEANMBEFELMGE - NEH
MERREEEERNEEBBERERERKYE -
EEFREREMBRITER RBNESF EBHE
SERFRENERE  EMENFARERERR
ReRkREEEY  EARNE QB RE B #E
@ NMEMRZEERBERMOT:

Group

*5E
2012 2011
—E—C% —T——F
HK$000 HK$'000
B FIT B F T
Interest-bearing bank borrowings M B R ITE K 4,015,895 1,933,656
Bond payable B &S 36,615 35,411
Trade and bills payables BRESRR R ENER 12,315,472 8,842,950
Other payables and accruals HiENHRIERERER 2,728,849 2,401,391
Less: cash and cash equivalents BoBReRREFEY (4,253,966) (3,049,455)
Net debt BEFR 14,842,865 10,163,853
Equity attributable to equity holders of the parent £ A &) A% & & 14 #E 25 6,821,187 6,032,996
Total capital PN N 6,821,187 6,032,996
Total capital and net debt RERNMBEFE 21,664,052 16,196,849
Gearing ratio BEABE 69% 63%

COMPARATIVE AMOUNTS

Due to the restructuring of “Distribution” segment and “Supply
Chain Services” segment during the current year, comparative
amounts of the operating segment information in note 4 have
been restated to confirm with the current year's presentation.

APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue
by the board of directors on 12 June 2012.

46.

47.

PbE >

HRRAEEADH] 2 BRI EERSE] S 3
B RNEATNEE s BEHR ZEBREFE
FTUES  UNEAFEZ2HH °

MHERZEE
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Five-Year Financial Summary

hFEMBEE

31 March 2012 =Z——F=A=+—H

A summary of the results and of the assets, liabilities and non-
controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial years, as
extracted from the published audited financial statements, is set out
below.

AEEBELEMRFERREERAMEERMBE
Bk BE BERFERESHILOT -

RESULTS e
Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=1+—HItEE
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
—®—C-Fg —T——F —T-IFTF _—TTNEF _—TITN\F
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BEEFIT B F T B F T B F T B F T
REVENUE A 70,319,367 56,803,774 50,178,281 42,326,342 35,243,773
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B % Al i A 1,653,166 1,264,841 1,047,990 736,222 453,032
Income tax expense Frig i & B (314,478) (208,502) (174,288) (126,936) (52,152)
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR NE E i F 1,338,688 1,056,339 873,702 609,286 400,880
Attributable to: BN
Equity holders of the parent SN 1,244,813 1,005,385 824,299 641,145 401,125
Non-controlling interests IE ¥ AR e 2= 93,875 50,954 49,403 (31,859) (245)
1,338,688 1,056,339 873,702 609,286 400,880
ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING EE BEHIEERER
INTERESTS
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
—¥—-F —T——F ZEZ-ZTF ZTTENF ZZTIENF
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T B F T B F T BT T
TOTAL ASSETS wEE 26,821,783 19,945,575 15,669,789 11,546,225 9,314,491
TOTAL LIABILITIES wEE (19,298,356)  (13,374,742) (10,996,406)  (8,315,305)  (6,670,795)
NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS IR (702,240) (537,837) (472,555) (90,984) (17,777)
6,821,187 6,032,996 4,200,828 3,139,936 2,625,919
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LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Hong Kong law:
Norton Rose
Cleary Gottlieb Steen & Hamilton (Hong Kong)

As to Bermuda law:
Appleby
AUDITORS

Ernst & Young (Certified Public Accountants)

BERMUDA PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Appleby Management (Bermuda) Ltd.
Canon's Court

22 Victoria Street

Hamilton HM 12

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Abacus Limited
26/F., Tesbury Centre, 28 Queen's Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong

PLACE OF LISTING OF SHARES AND STOCK CODE

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
Stock Code: 00861

Taiwan Stock Exchange Corporation
Taiwan Depository Receipts

Stock Code: 910861

WEBSITE

www.digitalchina.com.hk

Digital China Holdings Limited ~ Annual Report 2011/12
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